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Corporate Information

NEER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping
Mr. LI Bu

Non-Executive Directors’

Dr. HONG Kunxue
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

SUPERVISORS

Ms. QIAO Weiwei? (Chairwoman)
Mr. WANG Feizhou?®

Ms. QIAN Ranting

Ms. LIU Ping*

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. CHEN Qingging
Ms. HO Yin Kwan®

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. LIU Yong
Mr. LI Bu

Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei resigned as non-executive
Directors and members of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee on March 20, 2023. Dr. FENG Tao resigned as
a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee on April 3, 2023.

Ms. QIAO Weiwei was appointed as the chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board on September 16, 2022, and on the same
date, Mr. CHEN Gang ceased to serve as the chairman of the
Supervisory Board and a Supervisor.

Mr. WANG Feizhou was appointed as a Supervisor on June
17, 2022, and on the same day, Mr. XU Yaming resigned as a
Supervisor.

Ms. LIU Ping was elected as an employee representative
Supervisor on June 30, 2022, and on the same day, Mr. GU
Zhongcai and Ms. WANG Hongyang resigned as Supervisors.
The resignation of Ms. WANG Hongyang took effect from June
30, 2022 and the resignation of Mr. GU Zhongcai took effect
from August 15, 2022.

Ms. HO Yin Kwan was appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company on June 30, 2022, and on the same day, Ms.
LAU Jeanie ceased to be a joint company secretary of the
Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman)
Professor YUEN Ming Fai
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Professor YUEN Ming Fai (Chairman)
Dr. XIA Lijun

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LI Bu

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman)
Professor GAO Feng

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE PRC

No. 888 Yaocheng Avenue
Medical High-tech District
Taizhou City

Jiangsu Province

the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information
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COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Soochow Securities International Capital Limited

Level 17, Three Pacific Place
1 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANK

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., Taizhou Branch

Building 10, No. 293, Gulou South Road
Hailing District

Taizhou City

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISOR

Clifford Chance

27/F, Jardine House
One Connaught Place
Hong Kong

PRC LEGAL ADVISOR

Zhong Lun Law Firm

22-31/F, South Tower of CP Center
20 Jin He East Avenue

Chaoyang District

Beijing, the PRC

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.rechio.cn
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2022, the Company performed a high quality development.
Guided by the Company’s strategy, all Recbio people shared the
same aspirations, with hard working, and breakthrough courages
to usher in countless highlight moments of our development.

The Company continued to promote the research, development
and commercialization of various R&D pipelines. Through
continuously increasing investments in research and development,
the Company made significant progress in major strategic
pipelines during the year. The Company enrolled all subjects for
recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603, and has conducted
the clinical follow-up for the 12th month. Moreover, in order to
meet the market demand for HPV 9-valent vaccine on Chinese and
international markets, the design capacity of the Company’s HPV
vaccine industrialization base has been rigorously demonstrated
and increased to an annual production capacity of 20 million
doses of the HPV 9-valent vaccine. During the head-to-head
clinical comparative study between the Company’s new adjuvant
recombinant COVID-19 vaccine ReCOV and Pfizer's mRNA
vaccine, the neutralizing antibody level of the Company’s ReCOV
against the prototype strains and Omicron epidemic strains
(including current epidemic strains such as BA.5 and BF.7) is
superior to that of Pfizer's mRNA vaccine. In addition, the ReCOV
production base in Taizhou successfully passed the EU QP
certification. For the Company’s recombinant shingles vaccine
REC610 equipped with an independently developed new adjuvant
BFAOQ1, clinical research has been launched in Philippines.

The Company’s development cannot be achieved without
management improvement and organization optimization. Facing
complex and volatile external challenges in 2022, the Company,
being oriented by valuation creation and taking into account the
characteristics of the industry and its business realities, upgraded
the integrated product development (IPD) system, further
encompassed the entire value creation process and improved
overall operational efficiency.

The Company fully understands that talents are the fundamental
element for the success of our business. In order to improve
the Company’s commercialization capabilities, the Company
appointed Ms. WANG Jing as the CQO to be fully responsible
for the Company’s quality related work, and appointed Ms. FENG
Yanfei as the CBO to be fully responsible for global business
development. Furthermore, the Company’s core talents at all
levels were significantly strengthened.

Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Chairman’s Statement

EEEE

BBAIARR

2022 RGN AYREERRN—F  2RIHHA
ARBIEERER - ETRK - BEEZE - BHR
MITHEBER - BRT EHEAEA -

NEBEERESHEEGOAENEEL - BAT
BTN A - FREEERASEHIEEKR
HRE - ArlEHHPVNEREREC603E &M T
2ZAEBELFART E12 ANERIKED © B
B BT RETRFBEREBEMSEENEHPVEENT
BEK - KBRERTE  AFHPVEEEZELENR
STEARSEFENEBHPVEE2 00088 - Q7]
B EATEEE ReCOVA BB MRNAK H &)
B TERG R YL FE e - ST RAE R FIOmicronifi
THk (EBASHIBF.75 EATMRITIR) A9 AT 82K
FRBIHRMRNAZ E B o A - ReCOVRINAEE
i EF R BEEQPE - ARIEETRBEEEE
REC610# & B = &AM AABEIBFAOT - BE1E3E
BEREBBRRMR -

TPENERETHASERANAKEEEL -BY
B INEHREL - 2022 F R B AEEAIE A
B BATEFINCEER  UWEKERHER
(IPD)EEZEITHAR » #E— I BEBEREDRE

BAVRFMAT RRMAFEXZBURNOELRTE - B
RARAEELE N  AAESEFLLTAAA
CQO - zHEBEAREERBIIE  ERBHRKL
T/RCBO 2HBEZHEBMEIIE - AR - &
FIRERNBEBRNETSRIEEMR -

5



Wl

6

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERAMEMEMRHHRAF

Chairman’s Statement
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Due to our outstanding performance in business and capital, the
Company won “Golden Gelonghui Award” — “the Most Valuable
IPO of the Year” to the outstanding listed companies in Greater
China, and the “Top 50 Most Influential Healthcare Enterprises” in
2021.

Looking forward to 2023, there are still considerable uncertainties
in the external environment, and the Company will still face
many difficult challenges on our way forward. All Recbio people
will continue to fulfill the mission of
focus on our strategies, work

“‘developing the first-class
vaccines to protect human health”,
hard collectively, keep our business fundamentals intact,
strive for a greater success.

and

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers and business partners
for your long-term trust and unwavering support, and express
my sincere gratitude to the management and all employees for
their full commitments. Let’s continue to move forward together,
ensuring that the Company’s products can benefit the public as
soon as possible, and to bring greater shareholders’ returns to our

Shareholders!

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board and General Manager
Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
April 2023
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four* financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial information and financial statements is set out
below:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Annual Report 2022 7
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Financial Highlights
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For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLFE

2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Other income and gains PN 6 147,993 27,810 9,551 12,932
Loss before tax B BT ES 18 (735,996) (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss for the year FANEER (735,996) (657,566) (179,400) (138,270)
Loss attributable to owners of BAEHE AEGEERE (722,703) (657,561) (179,400) (138,270)
the parent
Loss per share — Basic and diluted S EE — AR EE (1.52) (1.56) (0.58) (0.48)
(in RMB) (AE®)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL #SRE&HMBRRE
POSITION
As at December 31,
M12A318

2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT AR®FTIT AR%®TT
Total non-current assets EMBEERTE 889,687 624,649 337,638 115,895
Total current assets M EELREE 1,419,920 1,294,571 709,376 310,650
Total current liabilities mB B EREE 328,983 139,293 57,481 17,798
Net current assets TEVEE SR 1,090,937 1,155,278 651,895 292,852
Total assets less current liabilities ZEEMABRTEER 1,980,624 1,779,927 989,533 408,747
Total non-current liabilities JEmB A EERE 327,546 106,631 1,998,317 728,294
Total (deficit)/equity (I54h) /s 4a5a 1,653,078 1,673,296  (1,008,784) (319,547)

* The H Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on March 31, 2022.

*HEERIE E AR RIS 18AE R 20224 3 A31 HAER R
FTERLE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Founded in 2012, we are a vaccine company dedicated to the
research, development and commercialization of innovative
vaccines, with a high-value innovative vaccine portfolio driven
by in-house developed technologies. We primarily focus on the
R&D of HPV vaccine candidates. Our vaccine portfolio currently
consists of 12 vaccines, including our three strategic products,
namely REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine under
phase Il clinical trial; ReCOV, a recombinant two-component
COVID-19 vaccine, which is under marketing application stage
in the PRC and has obtained an emergency use authorization
(EUA) in Mongolia; and REC610, a novel adjuvanted recombinant
shingles vaccine under clinical research stage.

Through years of dedication and focus on this area, we have
developed a comprehensive vaccine innovation engine consisting
of a novel adjuvant platform, protein engineering platform and
immunological evaluation platform. These platforms empower
us to continue to discover and develop innovative vaccines that
apply advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates. We are
one of the few companies that are capable of developing novel
adjuvants, benchmarking all of the FDA-approved novel adjuvants
to date. Our technology platforms form a “solid trifecta”, creating
synergies among the design and optimization of antigens, the
development and production of adjuvants and the identification of
the optimal combinations of antigens and adjuvants. We have also
established an IPD System, enabling us to advance the R&D of
multiple vaccine candidates simultaneously. Guided by our “OPTI”
vaccine development philosophy, we have established a vaccine
portfolio consisting of 12 candidates, strategically extending to
five of the ten diseases with the greatest burden under the 2019
Global Burden of Diseases assessed by DALYs issued by the
WHO and covering disease areas of three of the top five globally
bestselling vaccine products in 2020.

E 3301
B
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ME#EABRKRAEE BN EBEAEREERE
REC610 °
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—AFEEERAIFSIE  BENNEETS - EH
ITRFAREERTETS - ZEFaERMEAT
BN REARAF AR  EREEETREALE
By o RMRDBERARNABEFIEBEK QR
Z— - BEHYIZATE B BIC ESFDARL AR AL
Bl o BB FEFEEEXE=Aa]  ERERT
NMAB(L - BRI R A E LTI IR KA B &)
BEMAAEFTEFERBRBE - KZMITREZZIPDR
& FRMEARSEESTEREENTE - 8
BRANZEHMBES - IKE  BE - Bl LA
HERE (TOPTH) - BMEEMY A 12RNREREHEK
NEBEAS  REKAEBEEHERESHRA
HARB R 2019 F B M HDALY s (R EBER &
E)PEESEMI0OAERBRSTE - MUK20204F
PHRBRBGHENIEREERTHNIEMEZNERSE
18 o



Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Management Discussion and Analysis

We have started to build our manufacturing capabilities at
an early stage, aiming at ensuring our vaccine candidates to
be smoothly transferred into successful commercial vaccine
products. We are constructing our HPV vaccine manufacturing
facility in Taizhou, Jiangsu province, the first phase of which has
a designed capacity of 20 million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines
per year. In addition, we have completed the construction of our
GMP-standard manufacturing facility for ReCOV, a recombinant
COVID-19 vaccine, in November 2021, and successfully acquired
the production license issued by Jiangsu Medical Products
Administration. In April 2022, this manufacturing facility received
the European Union (EU) Qualified Person Declaration issued
by a Qualified Person (QP), which indicated that the Company’s
manufacturing facility in Taizhou and its quality management
system met the EU GMP standard. This manufacturing facility has
a total GFA of approximately 17,000 sg.m., and can also be used
for the manufacturing of novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles
vaccines.

Our Vaccine Pipeline

Our vaccine portfolio strategically covered six disease areas with
significant burden globally, including HPV, COVID-19 infectious
disease, shingles, adult TB, flu and HFMD. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, our vaccine portfolio consisted of 12 vaccine
candidates including, in particular, REC603, a recombinant HPV
9-valent vaccine candidate under phase llI clinical trial in China;
ReCOV, a recombinant two-component COVID-19 vaccine, which
is under marketing application stage in the PRC and has obtained
an emergency use authorization (EUA) in Mongolia; and a novel
adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine under clinical research
stage.

B W DA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The following table summarizes our vaccine pipeline as of the FREEABEZREEEAITARBRMANEEELR -
o Latest Practicable Date.

R&D Status

T e - Prf"'l“f‘ C“‘];'.'“;’fi“l HRER Future Milestone
{stdsts e dn“ "pt_::_. dj“m Al ysieme R:llg 2 ights Pre-clinical IND Filing  Phase I Phase I~ Phase Il Commercialization ARHERR
BE  REES BERL B BEE mxa  now®  BER  OBER  IOER BE(
i ; Alum Self-develoy Global b Expected o submit BLA application in 2025
RCel %ﬁ?&ﬁﬁfg; R BEHE 25 B 025 R RBLASS
Recombinant HPV bivalent .
REC601 (Types 16/18) vaccine Alum Self-developed Global Expected o submit BLA application in 2025
BE—(E (16/18) HPVEE SR BERR =] A1 20259 2 XBLAH
el Re binant HPV bivalent
Cancers & L Alum Self-developed Global Expected to submit BLA application in 2025
Genital REC602 (Types 6/11) vacine = g L o s
Warts TA— (6/11) HPVIEH R BEH R 2025 FRRBLARH
2
2nd-generation recombinant HPV
Rl i qudivientvaceine BFAO4 53‘;‘;"%‘%%“ Gl
E-REANEHPVEH
2nd-generation recombinant Undisclosed novel Selfidevel Expected to submit IND filing in 2023
REC6Mb  HPV O-valent vaccine e g doyeloped Co e S
SR ANBHPVEE i?ﬁﬁgﬁvﬁéﬂ RS 25 FRH2023F IRRINDER
COVID-19 . f . '
necions [ECCU e T Py ul —
Disease
# mRNA COVID-19 Vacci Co-developed
aanss [Tt » ey
Shingl Recombinant shingles vaccine . ' _ Expected to submit BLA application in 2025
iy [T v m Sheegt RS R RBLARE
Virus vectored adult TB vaccine f
sanrs [V F : el e D
RALHSE
Recombinant adult TB vaccine Self-devel
RECHS g AR Aot e N D
RECE17 ;ﬁﬁk&n%gggza quadrivalent vaccine BFAGS 53121;%%%54 %0&11
Recombinant HFMD quadrivalent vacci Al A ”
REC605 g@gE«g?gu ﬁggﬁ dlent vaccine o) Self—de»elc%%ed Ggl\,}?l »
Y Core Product 40 iy

Notes:

1. Our Core Product REC603, a HPV 9-valent vaccine, obtained 1. ZOEGHPV L EE B REC603/2018E7 A
the umbrella IND approval from the NMPA in July 2018. The ESEREEREAINDILE - RV INDRLEE
umbrella IND approval covers all three phases (phase I, Il ZREC603Fa R =5 7 P B 1AM B (BNIER - 1l
and IIl) clinical trials of REC603. Based on communications HIRZIIER) - IRIBEAFSREE B QTR LN
with the CDE of the NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for BE BEREBEERTTIREABRMEBEEFRE
us to proceed with phase Il clinical trial in China directly. THIERR RS - At - AR EEREC603
Accordingly, we did not conduct any phase Il clinical trial for TR B R =6 o

REC603.
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2, Our core product ReCOV, a COVID-19 vaccine, is currently
undergoing international multicenter Phase Il trials in Russia
and Nepal, and is simultaneously undergoing Phase /Il
trials for human immune-bridging and sequential booster
immunization, as well as investigator-initiated clinical trial
(IIT) in China. Currently, the Company has submitted product
marketing application to the PRC regulatory authorities on a
rolling basis and has obtained an emergency use authorization
from Mongolia. ReCOV was designed and developed by the
Group jointly with Professor WANG Xiangxi's group at the
Institute of Biophysics, Chinese Academy of Science.

8. REC607 was licensed in from Shanghai Public Health
Clinical Center, ID Pharma Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Saimo
Biotechnology Ltd.

4. All adjuvant systems used in the products under development
are self-developed by the Company.

58 R520A is an mRNA COVID-19 vaccine candidate developed
by Wuhan Recogen, a joint venture established by us and our
business partners for the R&D and commercialization of mRNA
vaccines. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company
owned 55% of the equity interest in Wuhan Recogen, which
owns all of the future interests of the Company and Shenzhen
Rhegen in relation to all infectious disease vaccine products.

HPV Vaccine Pipeline

HPV is the most common viral pathogen of the reproductive
tract. Although HPV infections may clear up within a few months
without any intervention, certain types of HPVs can persist and
develop into cervical cancer. These high-risk HPV infections are
mainly caused by HPV types 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58, which
account for approximately 90% of cervical cancer cases globally.
It is widely accepted that HPV vaccine can play an important role
in eliminating cervical cancer as it can prevent HPV infection on
certain high risk types. In addition, some cancers of the anus,
vulva, vagina, and oropharynx and most genital warts can be
prevented by HPV vaccines.

EEEWED T

2. ZOERITTEREEEReCOV B AT IEE M 722 i
MERBRRERZH0IHRR  EHE
R HREAERZRIEBE R T EMNEI/IE -
B EROAIT(IT) c KRR ERIE R T E
EEERARDRREM LT HBUEESR
B AR ReCOVEE$‘§H§% R
EYYIR T E R E R REAE AR R -

3. REC607HMTEF B LB AREFERIKF
2~ ID Pharma Co., Ltd. & _E/&E24E YR
BRATIFASH# -

4., FERERMANEBDRFHA R T B L/ -

58 R520AR — AR EHRM ST (REBEHA
MRNAZE RN # EERERIHN—REED
) HENMRNAFTE RS HRERE - BERR

BERATHY AR REERERRIHENS5%
B - R BIEHA AQ R BRI T KRR
METEBLAREEERNAER °

HPVEEE&

HPVEEERMEEBRSRHRRE - BEHPVEZL
AREEREANBAETTMTEBRHEL  BE

THENBRADABELERAZHE - ZE5R
BHPVEREEMI16E - 189*'J © 317! - 337 - 45
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REC603 — Phase Il Stage HPV 9-Valent Vaccine — Our Core
Product

REC603, our Core Product, is designed to provide protection
against HPV types 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58. It is
expected that REC603 will be one of the first of domestic vaccines
of its kind to be approved and commercialized in China.

Summary of Clinical Trial: We jointly applied, and obtained the
umbrella IND approval for REC603 in July 2018. The umbrella IND
approval covers all three phases (phase |, Il and Ill) of clinical
trials. In March 2019, we commenced the phase | clinical trial of
REC603 in China. We completed phase | clinical trial of REC603 in
China in July 2020. Based on communications with the CDE of the
NMPA, the NMPA has no objection for us to proceed with phase
[l clinical trial in China directly. Accordingly, we did not conduct
any phase Il clinical trial for REC603.

We are in the process of conducting phase Il clinical trial in
China. The phase Il clinical trial in China consists of three
parts, i.e., the primary efficacy trial, the immuno-bridging trial in
younger-age groups, and the immunogenicity comparative trial
with Gardasil®9, with a multi-center, randomized, blinded and
parallel controlled design and with a total size of 16,050 subjects.
The Company has substantially completed the three doses
vaccination of the two studies of REC603 immuno-bridging trial
in younger-age groups and the immunogenicity comparative trial
with Gardasil®9 as of the Latest Practicable Date. At the same
time, follow-up on the subjects of REC603’s primary efficacy trial is
being conducted in accordance with the clinical protocol. We plan
to submit BLA application to the NMPA for REC603 in 2025. Since
obtaining the IND approval in China, no material unexpected or
adverse changes in relation to REC603 have occurred.

REC603— | BFHPV /LB i — B AT Z /N E dm
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Advantages of REC603: e believe our REC603 has various
advantages, including:

Positive immunogenicity profile. REC603 demonstrates a positive
immunogenicity profile in its phase | clinical trial. In general, we
observed a significant increase in terms of NAb GMT level against
all of the target HPV types.

High-yield and stable production of HPV VLPs. REC603 adopts H.
polymorpha expression system. In general, the VLPs from different
expression systems are all highly similar to natural HPV capsid in
structure and epitope in order to trigger immune response after
vaccination, including those being produced by H. polymorpha
expression system. H. polymorpha, a methylotrophic yeast
species, is able to grow to very high cell density rapidly on simple
media and has relatively high optimum growth temperature.
Owing to its strong and tunable promoters derived from the
methanol utilization pathway, high secretion capacity, and lower
glycosylation activity compared to S. cerevisiae, H. polymorpha
is suitable for production of recombinant proteins for medical
use. With high copies of expression cassettes integrated stably in
the genome of H. polymorpha, high-yield and stable expression
of HPV VLPs is achieved, making our vaccine candidate more
suitable for commercial production.

Favorable safety profile. REC603 was safe and well-tolerated
as shown in the phase | clinical trial for REC603. There were
no statistical differences in terms of incidences of AEs between
the vaccine group and the placebo group. Although there is
currently no available paper reporting a head-to-head clinical trial
comparing domestic HPV vaccines and foreign HPV vaccines,
in the clinical trial conducted by Merck Sharp & Dohme for
Gardasil 9 in 2009, the rate of adverse event was 86.6% among
subjects enrolled in the vaccine cohort, as compared to 53.75%
as observed in the phase | clinical trial of REC603." The main
adverse reactions were expected fever and inject site pain, mostly
were transient and mild.

! The above information was derived from multiple clinical
trials conducted for different vaccines without the support of
controlled, head-to-head clinical studies, and a number of
factors (including the different subject enroliment standards
adopted in different trials, different population characteristics
of subjects, physicians’ inoculation skills and experiences,
and lifestyle of the subjects) could affect the relevant clinical
results and could render cross-trial comparison results less
meaningful.

B W DA
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Scalable manufacturing potential. Our patented technology in HPV
VLPs in combination with optimized fermentation strategy and
purification process enables us to achieve high and stable yield
in bulk production. With well-defined critical process parameters,
manufacturing of REC603 can be easily scaled-up to meet the
market demand domestically and globally.

Opportunities and potentials: e believe there are significant
opportunities for our HPV vaccine candidates, considering the
following factors:

Superiority of HPV 9-valent vaccines. In general, HPV 9-valent
vaccines can provide protection against 90% of cervical cancer
and 90% of the anal and genital warts and therefore are the most
recommended vaccines for HPV protection. However, to the best
knowledge and information of the Company with reference to
independent market research, currently there is only one HPV
9-valent vaccine approved in China, and it is expected HPV
9-valent vaccines will account for a larger market share in China
after more HPV 9-valent vaccines are approved in China.

Significantly underserved HPV 9-valent vaccine market in
China. To the best knowledge and information of the Company
with reference to independent market research, even taking
into account of the expected growth in vaccination rate of
HPV vaccines, there will be 233.9 million females aged 9 to 45
unvaccinated for HPV in 2025, representing a potentially total
of 701.7 million doses needed. In addition, the types of HPV
serotypes that can infect women can also infect men. Studies
have also shown that, males also have similar rates of HPV
infection as females. As such, we believe China’'s HPV vaccine
market is, and will continue to be significantly underserved.

AJBREAEEET - BFEHPVES BN 5 EA
BRSBTS R4 (L TE - FEFHRAM
EHTHELAETERBENRES - REHREN
MR TEL2E - RECOO3AIHRIEREERE + 1A
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HPVIREREFEEEAMKE

HPV LB R B ay B - —M R - HPVNERE
B A¥90% 8 = S N 90% AL P9 I A T 22 e e 4t
RE AURHESHEBOHPVRERE - A
MARREREB L MBS EREMNAMEEE ' B
IR EERET —FHPVAEZE  MREZHPV
NEZBETBRELNER  BHBEEERAOFTE
TGN EE o

HEIHPV /B R E 75 R E T2 o BLAR R
2EBUMBMERIFEZ BIIHPVE R EEER®
TEHIR R B TR MK - R2025F 13862339
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Domestic substitute. To the best knowledge and information of
the Company with reference to independent market research,
the first domestic HPV bivalent vaccine accounted for 66.7% of
China’s HPV bivalent vaccine market in terms of production value
in the first year of its launch by virtue of its cost effectiveness,
even if it was only approved in 2019 whereas the first imported
HPV bivalent vaccine was approved in China in 2016. We believe
that considering domestic vaccine products tend to adopt more
favorable prices as compared to their global peers, HPV 9-valent
vaccines will follow a similar trend in China after being approved.
In recent years, the Chinese government has also promulgated
policies in favor of domestic HPV vaccine developers. For
example, in 2019, the National Health Commission of the People’s
Republic of China released the Healthy China Action — Cancer
Prevention and Control Implementation Plan (2019-2022), stating
to accelerate the review and approval process of domestic HPV
vaccines and improve the accessibility of HPV vaccines. As one
of the few domestic vaccine companies to have phase Il stage
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate, we believe we will benefit from
such favorable government policies in the future.

Same age coverage as imported vaccines. On August 30, 2022,
HPV 9-valent vaccine available in the market in China has been
expanded for females aged 9 to 45. Our Core Product, REC603,
has also initiated phase Il clinical trial for females aged 9 to 45 in
2021, indicating a potential broader coverage in terms of age as
compared to the current approved vaccines.

Next-generation HPV vaccines under development. We are also
developing next generation HPV quadrivalent and 9-valent vaccine
candidates with novel adjuvants, which are designed to adopt a
two-shot regimen without compromising the efficacy/safety profile
of vaccine candidates, and are potentially superior as compared
to the commercialized products as they are all adopting three-
shot regimen.

Having considered the Company’'s accumulation of phase Ill
clinical trial sample size domestically in China and its decision to
conduct the trial at clinical sites with higher HPV infection rate, it
is expected that REC603 will be one of the first domestic vaccines
of its kind to be approved and commercialized in China.

B W DA
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Cautionary Statement required under Rule 18A.08(3) of the
Listing Rules: We cannot guarantee that we will ultimately
develop or market our Core Product successfully.
Shareholders and potential investors of our Company are
advised to exercise due care when dealing in the Shares of
our Company.

REC601 — Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 16/18) Vaccine

The bivalent vaccine candidates are designed as HPV protection
solutions for people with different affordability and have the
potential to be included in the national vaccination regime in
China and other jurisdictions. Due to the cost advantage of the
HPV bivalent vaccine, it may become the mainstream vaccine for
developing countries.

We are developing a bivalent HPV vaccine candidate, namely
REC601, targeting HPV types 16 and 18, which are the main
cause for a majority of cervical cancer cases. Currently, we have
completed data evaluation and analysis on the phase | trial in
China. The phase | trial data showed that REC601 has a favorable
safety profile and an immunogenicity profile in healthy females
aged 9 to 45. There was no vaccination-related grade 4 or higher
AEs or SAEs. 30 days after the whole immunization, the positive
rates of HPV types 16 and 18 antibodies reached 100.00%, and
the negative population before immunization also reached positive
conversion after the whole immunization (positive conversion rate
was 100.00%). The HPV types 16 and 18 antibody levels also
increased significantly: GMT of HPV type 16 antibody increased
by 632.99 times and GMT of HPV type 18 antibody increased by
1,194.02 times compared with that before immunization. REC601
adopts a similar technical process line with the recombinant HPV
9-valent vaccine.

REC602 - Phase | Stage HPV Bivalent (Type 6/11) Vaccine

We are also developing REC602, a bivalent HPV vaccine
candidate targeting HPV type 6/11. We have completed the Phase
I trial in late 2022. REC602 adopts a similar technical process line
with the recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine.
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REC604a and REC604b — Early-Stage HPV Vaccines Formulated
with Novel Adjuvant

Supported by our strong technology platforms, we are exploring
opportunities to develop HPV vaccines formulated with novel
adjuvant, namely REC604a and REC604b. Unlike the traditional
alum adjuvant we are currently using, we are conducting
early-stage development of next-generation HPV 9-valent and
quadrivalent vaccines formulated with a novel self-developed
adjuvant. Based on existing studies, compared to Merck’s
Gardasil, GSK’s AS04-adjuvanted Cervarix has demonstrated
strong cross-protection effectiveness with higher titers of
neutralizing antibodies in clinical trials, suggesting that novel
adjuvants can enhance the immunogenicity of HPV vaccines.
As the introduction of novel adjuvant enhances immunogenicity
profile of REC604a and REC604b, they are designed to adopt
a two-shot regimen. The REC604a is equipped with the novel
adjuvanted BFAO4 independently developed by the Company.
Preclinical studies have shown that the BFA0O4 adjuvant enhances
the neutralizing antibodies by 7.7 times when compared with
using an aluminum adjuvant. In an animal study conducted in
mice, REC604a with a two-shot dosing has demonstrated its non-
inferiority in terms of GMT level and immune persistence of serum
neutralizing antibody as compared to Gardasil with a three-shot
dosing. As of the Latest Practicable Date, we have obtained the
implied license for conducting clinical trials for REC604a in China.
We plan to submit the IND application to the NMPA for REC604b
in 2023.

COVID-19 Vaccines

Since late 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic had caused a
devastating social and economic impact in China and worldwide.
COVID-19 has claimed more than 6 million lives reported by WHO
Dashboard and is still circulating globally. Safe and effective
vaccines are critical to the control of the COVID-19 pandemic. We
are currently developing two COVID-19 vaccines.

B W DA
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ReCOV - COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate under marketing
application

Summary of Clinical Trial: For our recombinant COVID-19
vaccine, ReCOV, we have completed phase | clinical trial in
New Zealand, and have completed Phase Il clinical studies for
basic immunization and sequential booster immunization in the
Philippines and the United Arab Emirates. In November 2022, our
ReCOV presented positive data from the Phase Il clinical studies
for basic immunization and sequential booster immunization
in the Philippines and Phase Il clinical studies for sequential
booster immunization in the United Arab Emirates, and ReCOV
completed the enrollment of subjects for international multi-center
Phase Il clinical trials. In particular, the Phase Il clinical studies
for sequential booster immunization in the Philippines have
shown that, for subjects who have received vaccination with an
inactivated vaccine for basic immunization, our ReCQOV sequential
booster can induce higher levels of neutralizing antibodies against
Omicron variant BA.5, BA.2, BF.7 and BA.2.75 compared with the
group administered with Pfizer's mRNA vaccine (with significant
statistical differences). Based on the positive data above, we
initiated the submission of product marketing application to the
PRC regulatory authorities on a rolling basis in December 2022.
We obtained an emergency use authorization (EUA) for ReCOV
in Mongolia in March 2023. It becomes the first novel adjuvanted
recombinant subunit COVID-19 vaccine independently developed
by China that has been approved overseas. The obtaining of EUA
for ReCOV in Mongolia is conducive to the Group in expanding
into overseas markets, enhancing our overseas brand awareness,
promoting our internationalization strategies and registration in
other countries and regions.

Advantages of ReCOV: We believe our ReCOV has the following
advantages:

Good broad-spectrum. ReCOV uses an optimized antigen, which
is an NTD-RBD-foldon trimer, highly expressed by CHO cells, with
a novel self-developed adjuvant BFA03. Our ReCOV can rapidly
induce neutralizing antibodies and Th1 biased cellular immune
responses. ReCOV has induced durable broad cross-neutralizing
antibodies against prototype strain and multiple Omicron variants,
showing favorable neutralizing effect compared with Pfizer’s
mRNA vaccines and Sinopharm’s inactivated vaccines.

ReCOV — R Edn L T E BRI K & 1RER
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Good safety profile. Studies for basic immunization and sequential
booster immunization have showed good safety profile of our
ReCOQOV. There is an approximate TEAE rate between adult and
elderly subject groups as well as the 20ug and the 40ug groups.

Significant accessibility advantage. Our ReCOV boasts fast-
growing productivity, independent supply chain, and high
preparation stability. Given self-developed adjuvants, high
productivity and independent supply chain, the Company need
not to rely on overseas manufacturer. Applying the disposable
culture process for CHO cell, our ReCOV can achieve high yield
and rapid expansion of production. It can be stored for at least
six months at room temperature with quality unchanged and is
expected to be stable for at least 24 months at 2°C — 8°C.

Platform scalability. Leveraging our respiratory vaccine technology
with novel adjuvant BFAO3 and CHO expression system, the
Company can quickly develop modified vaccines against variants
or upper respiratory combination vaccines against COVID-19 or
flu based on the first-generation of vaccine.

R520A - Phase | mRNA COVID-19 vaccine

In August 2021, together with our business partners including
Shenzhen Rhegen, we established a joint venture, namely Wuhan
Recogen for the R&D and commercialization of mRNA vaccines.
As the first step of this collaboration, we are developing R520A,
a clinical research stage mRNA COVID-19 vaccine candidate,
which specifically targets Omicron variant. R520A adopts a self-
developed lyophilization technology. Through this approach,
we can effectively sustain the physiochemical properties and
bioactivity of mMRNA-LNP and achieve long-term storage at 2°C
— 8°C. We have been approved by the State Food and Drug
Administration of the Philippines for clinical trials. As of the Latest
Practicable Date, the product has been approved for clinical trials
in the Philippines, New Zealand and Hong Kong, China. The paper
published in the international academic journal Cell Discovery
(IF:38) with the title of “Lyophilized mRNA-lipid nanoparticle
vaccines with long-term stability and high antigenicity against
SARS-CoV-2” reported the lyophilized lipid nanoparticle vaccine
against different variants of SARS-CoV-2.
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Shingles Vaccine

REC610 — Recombinant Shingles Vaccine Candidate under Phase
/| Clinical Stage

In December 2022, we obtained a clinical trial approval in the
Philippines for novel adjuvanted recombinant shingles vaccine,
REC610, and the first batch of subject enrollment was completed
in February 2023. This clinical study is a randomized, observer-
blinded, GSK Shingrix® active-controlled phase | clinical trial
to evaluate the safety and immunogenicity of REC610 in healthy
adult subjects aged 40 and above. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, the first batch of subject enroliment for the phase | clinical
trial in the Philippines has been successfully completed.

Shingles is an acute infectious skin disease caused by
reactivation of latent varicella zoster virus (VZV) in the body. There
is no specific medicine for shingles, and vaccine is an effective
means of preventing shingles. According to research data on
shingles vaccines that have been marketed around the world, the
novel adjuvanted vaccine can provide stronger cellular immunity
and protective efficacy as compared to live attenuated vaccines.
REC610 is equipped with a novel adjuvant BFAO1 independently
developed by the Company, which can promote the production
of high levels of VZV glycoprotein E (gE)-specific CD4+T cells
and antibody. Preclinical studies have shown that REC610 has
favorable immunogenicity and can induce high levels of gE-
specific CD4+T cell responses and IgG antibody, and its immune
response is non-inferior to the controlled vaccine Shingrix®.

TB Vaccine Pipeline
RECG607 — Early-stage Virus Vectored Adult TB Vaccine Candidate

We have entered into a technology transfer agreement with
Shanghai Public Health Clinical Center, pursuant which we
obtained the know-how and patents with the exclusive global
development rights of REC607, a virus vectored adult TB vaccine
candidate. This program was recognized as a Major National
Science and Technology Project (BREHEEAHZIBRE) in 2018.
We are currently conducting preclinical R&D for our adult vector
vaccine.

REC606 - Early-stage Recombinant Adult TB Vaccine Candidate

We are also conducting early-stage study with respect to a
recombinant adult TB vaccine, namely REC606. Our self-
developed REC606 utilized both of the protein engineering
platform and new adjuvant technology platform, both of which
have the potential to result in better safety profile and immune
response.
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Other Disease Areas

REC617 — Early-stage Recombinant Influenza Quadrivalent
Vaccine Candidate

We are developing REC617, an early-stage recombinant influenza
quadrivalent vaccine and are developing novel adjuvants to
enhance tolerability, immunogenicity, length of protection and
cross-protection capability.

REC605 — Early-stage HFMD Quadrivalent Vaccine Candidate

We are leveraging our protein engineering technology to
develop a multi-valent HFMD vaccine, REC605, with increased
serotype coverage of EV71, CA16, CA10 and CA6 and enhanced
protection.

Our Technology Platforms

We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that apply
advancing technologies in our vaccine candidates.

Novel adjuvant platform

Adjuvants are substances that are used in conjunction with
antigens to assist in antigen presentation and enhance immune
responses. Conventionally, only the alum adjuvant was widely
used in vaccines for human use. Since the early 21st century,
novel adjuvants have been widely applied in the vaccine industry
gradually, and created vaccine products that can stimulate
higher and broader immune response. At present, there are five
novel adjuvants had been applied in FDA-approved vaccines for
human use, namely ASO1, AS03, AS04, CpG1018, and MF59, the
components of which have been in the public domain for over 20
years. Through this platform, we are one of the few companies
that have been able to develop adjuvant, benchmarking all of
the above-mentioned FDA-approved adjuvants. This capability
has enabled us to not rely on any particular adjuvant supplier. In
addition, our platform also empowers us to discover and apply
new adjuvants in the next generation vaccine candidates.
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Protein engineering platform

Our protein engineering platform utilizes a structure-based
immunogen design approach to provide antigen optimization
solutions for the development of subunit vaccines based on
multidisciplinary studies. This platform enables us to rapidly
target and prepare pathogen-derived antigens, to define the
structural basis of antigenicity, to understand mechanisms of
immune protection and to guide rational immunogen design,
which are critical steps in our vaccine development. In addition,
our protein engineering platform can elicit immune response in
different expression systems, including E.coli, H. polymorpha,
baculovirus and CHO cell expression systems, among others.
With this diversified expression system toolbox, we are able to
select and apply the most suitable expression systems in vaccine
development. Through this platform, we are capable of rapidly
advancing the development of our COVID-19 and HPV vaccine
candidates.

Immunological evaluation platform

To elucidate the mechanism of immune protection for emerging
and re-emerging infectious diseases, immunological evaluation
is a critical step in subunit vaccine discovery and development.
With this platform, we are able to select the optimal antigen and
adjuvant combination and in turn improve the immunogenicity
profile of our candidates. The immunological evaluation process
involves multiple disciplines, including immunology, biology,
molecular biology and clinical chemistry. Our core scientific team
began to build our immunological evaluation platform as early as
2004 and we became one of the first teams in China to have such
a platform. With this platform, we are one of the first companies
that can conduct pseudoviral neutralization, ELISPOT, and ICS
tests in China, which have been used in the development of our
vaccine candidates.
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Research and Development

R&D is crucial to our sustainable success. We are led by a core
scientific team with over 20 years of experience in the research,
development and commercialization of vaccine products,
including working experience at the CDC in China. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, our in-house R&D team consisted of over
100 talented personnel, most of them held masters or doctorate
degrees in immunology, pathogen biology, clinical medicine or
other related areas. Benefiting from our IPD System, our R&D team
comprises four different product development teams, namely the
vaccine innovation core, process research core, comprehensive
R&D core and R&D quality core. Our R&D team is primarily
located in our Beijing R&D center and our Taizhou R&D base, and
is responsible for the full-cycle vaccine development.

Our IPD System lays a solid foundation for our R&D activities. The
IPD System governs the entire life cycle of vaccine candidates.
We conduct market demand analysis for our vaccine candidates at
the early stage of vaccine development. Such analysis will serve
as the basis of our vaccine development program to ensure our
vaccine products can meet the market demand. In addition, under
the IPD System, our R&D resources are allocated for the goals of
each R&D project. As vaccine development involves a complex
and multi-disciplinary process, for each vaccine development
project we will assign a designated project manager and establish
a product development team, consisting of employees from
technology platforms and related departments including clinical
and regulatory affairs, manufacturing, quality control and quality
assurance. In addition, our management team is responsible for
crucial decision-making and technical review at key points during
the R&D process to ensure the R&D can satisfy our R&D protocol
and the applicable legal and quality requirements. Empowered by
the IPD System, we have been able to advance multiple vaccine
development programs simultaneously.
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We have developed three advanced technology platforms
for novel adjuvant development, protein engineering and
immunological evaluation. These platforms empower us to
continue to discover and develop subunit vaccines that apply
advanced technologies in our vaccine candidates. Our technology
platforms have formed a “solid trifecta”, creating synergies in
antigen design optimization, the development and production
of adjuvants, and the formulating of the combination of the
optimal antigen-adjuvant. Supported by these platforms, we
have developed several vaccine candidates. We are constantly
upgrading our technology platforms to further enrich our R&D
toolbox and we believe that our technology platforms will continue
to drive our vaccine candidate development going forward.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our total research and
development costs amounted to RMB716.4 million and we had
not capitalized any research and development costs for the same
period.

Manufacturing and Commercialization

Our R&D activities have primarily been conducted at our Beijing
R&D center and Taizhou headquarters. Our Beijing R&D center
is equipped with a pilot plant mainly for the pre-IND process
development and has laboratories for vaccine R&D with a total
GFA of approximately 4,000 sq.m. Our Taizhou headquarters R&D
facility has a total GFA of approximately 3,800 sq.m. and four pilot
plants, mainly for the manufacturing of our clinical trial samples
and process development. Our R&D facilities can also support
the manufacturing and development of novel adjuvants. Most
of our vaccine candidates used in our clinical trials have been
manufactured by our in-house manufacturing team, including our
HPV vaccine pipeline.
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In anticipation of the huge market demand of our clinical-
stage vaccine candidates, we have started to prepare for the
commercial manufacturing of our vaccine candidates. We are
constructing our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility in Taizhou,
Jiangsu province, the first phase of which has a designed peak
annual capacity of 20 million doses of HPV 9-valent vaccines. In
addition, we completed the construction of our GMP-standard
manufacturing facility for ReCOV in Taizhou, Jiangsu province
in November 2021 and obtained a vaccine manufacturing
license issued by Jiangsu Medical Products Administration. The
manufacturing facility has a total GFA of approximately 17,000
sg.m., and can also be used for the manufacturing of recombinant
shingles vaccines. On April 9, 2022, the Company received the
European Union (EU) Qualified Person Declaration issued by a
Qualified Person (QP) for our ReCOV manufacturing facility in
Taizhou.

In January 2022, the Company appointed Ms. WANG Jing, a
senior expert in the industry, as the Chief Quality Officer, who
was fully responsible for the quality-related work of the Group.
Ms. WANG Jing has more than 20 years of experience in vaccine
research and development, commercial production and quality
management, and nearly 10 years of experience as a manager
and quality authorized person of quality management department
of vaccine production enterprises. The joining of Ms. WANG Jing
will further strengthen the competitiveness of the Company’s
products and establish a quality system covering the entire life
cycle of innovative vaccines. In May 2022, Ms. FENG Yanfei, a
senior expert in the industry, joined the Company and served
and was fully responsible
Ms. FENG
Yanfei has more than 20 years of working experience in the
biopharmaceutical industry in China and the United States,
covering product research and development, business
development and international market management experience
related to biotechnology and innovative drugs. The Company

as the Chief Commercial Officer,
for the Company’s global business development.

will further strengthen the close cooperation with international
strategic partners, and accelerate the export of innovative
vaccines such as HPV vaccines, so as to fill the huge and unmet
global medical needs.
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We have engaged third-party CMOs and manufacturers to
produce vaccine samples for our clinical trials, aiming for an
efficient and more cost-effective process. We have also adopted
stringent procedures to ensure the facilities and production
qualifications of our CMOs are in compliance with the relevant
regulatory requirements and all of our CMOs are GMP certified.
We selected a limited number of industry-leading third party CMOs
based on their qualification, relevant expertise, manufacturing
capacity, track record and the contract terms.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had only one COVID-19 vaccine
approved for an emergency use authorization in Mongolia. We have
formulated clear commercialization strategy for our clinical-stage
vaccine candidates, namely HPV vaccines, COVID-19 vaccines
and recombinant shingles vaccines. In building sales channels
and terminals for the commercialization of our vaccine candidates
in domestic and international markets, we are currently building
our sales team and international business development team.
Our marketing team will be responsible for sales and academic
promotion activities of the Company’s products in China in the
future, and our international business development team plans to
enter into collaborations with foreign governments, MNCs, CSOs
and international organizations to commercialize the Company’s
products overseas.

Intellectual Property

As a company focusing on the research, development and
commercialization of recombinant vaccine products, we believe
intellectual property is crucial to our business. We actively
seek patent protection for our vaccine candidates in China
and major jurisdictions and file additional patent applications,
when appropriate, to cover certain antigens, strains, proteins,
formulations and production processes. We have developed a
significant portfolio of intellectual property rights to protect our
technologies and products. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
we had registered 10 invention patents and had filed 74 patent
applications (71 Chinese patent applications, and 3 PCT patent
applications). For the year ended December 31, 2022, we were
not involved in any proceedings in respect of, and we had not
received notice of any claims of infringement of, any intellectual
property rights that might be threatened or pending as claimant or
respondent.

BHMEBRE=7aNEEREMEER AR
mAABREERELA  FHEER —ERRMEA
ARz O RAZ o BAPITNEREN T AR IR - DARE
REMNENEERBORENEEEET AR
MEEER  RMAMENEGNLEERBHREST
GMPRE - ZRMRIEEE - HEAFEME - FEE
N RREERAOGR  KELEITRELNE
=T RREERE -

BERRERATEHS  HMAEE—FHNTHRER
HELREEZSERERE - RIS REN R
BoirEzE (AIHPVRE - MiERSRE REMA
mIAEPRE ) $IE T AR E LB o A
AIEAERZRHEESR RBEREBRAZEE - SIRE
& B A BB T I5 ) B RO TT I B RE M AR i
R ZHBRARARKEERREMETHNHE
REBfTHEEEE - B X4 % BB 8 RN
fF- BEAR  ARMSAGREREBSE X
BERRAEREBINIEEL -

HRERE

EAEINEMREERMELRBELCNAR &
MREMBEREBRMOEBEZHREE - KMEF
ERFEAEEEBEGS KEEMEREENEF
R THEKRERBEINENRDZ  UBRESTN
RSk FEO08 BEAREETE - BIRERM
MM RER  RMEEST —EXEENMHE
BHEE - HERBEWATHE  HMEEM10
HEBEMNWIRZ74BEFNEBE (71EHPHFEH SR
F o LARBIBPCTENHGE) - # 22022412 A 31
HIEFE BT ARUNBRASWESFHESEE
BRI (A ARk EE M O (R A A (FT BB A B B sk
SR IR AR BT AR RE B -



Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and Remuneration

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had 532 employees, all of
whom were based in China. The total staff costs incurred by the
Group (which are recorded as part of our administrative expenses,
research and development costs and selling and distribution
expenses) for the year ended December 31, 2022 were RMB213.2
million, as compared to RMB240.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The remuneration package of our employees
includes wages and other incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, positions
and performance. We make contributions to social insurance
and housing provident funds in compliance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations in all material respects. We also enter into
standard confidentiality, intellectual property assignment and non-
competition agreements with our key management and research
and development staff, which typically include a standard non-
compete agreement that prohibits the employee from competing
with us, directly or indirectly, during his or her employment and for
two years after the termination of his or her employment. Employee
also signs acknowledgments regarding service inventions and
discoveries made during the course of his or her employment.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had not experienced
material disruptions in our operations and business development
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We had not experienced
any early termination of our clinical trials or necessitated removal
of subjects enrolled in the clinical trials due to the COVID-19
outbreak for the year ended December 31, 2022. We currently
do not expect our supply chain will be materially and negatively
impacted by COVID-19. Our major domestic suppliers had all
resumed normal operations, and none of our overseas suppliers
had reported any material disruption to their business operations
as a result of COVID-19. We have employed various measures
to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on our business operations
and clinical trials. We are also developing ReCOV, a recombinant
COVID-19 vaccine candidate, with a novel adjuvant BFA03
benchmarking AS03. We initiated the rolling submission of product
marketing application to China’s competent regulator in December
2022 and obtained an emergency use authorization from Mongolia
in March 2023.
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Business Outlook

Going forward, leveraging our strengths, we plan to implement
the following strategies, which we believe will further strengthen
our core competitive strengths and enable us to capture rising
business opportunities:

o accelerate the R&D, clinical trial and commercialization of
our vaccine candidates;

o continue to strengthen our R&D capabilities;

o refine our organization structure and human resource
management to enhance our competitiveness; and

o advance our international strategy through “going-out” and
“bringing-in” strategies.

Since December 31, 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we have further advanced clinical trials for our vaccine
candidates, and to the best of our knowledge, there is no change
to the overall economic and market conditions in China or in the
industry in which we operate that may have a material adverse
effect to our business operations and financial position.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussions are based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this report.

Analysis of Our Key Items of Our Results of Operations
Other Income and Gains

Our other income and gains increased by 432.2% from RMB27.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB148.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily because (i)
our exchange gains arising from foreign currency transactions
increased by RMB123.6 million from RMB-8.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB115.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022; (ii) our bank interest income
increased by RMB13.6 million from RMB10.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021 to RMB24.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

We recorded selling and distribution expenses for an amount
of RMB8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
which mainly represented the salaries incurred for our sales
and marketing personnel in anticipation of the upcoming
commercialization of ReCOV.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs increased by 51.5% from
RMB473.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB716.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Such
increase in research and development costs resulted from the
following:

° RMB255.9 million increase of clinical trial expenses from
RMB113.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB369.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
primarily attributable to the expansion of scope of our
ReCQV clinical trials and the steady progress of Phase Il
clinical trial for our Core Product REC603 since its initiation
in June 2021;

° RMB12.9 million increase of depreciation and amortization
from RMB23.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 to RMB36.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, primarily attributable to the increase in the purchase
of instruments and equipment used in our R&D projects
and the leasing of laboratories;

° RMB8.1 million increase of utilities and office expenses
from RMB9.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2021 to RMB17.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, primarily attributable to the increase in R&D energy
consumption such as utilities and steam as a result of the
expansion of our clinical trials for ReCOV and HPV 9-valent
vaccine accordingly.
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased from RMB143.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB155.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to (i) an
increase of RMB24.1 million in our advisory service fees for the
year of 2022 compared with 2021; (ii) the increase of RMB12.8
million in our advertising expenses; and (iii) offset by the decrease
of RMB22.5 million in our staff costs due to lower share-based
payments as restricted shares of Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole
Biotechnology Partnership (L.P.) which is the employee incentive
platform had been amortized as one-off expenses in 2021.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses decreased from RMB9.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021 to RMB55,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to a decrease of
RMB8.5 million in our exchange losses from the year ended
December 31, 2021 since we incurred the exchange gains for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs decreased by 93.7% from RMB56.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB3.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the decrease
in interest on redemption liabilities on owners’ capital.

Analysis of Our Key Items of Our Financial Position
Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consisted of (i)
leasehold improvements; (i) plant and machinery; (iii) furniture
and fixtures; (iv) computers and office equipment; (v) motor
vehicles; and (vi) construction in progress. Our property, plant
and equipment increased from RMB416.3 million as of December
31, 2021 to RMB558.7 million as of December 31, 2022, mainly
due to the increase of construction in progress as we commenced
the construction of our manufacturing facilities at No. 888
Yaocheng Avenue, Medical High-tech District, Taizhou City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC.
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Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent (i) leasehold land, representing
the land use right of our manufacturing facility for our HPV
vaccines with an original use right of 50 years; and (ii) leased
properties, representing our leased manufacturing facility for
ReCOV and our leased office buildings and laboratories. Our right-
of-use assets increased from RMB55.3 million as of December 31,
2021 to RMB72.5 million as of December 31, 2022, primarily due
to the increase in the leasing of our office space.

Other Non-current Assets

Our other non-current assets mainly represent our time deposits
and prepayment for purchase of property, plant and equipment.
Our other non-current assets increased from RMB121.6 million
as of December 31, 2021 to RMB215.6 million as of December
31, 2022, primarily due to the increase in prepayments for
engineering and equipment as we commenced the construction of
our manufacturing facilities.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

Our prepayments, other receivables and other assets decreased
from RMB88.5 million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB38.6 million
as of December 31, 2022, primarily due to receipt of tax refund
amounting to RMB85.4 million offset by newly accrual of RMB45.0
million in respect of value-added tax recoverable.

Cash and Bank Balances

Our cash and bank balances increased from RMB1,182.6 million
as of December 31, 2021 to RMB1,325.2 million as of December
31, 2022, primarily due to the proceeds from IPO financing of
RMB670 million and an increase of RMB184 million in bank
borrowings we received for the year and partially offset by an
increase in investing activities for the commencement of the
constructions of our manufacturing facilities.

Trade Payables

Our trade payables increased from RMB16.8 million as of
December 31, 2021 to RMB62.5 million as of December 31,
2022, primarily due to the increase in our procurement of
reagents consumables and clinical services for our research and
development activities.
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Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals increased from RMB114.6
million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB244.7 million as of
December 31, 2022, primarily due to (i) an increase in the
clinical trial fee accrued from RMB29.2 million as at December
31, 2021 to RMB105.7 million as at December 31, 2022, which
is in line with the progress of the research and development of
our vaccine candidates; (ii) an increase in staff salaries, benefits
and bonuses payable from RMB24.3 million as at December 31,
2021 to RMB43.1 million as at December 31, 2022, mainly in
relation to our business expansion; (iii) an increase of RMB18.3
million in the purchase amount payable for ReCOV and HPV
9-valent industrialization-based equipment; and (iv) an increase
in bid security of RMB25.4 million due to the purchase of
industrialization-based equipment.

Lease Liabilities

As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2022, we recorded
lease liabilities of RMB26.7 million and RMB49.6 million,
respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash relate to the research and development
of our vaccine candidates and the purchase of equipment and
machinery. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we primarily
funded our working capital requirement through equity financing
and bank borrowings. We monitor and maintain a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance our operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. As our business
develops and expands, we expect to generate more cash
from our operating activities through commercialization of new
vaccines. Going forward, we believe our liquidity requirements
will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of cash from
operations, bank balances and cash and net proceeds from the
Global Offering. As of December 31, 2022, our cash and bank
balances amounted to RMB1,325.2 million. Out of the RMB1,325.2
million cash and bank balances as of December 31, 2022,
RMB205.4 million (approximately 15.5%) was denominated in
RMB, RMB701.5 million (approximately 52.9%) was denominated
in U.S. dollars and RMB418.3 million (approximately 31.6%) was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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Net Current Assets

Our net current assets decreased from RMB1,155.3 million as of
December 31, 2021 to RMB1,090.9 million as of December 31,
2022, primarily due to an increase of RMB130.1 million in other
payables and accruals as compared to the previous year due
to the increase in clinical research and development expenses
accrued as well as the purchase of industrialization-based
equipment for our ReCOV and HPV 9-valent vaccine.

Charge on Asset

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had pledged the real estate
located on the west side of Xiangtai Road and the north side of
Yaocheng Avenue in Medical High-tech District, Taizhou, Jiangsu
Province for a loan with a principal of RMB100 million (FY2021:
RMB50 million).

Indebtedness and Financial Ratios

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as of
December 31, 2022 were RMB233.0 million. RMB1.4 million of the
bank borrowings were current borrowings with a maturity date in
2023 and an effective rate of 3.45-3.90%. RMB231.6 million of
the bank borrowings were non-current bank borrowings with a
maturity date in 2024-2028 and an effective rate of 3.45-4.65%.

Our current ratio (calculated as current assets divided by current
liabilities as of the same date) decreased from 9.3 as of December
31, 2021 to 4.3 as of December 31, 2022, mainly because our
current liabilities had increased at a higher rate than our current
assets. The increase in our current liabilities was primarily
attributable to the increase in other payables and accruals, which
is in line with the progress of research and development and
industrialization of our vaccine candidates.

Our gearing ratio (calculated as total liabilities divided by total
assets as of the same date) was 28.4% as of December 31, 2022
(as of December 31, 2021: 12.8%), as our total liabilities had
increased at a higher rate than our total assets. The increase in
our total liabilities was primarily due to the increase in total bank
borrowings and other payables and accruals.

B W DA

REBEEFE

B RBEEFBEHEZ2021F12A31HAA
R¥1,155. 3B B LR EHE2022F12 A31 8K
AR®1,0909E5&T ' TEEHARNKEMAIReCOV
K HPVILETE R ERRA 2 B B A E Z LR B R
B INEREMENARETERAREFEMAR
#1301 HETT °

HHEE

HZE2022%12A318 ' A&EBH —FAXAEBEAR
BEA00B B THERER TN IHE R MNME
BEEREEREARQ - SR ARELANTEER
(2021 BEFE : ARBS0EETT) °

BER BT E

AEBF BIRITENBEEZE2022F12A318 45
ARM233.0B8T - RITERF - AR¥1.48
BT AMNBER  BIHRAA2023F  BEMZRA
3.45-3.90% : AR#231.6 BBt AIFRNHE
E|HiH £2024-2028%F + B FIE £3.45-4.65% °

BMORBLE (RABEERNEER BN B A
Bt E) AEIE 202112 A31 B3 TREREEE
2022912 A31AM4.3 TZHNAEMRBEE
BREEXSREMORDEE - RAVWREBEELL M
FTERHREMEMN R REEREN - BRR
BT H OB MEL(CEE 5 -

HE2022F12A31H * ZKMWELREEL R (1ZE
BERERUEZERAMNEERBEINE) B28.4% M
HZE2021F12A31HA12.8% @ WHERKEMIHE
BHREIERESNBEMMNEELTIZRE - KM
BEBEEMEZZANIRITERABEME 4 &
KR FEETE AL -

L



34

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERAMEMEMRHHRAF

Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any contingent
liabilities (FY2021: Nil).

Capital Expenditure and Contractual Commitments

Our capital expenditure primarily includes (i) construction in
progress; (i) plant and machinery; (iii) leasehold improvements;
(iv) motor vehicles; (v) computers and office equipment; and (vi)
furniture and fixtures. Our capital expenditure increased from
RMB276.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB296.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly
related to larger capital investment related to the construction of
our new manufacturing facility and prepayments for the purchase
of equipments for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared
with 2021.

Our capital expenditure commitments decrease from RMB164.7
million as of December 31, 2021 to RMB68.9 million as of
December 31, 2022, primarily because certain construction costs
were settled in accordance with the relevant contractual terms.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, we plan to apply approximately
HK$88 million from the proceeds from the Global Offering (before
exercise of over-allotment option) for constructing the HPV
manufacturing facility in Taizhou. Save as disclosed above, the
Group had no other material capital expenditure or investment
plan as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Save as disclosed in this report, our Company had no other
significant investments, material acquisitions and/or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
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Events after the Reporting Period

References are made to the inside information announcement of
the Company dated June 30, 2022, the circular dated July 29,
2022, the poll results announcement dated August 15, 2022, the
announcement on the acceptance of application dated August
25, 2022, the announcement on the approval by the CSRC dated
November 10, 2022, the announcement on the approval by the
Stock Exchange dated December 5, 2022 and the completion
announcement dated February 20, 2023 in relation to, among
other things, the particulars of the Company’s H Share full
circulation application, and the Company has completed the
conversion of 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H Shares, and
the converted H Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange
since 9:00 a.m. on February 21, 2023. For details of the H Share
full circulation, please refer to the above announcements and
circular.

References are made to the inside information announcement
of the Company dated October 31, 2022, the circular dated
December 13, 2022, the poll results announcement dated
December 28, 2022 and the announcement on the acceptance
of application dated February 8, 2023 in relation to, among other
things, the particulars of the Company’s proposed issuance
of Domestic Shares and the acceptance by the CSRC of the
application materials. Issuance of Domestic Shares is subject to
the satisfaction of a number of conditions (including the approval
by the CSRC), and details of the issuance plan have not yet been
finalized and further disclosure will be made by the Company in
due course. For details of the issuance of Domestic Shares and
relevant matters, please refer to the above announcements and
circular.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
March 20, 2023 in relation to the change of Directors, pursuant to
which, Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal
work arrangements, resigned as non-executive Directors and
members of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the
Board of the Company with effect from March 20, 2023. At the
same time, the Board nominated Mr. ZHANG Jiaxin as a non-
executive Director of the Company and Ms. CHEN Qingqging as
an executive Director of the Company whose terms of office shall
commence from the date of approval by the general meeting of
the Company until the date of expiry of the term of the first session
of the Board, which are subject to re-election. For details, please
refer to the above announcement.
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Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on
resignation of Director dated April 3, 2023 in relation to the
resignation of Dr. FENG Tao as a non-executive Director and
a member of the Nomination Committee of the Board of the
Company due to his physical conditions, with effect from April 3,
2023. For details, please refer to the above announcement.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement on proposed
appointment of a Director dated April 12, 2023 in relation to the
nomination of Mr. HU Houwei as a non-executive Director of the
Company, with the term of office commencing on the date of
approval at the general meeting of the Company and expiring
on the date of expiry of the first session of the Board, which
is subject to re-election. For details, please refer to the above
announcement.

Save as disclosed in this report, we are not aware of any material
subsequent events from the end of the Reporting Period to the
date of this report.

FINANCIAL RISKS

We are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including interest
risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk as set
out below. Our overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on our financial performance.

Interest risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets other than
time deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises from its borrowings, which are at variable
rates and expose the Group to the risk of changes on market
interest rates. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

As at December 31, 2022, if interest rates on loans had been 50
basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the loss before tax for the year ended December 31, 2022 would
have been RMB670,000 (2021: RMB107,000) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on loans.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We mainly operate in China and a majority of our transactions are
settled in RMB, the functional currency of our Company’s principal
subsidiaries. The Group however has certain transactional
currency exposure as a portion of our transactions are settled
in U.S. dollars. The Group only trades with recognized and
credit-worthy third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to
bad debts is not significant. We currently do not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arise. The Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations
as of December 31, 2022.

Credit Risk

We generally trade only with recognized and creditworthy third
parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

As of December 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents were
deposited in banks of high quality without significant credit
risk. The Directors are of the view that our exposure to credit
risk arising from other receivables is not significant since
counterparties to these financial assets have no history of default.

Liquidity Risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, we monitor and maintain
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management of our Group to allocate the working capital and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Our objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank loans and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
to meet our liquidity requirements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

LIU Yong (%Z/E), aged 50, is an executive Director of our
Company and chairman of the Board of our Company. Dr. Liu
founded our Group on March 7, 2011 and has been serving as a
Director since January 25, 2019 and the chairman of our Board
since October 2020. Dr. Liu was re-designated as the chairman
of the Board on May 9, 2021 and an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall management
of business strategy, corporate development and research
and development of our Group. Dr. Liu has been serving as
the general manager of Beijing ABZYMO, a subsidiary of our
Company, since March 7, 2011. Dr. Liu has been serving as the
executive director of Beijing ABZYMO since March 2011. He has
been serving as the general manager and executive director of
Wuhan Recbio, a subsidiary of our Company, since September
2021, and chairman of the board of directors of Wuhan Recogen,
a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021. He has
been serving as the general manager and an executive director of
Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (#1318 B R
HPBRAF]), a subsidiary of our Company, since February 2023.

Dr. Liu has over 23 years of technical and management
experience in the field of novel vaccines. Dr. Liu has published
over 60 publications in leading academic journals and held over
20 invention patents since 1998. Prior to the foundation of our
Group, Dr. Liu worked at National Center for AIDS/STD Control
and Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (7 B 5 FaRH 12 Hl) /b O MR %R FE R ¥R $l R ) from
February 2004 to September 2010 as a research professor and
led the development of HIV DNA vaccine as a team leader of HIV
DNA vaccine team. Dr. Liu has also worked as a visiting scholar
at the NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S., where he carried
out research on HIV.

Dr. Liu graduated from China Union Medical University (B
MEERIKE) with a doctoral degree in pathogen biology in July
2000. Dr. Liu was a research fellow in NIH Vaccine Research
Center in the U.S. from December 2006 to December 2007. Dr.
Liu participated in post-doctoral research in basic medicine at
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (B &R TE
2472 from August 2001 to December 2003.
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Dr. Liu obtained the certificate of research professor in
biochemistry and molecular biology by Ministry of Health, PRC
in July 2008. He was an editorial board (the sixth) member of
the Chinese Journal of Microbiology and Immunology, and the
only Asian member of the Young and Early Career Investigators
Committee (YECIC) of the Global HIV Vaccine Enterprise (GHVE).
Once elected as one of the third “Top Ten Innovative and
Entrepreneurial High-level Talents” of Taizhou Medical New &
Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2020, Dr. Liu was
also recognized as an excellent entrepreneurial individual (813 %
#{EA) on the tenth anniversary of the establishment of Taizhou
Medical New & Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone in May 2019.

CHEN Jianping (PRfE¥), aged 45, was appointed as a Director
on November 2, 2020 and re-designated as an executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the management
of daily operations of R&D activities and the strategic development
of our Company. Dr. Chen has been serving as a vice general
manager in our Company since January 30, 2019. He has been
serving as a director in Wuhan Recogen, a subsidiary of our
Company, since September 2021.

Dr. Chen worked in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2002 to October 2009 as a researcher and a core
member of immunity team to assist with immunity evaluation of
vaccines and immunity research relating to HIV vaccines. Dr.
Chen served in leading academic institutions including Harvard
University and NIH Vaccine Research Center in the U.S. Dr. Chen
assumed several positions in Beijing Health Guard Biotechnology
INC. (JtREREFTEMBRMANDBERAT]), a company listed on
the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock code:
833575) from June 2012 to February 2016 successively, including
a manager in bioformulation agents division, manager in clinical
medicine and registration division and vice general manager.
From March 2016 to February 2018, Dr. Chen served as head of
registration division in Beijing Xinaijin Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (it
FEGEEYEIEBRAR]). Dr. Chen served as a chief expert in
Beijing ABZYMO from March 2018 to December 2018. Dr. Chen
contributed to the research and the establishment of database for
genetic variation and epidemiological characteristics of major HIV
strains across the country.
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Dr. Chen obtained his bachelor’s degree in biology technology
from Sichuan University (EUJI[’X&) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Chen obtained his master's degree in physiology from Beijing
Normal University (Jt REN#EAE) in the PRC in June 2002. Dr.
Chen obtained his doctoral degree in immunology from the
Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (% Bk KT8
fr#EslrRLy) in July 2009. Dr. Chen participated in post-doctoral
research in immune system at University of Connecticut from
October 2009 to September 2010 and at Medical University of
South Carolina. Dr. Chen obtained the certificate of associate
researcher of immunology from the Minister of Health of the PRC
(PEEARFEMBIFAEEL) in July 2009.

Dr. Chen has been awarded the Commemorative Certificate for
the Prevention and Treatment of SARS in the Capital (& #3554 “3F
T4 2 2Z) by Beijing Joint Working Group on Prevention
and Treatment of SARS (It RF5/AFEERAFHA B A THE/NAH) in July
2003. Dr. Chen has been awarded the First-class Prize of 2006
China Medical Science and Technology Award (2006 fFH 5
BRI —5%) by Chinese Medical Association (FFEEEZES) in
December 2006. Dr. Chen has been awarded the Second-class
Prize of National Science and Technology Progress Award (BIZX
Rl Z2 Rl 5 88 — 5 #%) by the State Council of the PRC (FEEAR
HMBEIFEET) in December 2007. Dr. Chen has been awarded the
Honorary Certificate of Wenchuan Earthquake Relief (31| KihZE
MERKEHEFE) by the Chinese Center for Disease Control and
Prevention (F Bl R TR 6 03) in July 2008.

LI Bu (Z7), aged 46, was appointed as a Director on March
27, 2021 and re-designated as an executive Director on June
28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for managing the daily
operations of administrative, human resources, purchasing and IT
departments and the strategic development of our Company. He
joined our Company in April 2020 as an assistant to the general
manager and human resources director and was appointed
as a vice general manager on November 9, 2020. Mr. Li has
been serving as a vice general manager in our Company since
November 9, 2020. He has been serving as a director in Wuhan
Recogen, a subsidiary of our Company, since September 2021.
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Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Li served as a human resources
manager in KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (EZ&EBRDBRAR),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600422) from 1999 to May 2005. Mr. Li served as a president
assistant in Walvax Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (EFRAZRED AR
‘A \]), a company listed on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300142) from September 2007 to June
2009. Mr. Li served as a human resources director in Yunnan
Belle Shoes Limited (Ef B EBEZ 2 7F]) from June 2009 to August
2012. Mr. Li served as a general manager in Kunming Hanyu
Business Consulting Co., Ltd (EEBFESHARBRAAF) from
April 2014 to January 2020.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor's degree in technology economics
from Central South University of Technology (R L AZ) in the
PRC in June 1999. Mr. Li obtained his master’s degree in business
management from Kunming University of Science and Technology
(BB T KE) in the PRC in June 2011,

Non-executive Directors

HONG Kunxue (#t3#2) aged 58, was appointed as a Director on
May 9, 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director in July
2021. Dr. Hong has been serving as the chief scientist since June
1, 2021. Dr. Hong is primarily responsible for providing guidance
and advice on R&D strategies of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Hong was a lecturer in examination
department of Henan Medical University (AEERIAE) in June
1995. Dr. Hong worked as a research scholar in the University of
California, Los Angeles in the U.S. from August 2004 to February
2005 and a visiting scholar in Duke Human Vaccine Institute
from August 2004 to August 2005. Dr. Hong worked in National
Center for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention of Chinese Center for
Disease Control and Prevention from December 2001 to May 2021
as a team leader of immunity team to lead immunity evaluation of
vaccines and immunity research relating to HIV vaccines.
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Dr. Hong obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine
from Henan Medical University (currently known as Zhengzhou
University (8 KE2)) in the PRC in June 1988. Dr. Hong obtained
his master’'s degree in clinical laboratory diagnostics from
Jilin Medical College (E#MEZET) (currently known as Beihua
University (JtZ X&) in the PRC in July 1991. Dr. Hong obtained
his doctoral degree in genetics from China Union Medical
University (FFEI13 A& RIKE) (currently known as Peking Union
Medical College (JtR=#FIEEZPT)) in the PRC in July 1999. Dr.
Hong participated in post-doctoral research at Chinese Center
for Disease Control and Prevention (/R EBIEBTEREHIF L)) in the
PRC from October 1999 to December 2001.

Dr. Hong has been a member of the Academic Committee and
Degree Committee in National Center for AIDS/STD Control and
Prevention of Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention
from July 2008 to May 2021. Dr. Hong has also been a member of
the editorial board of Infectious Microbes & Diseases ({44
)RR R (BE3X) ) since 2019. Dr. Hong was awarded a certificate
of honor for combating the COVID-19 by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province in April 2020. Dr. Hong was appointed as a
Optical Valley Industry Professor by Wuhan University (EZAE)
in December 2021.

ZHOU Hongbin (BEZ&3E), aged 49, was appointed as a Director on
November 2, 2020 and re-designated as a non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. He is primarily responsible for providing
guidance and advice on corporate and business strategies.

From May 2005 to April 2021, Dr. Zhou successively served
as investment manager, investment vice general manager,
investment director, executive director and managing director
of Legend Capital (EBEXREERMARAF]). From June
2015 to September 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a supervisor at
Guangzhou Kingmed Diagnostics Group Co., Ltd. (BE/&igEe
WEEBRMHER AR, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603882). From February 2017 to March
2021, Dr. Zhou served as a director at Shanghai Atour Business
Management (Group) Co., Ltd. (b/BGAHEETE(EE)EARAQ
a]). From December 2018 to March 2021, Dr. Zhou served as a
supervisor of Shanghai Genext Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (&
TBEHE BRI AR () AR A A]). From April 2020 to December 2021,
Dr. Zhou served as a director of Novast Laboratories, Limited (F
B EEERMDABRAT) and Novast Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. (F9i@
BRIZEZEARAQR).

BTN 1988F6 AR BAmERIAES (REB AR
MAEB)RERKRESEEB BN o HELTHN1991F7
AR BEEMEZRR (REBAILEKNS) BUSEIRR
BPE BB B - KELMN1999F 7 AR EM
PR MERAZE (RE AL R inMEE2k) MSE
BEEFL B4 - HBETH19994F10 A E 2001412
B BRFBER SR O EELEFR -

R2008F7 AE2021F5A8 AL AT RHEKRKRE
Bre sl B MR SR B s R DB EE g
RBAEZEEERE - HIELINE2019F R R
WMEMEEKR (BRX))EAREZEENE - #F
THR2020F 4 AEHILE ARBTBEMEFH TSI
KEEEESE - YHE+HN2021FE 12 AR EXEE(E
BHBEFEHE -

BEWR - 495% ° R2020F 11 A2HELZTAESE -
WH202146 A28 BT AENTEST - HEB A
EMMEREBERIRRIEERES -

E2005%5%E2021F4 8 AEETREBBELRE
BROBRABICBETRELE  REBK
P RERE WITESEREFHELIE - N2015F
6 AZE2021F9 - ABTEAENS HESHRHRE
ERGBERAG (ZARNEEELFRZAT LT @ &
7R E% : 603882) B5 o ;R2017F 2 A E 202143
A AMTEFLESIHEETE (58) BRAA
EE o B2018F 128 E20214F38 » A LET L
HEMEER RGO ERARIES - 2020944 A
F2021F 127 - AETEEEEBTEERNDER
NEIREBEHRIEEERAGES -



Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
55 EENSHAEEERE

Dr. Zhou is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group: as a director of Jiangsu Lihua Animal Husbandry Co.,
Ltd. CTEREMERMD AR A E]), a company listed in the ChiNext
Market of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300761) from
July 2015, a director of Milkyway Chemical Supply Chain Service
Co., Ltd. (mR=AEt THEERBKRMNEBERAR]), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603713) from
September 2015, a director of Shanghai Cell Therapy Group Co.,
Ltd. (E/BMEAESEEERAR]) from September 2016, also a
director of Pharmaron Beijing Co., Ltd. (FEEE(LAK (1L )H Bkl
& ER2AR]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 03759) and in the ChiNext Market of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300759) from October
2016, a director of Ningbo Xinwan Technology Development Co.,
Ltd. (BRIFERHEZEREARAF) from August 2017, a director
of Chemclin Diagnostics Co., Ltd. (RIEZE MO ERA
A]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688468) from February 2018, a director of Joy Wing Mau
Corporation Limited (BERBREEMBEERMHAERAA]) from
February 2019, a director of MicuRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (/&
BRIEERHBERAR), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 688373) from October 2020, a supervisor
of China Southern Airlines Cargo Logistics (Guangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. (FAAMZEEEWR(EM)EBRZAF) (currently known as China
Southern Airlines Logistics Co., Ltd. (FAME=WRBRIDR),
which is held by China Southern Airlines Company Limited (4
MR BRAR]) as to 55%, a listed company on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 01055), Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600029) and the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol:
ZNH)) from February 2021, and the co-chief investment officer of
Legend Capital (Bt & ARE R MDA A]) from April 2021,

Dr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Wuhan University (BB/ZAZ) in the PRC in July 1994. Dr. Zhou
obtained his master’'s degree in engineering from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1997. Dr. Zhou obtained his doctoral
degree in management from Fudan University (fEEAKXZ8) in the
PRC in July 2000.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

LIANG Guodong (RE#), aged 71, was appointed as a
Director on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an independent
non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. Mr. Liang is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement
to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liang worked as an assistant
research professor in Institute of Virology of Chinese Academy
of Preventive Medicine (FFEITER & 2RI EHREEMITAT) from
October 1987 to June 1992. Mr. Liang worked in National Institute
for Viral Disease Control and Prevention in China CDC (FFBI&&
TR H R OR SR TER IR FT) from September 1995 to August
2014 with his last positions as a research professor and the
deputy director in the Institute.

Mr. Liang obtained his bachelor’'s degree in medicine and
master’s degree in medicine from Shanxi Medical College (IL78%&
) in the PRC in September 1977 and July 1987, respectively.
Mr. Liang has been awarded third prize and first prize of Science
and Technology Progress Award of Ministry of Health of the PRC
in September 1998 and August 1999, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been a member of National Planned Immunization Committee
of PRC (BIR&tEI%2%EZE2) and National Infectious Disease
Standards Committee of PRC (BIRELRIZTEEZEE) since
September 2010 and December 2013, respectively. Mr. Liang has
been awarded the first prize for Science and Technology Awards
of Chinese Preventive Medicine Association in December 2013
and second prize of Chinese Medicine Science and Technology
Award in January 2014,

XIA Lijun (EXE), aged 46, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. Dr. Xia is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to our Board.
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Prior to joining our Group, Dr. Xia served as a lecturer, master’s
supervisor, professor and doctoral supervisor of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (/&84 KE) from March
2006 to January 2011, and as a professor and the head of
Department of Accountancy of Antai College of Economics and
Management of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (B8R BAEL S
KEEPT) since March 2011. From April 2015 to June 2020, Dr.
Xia also served as an independent director of BBI Life Sciences
Corporation, a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1035). From July 2019 to July 2022, Dr. Xia served
as an independent director of Shanghai Sanyou Medical Co.,
Ltd. (EBE=REBERWMBRMBERAF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688085). From May
2020 to May 2021, Dr. Xia worked as an independent director of
Visionox Technology Inc. (#{E#EHERMDERAF]), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002387).
From February 2020 to February 2023, Dr. Xia served as an
independent director of Orient Fortune Information Co., Ltd. (7
FEEERMNARAF), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300059).

Dr. Xia has been serving as a member of the Guiding Committee
of Professional Education of Accountancy of the Ministry of
Education of the PRC, the president-elect of Higher Engineering
College Committee under Accounting Society of China.

Dr. Xia is concurrently serving the following positions outside
our Group, including as an independent director of Shenzhen
Huitai Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (EIIEFEBEEMBMNDBR
‘A 7]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 688617) from November 2019, an independent director of
Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. (_E/&R
ERSEERM AR AR]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600846) from April 2020, an independent
director of Orient Securities Company Limited (R ZEHBRMNE
fRA7]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3958) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600958) from
March 2021, an independent director of Huatai Baoxing Fund
Management Co., Ltd. CERREE LB ERAR]) from July 2016,
and an independent director of Zhejiang Sunrise Garment Group
Co., Ltd. (I BEFIREEBE R HBR A F]) from December 2018.
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Dr. Xia obtained his bachelor's degree in economics from
Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Technology (#/MEF T %
BT) in July 1997. Dr. Xia received his master's degree and
doctoral degree in Management (Accounting) from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in March 2003 and March
2006, respectively, and conducted postdoctoral research at the
Corporate Governance Center of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong from April 2007 to August 2007, and February 2008 to
August 2008.

Dr. Xia is in charge of the Masters of Accounting Training Project
of the Ministry of Finance of PRC since October 2018. He was
qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in China in June 2000.

GAO Feng, aged 62, was appointed as a Director on May 9, 2021
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director
on June 28, 2021. Professor Gao is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Professor Gao worked in University of
Birmingham, Alabama in the U.S. as a research instructor from
April 1993 to April 1994. Professor Gao worked in Medical Center
of Duke University in the U.S. as an associate research professor
of medicine from July 2002 to June 2011.

Currently, Professor Gao has been serving as a professor in Jilin
University (F#MAE) in the PRC since December 2010. Professor
Gao has been serving as an honorary professor in Medical Center
of Duke University since September 2020 and a professor in Jinan
University (BFA£) in the PRC since October 2020.

Professor Gao obtained his bachelor's degree in medicine from
Harbin Medical College (MEEEZLT) (currently known as
Harbin Medical University (FEREERIKE)) in the PRC in July
1984. Professor Gao obtained his master's degree in medicine
from Chinese Academy of Preventive Medicine (/1 EIFE; % EFR}
) in the PRC in October 1987. Professor Gao participated in
post-doctoral research in University of Birmingham, Alabama in
the U.S.
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Professor Gao has been serving as the vice chairman of
Professional Committee of Immunity and Cell Therapy of Chinese
Society of Laboratory Animals (FEIEREMEE REEMARGES
#¥ X E%) and HIV Professional Committee of Chinese Association
of STD and AIDS Prevention and Control (B4 3 %m b athe
WiRIREEXZ 8E) since December 2018 and October 2020,
respectively. He is also a standing member of Basic Research
Professional Committee of Chinese Association of STD and AIDS
Prevention and Control (FREIMER AR At AR REEERE
)

(o)
= ).

YUEN Ming Fai (=R##), aged 72, was appointed as an
independent Director on May 9, 2021 and re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director on June 28, 2021. He is
primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, from November 1979 to December
1991, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a lecturer, and later senior
lecturer at The University of Hong Kong. After that, Prof. Yuen
worked for The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
(“HKUST”) from January 1992 to June 2016. During his tenure at
HKUST, he had served as professor and head of the Department
of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, professor of the
Department of Biomedical Engineering, Director of the Technology
Transfer Center, and Acting Vice-President (R&D) of HKUST.
Prof. Yuen had also served at the HKUST R and D Corporation
Ltd. (“RDC”) from January 2001 to June 2007 as vice president,
and from April 2009 to November 2010 as the president and the
chairman of the board of directors. He retired from HKUST in July
2016 and was appointed as a professor emeritus. From January
2017 to March 2022, Prof. Yuen was appointed as a specialist
professor in Wuyi University (L& K2).

Prof. Yuen served as an independent non-executive director of
UDL Holdings Limited (Kt&BABMRAR]) (currently known as
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (XEF™H
BRI BT AR A R])), a company listed on the Main Board of
Stock Exchange (stock code: 620) from April 2002 to November
2015. Prof. Yuen also served as an independent non-executive
director of CHTC Fong'’s International Company Limited (*FB1EX
S{EBEBAERAT), a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 641) from September 2004 to March 2022.
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Prof. Yuen obtained his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in October 1971
and obtained his doctoral degree in mechanical engineering from
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom in October 1977.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

QIAO Weiwei (Ff£18), aged 36, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 9, 2021 and was appointed as chairman of the Board of
Supervisors on September 16, 2022. Ms. Qiao has been serving
as a manager of human resources and director of general
manager’s office in our Company, as well as the deputy director
of human resources of the Company since November 1, 2021.
She is primarily responsible for overseeing the operations and
financial affairs. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor in
Wuhan Recbio, one subsidiary of our Company since September
2021. Ms. Qiao has been serving as a supervisor of Hangzhou
Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (fi/NimEREHEERAR]), a
subsidiary of the Company since February 2023.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qiao worked in Taizhou
Xinshengyuan Biological Medicine Co., Ltd. (FMFEREYEE
ZEHPBRATF]) from July 2009 to June 2018. Ms. Qiao worked at
Wenzhou Biomedical Collaborative Innovation Center (&N 4
B EREIAIFHTH0) from June 2018 to December 2019. Ms. Qiao
worked as a project performance managing expert in Beijing
ABZYMO from August 2020 to October 2020.

Ms. Qiao obtained her bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Nanjing University of Finance and Economics
(AR KRE) in the PRC in July 2014. Ms. Qiao has been
qualified as National Certificate of Human Resource Managers
II'and Il of PRC in April 2015 and July 2013, respectively.
In September 2016, Ms. Qiao also obtained certification for
completing the Advanced Seminar on the 13th Five-year
Development Plan of Biopharmaceutical Industry of Jiangsu
Province from Department of Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Jiangsu Province. In May 2014, Ms. Qiao
obtained certification for completing Taizhou's Enterprise Human
Resource Manager Quality Improvement Training Course from
Taizhou Human Resources and Social Security Department.
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WANG Feizhou (£ &), aged 55, was appointed as a Supervisor
on June 17, 2022.

Mr. Wang served as a teaching assistant at Jimei Navigation
Institute (a predecessor of Navigation School of Jimei University)
in Xiamen from August 1987 to March 1993, a lecturer at the
School of Information Engineering of Jimei University in Xiamen
from March 1993 to August 1998, a visiting scholar sponsored
by the Ministry of Education of the PRC at the Centre for
Transportation Studies of Nanyang Technological University in
Singapore from July 1998 to July 1999, an associate professor
at the School of Information Engineering of Jimei University
in Xiamen from August 1999 to July 2013, a Telus technical
specialist of ATl Group (a Canadian telecom company now
merged into AFL Group) from February 2014 to September 2015,
the risk control director and chief technical analyst of CAUS
HOLDINGS GROUP CO., LTD. in Canada from September 2015
to September 2017, and a fund partner of Shanghai Zhongfu
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (/S IFEIXREEREFR
A |]) from January 2018 to October 2021. Concurrently, Mr. Wang
has been the legal representative of Jiangsu Zhongwei Tengyun
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (TR EAEZAI R EE R
ABRA A since August 2022,

Mr. Wang has been a co-founder and the chairman of the fourth
session of the board of supervisors of 1029 CAFE SOCIETY, an
entrepreneur club in Canada, since April 2015, and a co-founder
and the chief technology officer of RAYSENSE TECHNOLOGY
CONSULTING INC. in Canada since May 2018. Concurrently,
Mr. Wang has been a fund partner of Jiangsu Zhongwei Tengyun
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. since May 2021.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in radio communication
engineering from Dalian Maritime University in 1987 and a
master’'s degree in information engineering and control from
Dalian Maritime University in 2000.

QIAN Ranting (8 ##), aged 47, was appointed as a Supervisor
on May 25, 2021. She is primarily responsible for overseeing the
operations and financial affairs.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Qian served as a managing director
of Huigiao Investment Advisory (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (EE#&%&
(L8 BRAR]) from February 2018 to July 2019. She also
served as a managing director of Shanghai Kuokun Investment
Management Co., Ltd. (/&M EEIRABRAF) from August
2019 to September 2020.
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Since October 2020, Ms. Qian has been serving as a partner
and managing director of Shanghai Hongjia Private Funds
Management Co., Ltd. (E/BSARALEREEEREHFRAF]) (previously
known as Shanghai Hongjia Asset Management Co., Ltd. (_E/&5A
HEEEEAERAA)).

Ms. Qian obtained her bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Beijing International Studies University (1t5 28 —4MHEFEEFR) in
the PRC in July 1997. Ms. Qian obtained her master of business
administration from China Europe International Business School
(FFRXIEEIEERL) in April 2004. Ms. Qian obtained her master
in finance and development from University of London in the
U.K. in December 2011. Ms. Qian has been a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) since
March 2013.

LIU Ping (%I°F), aged 43, was elected as an employee representative
Supervisor on June 30, 2022. Ms. Liu has successively served as
a deputy manager, a manager of the comprehensive management
department of the Company since November 2019.

Ms. Liu served as the QA director of Gan & Lee Pharmaceuticals
Co., Ltd. (HZEXHER A 7A]) (the predecessor of Gan & Lee
Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.) from January 2002 to August 2010.
Ms. Liu served as the director of the quality department of
Beijing Mabworks Biotech Co., Ltd. (It RKXEE £ WG
ABR/AR]) from September 2010 to April 2011. Ms. Liu served
as the manager of the quality department of Beijing ABZYMO
Biosciences Co., Ltd. from May 2011 to October 2019.

Ms. Liu graduated from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University
(&5 %FIKE) in 2001, and from the Network School of Medical
Education of Peking University (1t RAZEEMEHEF L) in
2015, both majoring in pharmacy.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LIU Yong (2IE), aged 50, is also the general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see “—Board of
Directors — Executive Directors.”

CHEN Jianping (PRf2¥), aged 45, is also our vice general
manager of our Company. For details of his biography, please see
“—Board of Directors — Executive Directors.”

LI Bu (Z46), aged 46, is also the vice general manager of our
Company. For details of his biography, please see
Directors — Executive Directors.”

“—Board of

ZHOU Hongjun (AALE), aged 42, was appointed as a vice
general manager on November 9, 2020. Mr. Zhou served as an
assistant to the general manager from August 2020 to November
2020. Mr. Zhou has been promoted and working as vice general
manager since November 2020. He is primarily responsible for the
management of the quality system, production and technology.

Mr. Zhou worked as a general manager in Yunnan Wokang
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (ERAREWEMERAF) from May
2017 to October 2018. Mr. Zhou worked as a vice general
manager in Qujing Bohui Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (#i¥5
BEAYEIEABRAT]) from December 2018 to May 2019. Mr.
Zhou also worked as a vice general manager in Beijing Xiangrui
Biological Products Co., Ltd. (At R&EmEWRRBERAF) from
June 2019 to August 2020.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in food science
and engineering from Shihezi University (/)7 FAXZ) in the
PRC in June 2003. Mr. Zhou obtained his master’'s degree
in bioengineering from Kunming University of Science and
Technology (R T KZ) in the PRC in June 2016.

Mr. Zhou was twice awarded second prize for Science &
Technology Development/Achievement by the People’s
Government of Yunnan Province (ZF& ARBF) in April 2010
and January 2012, separately. Mr. Zhou has been named ‘“the
Most Beautiful Young Worker” by Yunnan Provincial Committee of
the Communist Youth League (XFBEZMEZ) in December 2012.
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CHEN Qingging (BR& &), aged 40, was appointed as chief
financial officer, vice general manager and secretary of the
Board of our Company on May 9, 2021. Ms. Chen is primarily
responsible for financing activities, investor relationship, internal
audit and control and corporate governance of the Group. She is
also in charge of the finance and legal department.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Chen worked in Tencent
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EmEHALR)ER A7) from
May 2005 to April 2008. Ms. Chen worked as a deputy finance
director in Beijing Qianxiang Wangjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd. (JERFRE2RFHEFEREBER AT, a company listed on
New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: RENN) from January
2009 to January 2015. Ms. Chen worked as a vice president of
finance in Qufenqgi (Ganzhou) Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(BOHEEMEERITERAE]), a company listed on New York
Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: QD) from March 2015 to April
2017. From May 2017 to September 2017, Ms. Chen worked
as a senior finance director in Beike Finance Holdings (Beijing)
Limited (BRE&EERALR)ER AR (currently known as Beike
Finance Holdings (Beijing) Limited (B &Z&RHER(ALR)BR A
A])), a subsidiary of KE Holdings Inc., a company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol: BEKE). Ms. Chen worked as
the chief finance officer in Shihezi Chenshang Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (fa ¥/ EEERES B
(BBRAE%)) from November 2017 to July 2020. Ms. Chen worked
as a vice president in Dmall Life (China) Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (ZRATE (PR AR AR A A]) from August 2020 to March
2021.

Ms. Chen obtained her bachelor's degree in management and
her master’'s degree in economics from Central University of
Finance and Economics (FREFLEARE) in the PRC in July 2004
and December 2017, respectively. Ms. Chen also obtained her
master’s degree in business administration from Peking University
(A AE) in the PRC in June 2019.

ZHOU Lei (A &), aged 37, was appointed as a finance controller
on March 22, 2019. He is primarily responsible for financial
management.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhou worked as a finance controller
in Yangtze River Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (5 /T &%
E AR AF]) from January 2017 to March 2019.
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Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’'s degree in accounting from
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology (T#EIEAZ)
in June 2008. Mr. Zhou has been registered as an intermediate
accountant with the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (## AR
MBI ERER) since May 2011. Mr. Zhou has been registered as a
certified tax agent with the China Certified Tax Agents Association
(P B EMF A% E) since November 2020. Mr. Zhou has been
a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(PEFEMEETAIHE) since February 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors, Supervisors
or senior management members had held any directorship in
any public company the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years
immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

As of the Latest Practicable Date and save as disclosed above,
(i) none of our Directors, Supervisors or members of the senior
management of our Company was related to any other Directors,
Supervisors and members of the senior management, and (ii)
there was no additional matter with respect to the appointment
of the Directors or Supervisors that needs to be brought to
the attention of the Shareholders, and there was no additional
information relating to the Directors or Supervisors that is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

CHEN Qingqing (FR& &), aged 40, was appointed as one of our
joint company secretaries on June 28, 2021.
biography, please see “—Senior Management” above.

For details of her

HO Yin Kwan (ff##), was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on June 30, 2022. Ms. Ho is a vice
president of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited. She has over 20 years of professional experience in
corporate secretarial field and has been providing corporate
services to both listed and private companies incorporated in
Hong Kong and overseas. Ms. Ho holds a bachelor’'s degree in
business and finance from the University of Portsmouth in the
United Kingdom and a master’'s degree in corporate governance
from the Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as
Hong Kong Metropolitan University). Ms. Ho is a member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes to
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’'s information
since the publication of the interim report for the six months ended
June 30, 2022 of the Company and up to the date of this report
are set out below:

Directors

(1) Dr. LIU Yong ceased to the general manager and an
executive director of Hangzhou Ruibaio Technology
Company Limited (Fu/13% 16 ZEHE AR A A]), a subsidiary of
our Company, with effect from February 2023.

(2) Dr. XIA Lijun ceased to an independent director of Orient
Fortune Information Co., Ltd. (RA 8 EEBRHD AR A A),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 300059), with effect from February 2023.

(3) Mr. ZHAO Hui resigned as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee on
March 20, 2023, with effect from the same day.

(4) Dr. DU Wei resigned as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee on
March 20, 2023, with effect from the same day.

(5) Mr. ZHANG Jiaxin was nominated as a non-executive
Director of the Company and Ms. CHEN Qingqging was
nominated as an executive Director of the Company on
March 20, 2023, whose appointments are subject to
approval by the general meeting.

(6) Dr. FENG Tao resigned as a non-executive Director and a
member of the Nomination Committee on April 3, 2023, with
effect from the same day.

(7) Mr. HU Houwei was nominated as a non-executive Director
of the Company on April 12, 2023, whose appointment is
subject to approval by the general meeting.
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Supervisors

(1) Mr. CHEN Gang resigned as the Chairman and a
Supervisor of the first session of Supervisory Board of the
Company on August 25, 2022, with effect from September
16, 2022.

(2) Mr. WANG Feizhou has been the legal representative of
Jiangsu Zhongwei Tengyun Venture Capital Management
Co., Ltd. (T&#FEBEZAIZEILEEEFRAF) since August
2022.

(3) Ms. QIAO Weiwei was appointed as the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board on September 16, 2022.

(4) Ms. QIAO Weiwei has been a supervisor of Hangzhou
Ruibaio Technology Company Limited (/M35 {EREH AR
‘A \]), a subsidiary of our Company, since February 2023.

Save as the above disclosure, there were no other changes in the
information of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
of the Company as of the date of this report.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors. Our Directors during the year ended December 31,
2022 and up to the date of this report®™eres’ gre:

Executive Directors:

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping
Mr. LI Bu

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. HONG Kunxue
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

Notes:

1. Mr. ZHAO Hui and Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work
arrangements, resigned as non-executive Directors on March
20, 2028.

2. Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical conditions, resigned from

his position as a non-executive Director on April 3, 2023.

Details of our Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”
in this report.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board currently comprises four Supervisors. Our
Supervisors during the year ended December 31, 2022"°¢ V) and
up to the date of this report are:

Ms. QIAO Weiwei (Chairwoman) (Vo' 2)
Mr. WANG Feizhou®ee 9

Ms. QIAN Ranting

Ms. LIU Pingere 4

Notes:

1. Mr. XU Yaming resigned from the Supervisory Board on June
17, 2022 due to job changes;
Ms. WANG Hongyang resigned from the Supervisory Board on
June 30, 2022 due to job changes;
Mr. GU Zhongcai resigned from the Supervisory Board on
August 15, 2022 due to job changes;
Mr. CHEN Gang resigned from the Supervisory Board on
September 16, 2022 due to job changes.

2. Ms. QIAO Weiwei was appointed as the Chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board on September 16, 2022.

3. Mr. WANG Feizhou was appointed as a Supervisor on June 17,
2022.

4, Ms. LIU Ping was appointed as a Supervisor on June 30, 2022.

Details of our Supervisors are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”
in this report.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability on May 25, 2021. The H Shares of our Company have
been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since March
31, 2022.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a vaccine company with a high-value subunit vaccine
portfolio driven by in-house developed technologies. We primarily
focus on the R&D of HPV vaccine candidates. Our vaccine
portfolio consists of 12 vaccines, including our Core Product,
REC603, a recombinant HPV 9-valent vaccine under phase IlI
clinical trial. For further details, please refer to “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Business Review” in this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an analysis
of the Group’s financial performance and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report. These discussions form
part of this Directors’ report. Events affecting our Company that
have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period are set out
in the paragraph headed “Important Events after the Reporting
Period” below. The discussion of our key relationships with
employees, suppliers and others that have a significant impact on
our Company is set out in “Relationship with Key Stakeholders”
below.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We face a variety of risks relating to our financial position and
prospects, R&D, clinical trials and regulatory approval of our
vaccine candidates, our manufacturing and commercialization
of our vaccines and vaccine candidates, our relationship with
third parties, strategic partners and collaborators, our intellectual
property rights, other aspects of our business operations, and the
industry and regulatory development in China. Some of the major
risks that we face include:

o we have incurred significant net losses since inception and
expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable
future, and may never achieve or maintain profitability. As
a result, you may lose substantially all of your investment in
us if our business fails;

° our financial prospects depends on the successful
development, approval and commercialization of our
clinical-stage and preclinical stage vaccine pipeline;

° we may be unable to successfully complete clinical
development, obtain regulatory approval and commercialize
our vaccine candidates;

° we invest substantial resources in R&D in order to develop
our vaccine candidates and enhance our technology
platforms, which we may not be able to do successfully;

° vaccine development involves a lengthy and expensive
process with uncertain outcomes and results of earlier clinical
trials may not be predictive of results of later-stage clinical
trials;

° the vaccine industry in China is highly regulated and such
regulations are subject to change which may affect approval
and commercialization of our vaccine candidates; and
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o if we are unsuccessful in obtaining or maintaining effective
intellectual property protection for one or more of our vaccine
candidates, and the scope of such intellectual property rights
obtained may not be sufficiently broad.

We also cannot guarantee that we will ultimately develop or market
our Core Product or any of our vaccines and vaccine candidates
successfully.

The above is not an exhaustive list of the risks that we and
our business face. Shareholders and potential investors of our
Company are advised to make their own judgment and/or consult
their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares and when dealing in the Shares of our Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

In respect of social responsibilities, we have entered into
employment contracts with our employees in accordance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We hire employees
based on their merits and it is our corporate policy to offer equal
opportunities to our employees regardless of gender, age, race,
religion or any other social or personal characteristics. We strive
to provide a safe working environment for our employees. We have
implemented work safety guidelines setting out safety practices,
accident prevention and accident reporting procedures. Our
employees responsible for manufacturing and quality control and
assurance are required to hold relevant qualifications, as well as
wear the proper safety gear when working. We conduct regular
safety inspections and maintenance for our manufacturing facilities.
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We strive to operate our facilities in a manner that protects the
environment and the health and safety of our employees and
communities. We have implemented company-wide environmental
health and safety policies and operating procedures, covering
waste treatment, process safety management, worker health and
safety requirements and emergency planning and response.
As required by the applicable PRC laws and regulations, our
manufacturing facilities under construction are required to pass
the environmental impact assessment. We have obtained such
assessment for our HPV vaccine manufacturing facility and
COVID-19 vaccine manufacturing facility in February 2020 and
April 2021, respectively. For waste water generated during our
R&D and manufacturing processes, we will classify and treat it.
The active waste water will enter the sewage station for treatment
after high temperature sterilization, while the inactive waste water
will directly enter the sewage station for treatment, and then be
sent to the sewage treatment plant after treatment. In particular,
as our manufacturing for COVID-19 vaccine is expected to be
completed soon, we have formulated a set of matrix and criteria
with respect to the waste water, including its Ph values shall be
between 6 to 9 and its Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) waste
shall not exceed 500 mg/L, ammonia nitrogen shall not exceed
35 mg/L and total phosphorus shall not exceed 3 mg/L. For
waste gas, we will build activated charcoal filter and water spray
equipment to process before emission. In addition, our businesses
involve the use of hazardous and flammable chemical materials.
We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these
materials and wastes. In order to manage the environmental,
social and climate related risks, we have adopted a set of internal
control policies, which set out the standard procedures for us to
monitor such risks and how should we deal with these emergency
events. We have also adopted an environmental risk assessment
management procedure, which requires us to conduct periodic
review on the environmental impact that our operations may have.
We also adopt a standard environment, health and safety (EHS)
risk management procedure and EHS compliance evaluation
procedure, pursuant to which we are required to conduct periodic
review the risks and challenges we may encounter in this area.
During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
we complied with the relevant environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations in all material aspects and
we did not have any incidents or complaints which had a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations during the period.
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We pay close attention to the global trend and China’s national
strategies of addressing climate change and ecological
environment protection, and will actively enhance our ability
to address climate change and cope with China’s initiatives
and action plans regarding future carbon dioxide emission.
In terms of major climate change-related initiatives or action
plans that may affect us, we plan to formulate policies after our
Listing to systematically identify, assess and manage climate
change-related risks, and formulate relevant response strategies.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND MATERIAL LITIGATION

As of the Latest Practicable Date, neither we nor any of
our Directors were involved in any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations, including those that may have an influence on the
R&D of our Core Product, REC603. As of the Latest Practicable
Date, we were not aware of any pending or threatened litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings against us or our
Directors which would have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition or results of operations, nor any
material breach by the Group of applicable laws and regulations
in China that are material to our business operations.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We recognize that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, Shareholders and other business partners are key to
the Group’s success. We strive to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationships with them.

Employees

As of the Latest Practicable Date, we had 559 employees, all of
whom were based in China. The number of employees employed
by the Group varies from time to time depending on need. The
remuneration package of our employees include wages and other
incentives, which are generally determined by their qualifications,
industry experience, positions and performance.
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We build our success on employees’ dedication and commitment.
Our Company is committed to providing as much opportunities as
possible for employees’ skills enhancement and career development.
We aim at cultivating talents in a long run, and encouraging
employees to realise their full potential and to keep pace with
growth of our Company. We recruit our employees primarily through
recruiting websites, third-party recruiters and employee referral.
We conduct new employee training, as well as professional and
safety training programs for all employees in accordance with our
internal procedures. We enter into employment agreements with our
employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds
for termination. During the Reporting Period, we made contributions
to social insurance and housing provident funds in compliance with
applicable PRC laws and regulations in all material respects. We also
enter into standard confidentiality, intellectual property assignment
and non-competition agreements with our key management and
research and development staff, which typically include a standard
non-compete agreement that prohibits the employee from competing
with us, directly or indirectly, during his or her employment and for
two years after the termination of his or her employment. Employees
also sign acknowledgments regarding service inventions and
discoveries made during the course of their employment.

Our Company also has adopted two share incentive schemes
to provide incentives and rewards for certain employees who
have contributed to the success of our business. Please refer to
the section headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below for further
details.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

Customers and Suppliers

During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, we had no commercialized vaccines and therefore had no
customers.
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During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
included suppliers of raw materials and consumables for our
vaccine candidate R&D, suppliers of equipment for our R&D and
manufacturing process, and service providers such as CROs.
We maintain a list of qualified suppliers and we will conduct
qualification review and on-site audit for all of the qualified
suppliers. We have established stable relationships with qualified
suppliers. We only procure raw materials from qualified suppliers.
We conduct regular review on qualified suppliers and suppliers
that failed to pass such review will be removed from the list of
qualified suppliers. We select our suppliers by considering their
qualifications, compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and industry standards, quality, prices, business scale, market
share, reputation and after-sales service quality. We have
maintained stable business relationships with our major suppliers.
We have been devoted to maintaining long term cooperation,
enhancing product quality, increasing sales volume and improving
profitability. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we did not
experience any material dispute with suppliers, difficulties in the
procurement of raw materials, interruptions in our operations due
to a shortage or delay of raw materials or significant fluctuations
in raw material prices.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers amounted to RMB198.9 million
(2021: RMB242.2 million), accounting for approximately 23.80%
(2021: 34.53%) of the Group’s total purchase amount in the same
year. The Group’s purchase from the largest supplier for the year
ended December 31, 2022 amounted to RMB61.8 million (2021:
RMB69.2 million), accounting for approximately 7.39% (2021:
9.86%) of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

None of our Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who,
to the knowledge of our Directors, owned more than 5% of our
issued share capital as of the Latest Practicable Date, held any
interest in any of our five largest suppliers during the Reporting
Period.
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Shareholders

We consider that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of our business performance and strategies. Apart
from transparent and timely disclosure of corporate information
in accordance with the Listing Rules, our Company has kept
effective communication with Shareholders through our website,
Wechat platform, Shareholder’s hotline, and IR mailbox. Senior
managements are also glad to receive Shareholders’ on-site visit
and have one-on-one meetings with them to share the information
which they are concerned and enable them to make rational
investment decisions.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 130 of this report. A summary of the audited consolidated
results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
four financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out in the section “Financial Highlights”
in this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements of our Company. Please
also refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report for further details.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of our
Company and our Group for the year ended December 31, 2022
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

DONATION

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group made no
charitable donations.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF OUR
COMPANY’S SHARES

On December 28, 2022, the Company held an extraordinary
general meeting and class meetings of shareholders, wherein
we considered and approved the resolutions in relation to
the issuance of Domestic Shares and its related matters (the
“Issuance”).
Company’s overall competitiveness, increase the risk resistance

Accordingly, in order to further enhance the

capacity, supplement R&D funds for product pipelines under
development and promote the steady and sound development
of our business, the Company proposed to issue not more than
57,955,560 Domestic Shares to not more than 35 qualified
domestic institutional investors with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each.

The proceeds from the Issuance are currently expected to be
no less than HK$640 million and will be used for the following
purposes: (1) approximately 50% will be allocated for REC610,
including the IND application, clinical trials, BLA submission,
manufacturing facility construction and commercialization; (2)
approximately 25% will be allocated for ReCQOV, including the
ongoing phase Il clinical trials in Philippines, Nepal and Russia;
and (3) approximately 25% will be allocated for the working
capital and general corporate purposes.

On February 8, 2023, the Company received the CSRC
Acceptance Notice of the Application for Administrative
Permission (P EIFEE 2 /TIFFA] R X 12 8 ) issued by the CSRC,
which indicated that our application materials for the issuance of
Domestic Shares were accepted by the CSRC. The issuance of
Domestic Shares is subject to certain conditions, including but not
limited to the approval from the CSRC, and details of the issuance
plan are not yet finalised, and further disclosure will be made by
the Company in due course.

For details of the Issuance, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated October 31, 2022, December 28, 2022
and February 8, 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
December 13, 2022.

Save as disclosed in this report, during the period from the Listing
Date to December 31, 2022, neither our Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company.
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H SHARE FULL CIRCULATION

On August 15, 2022, the Company held an extraordinary general
meeting and class meetings of shareholders to review and
approve the proposal to apply for the “Full Circulation” of the
Company’s unlisted shares.

On August 25, 2022, the Company received a formal acceptance
letter from the CSRC regarding the Company’s submission to the
CSRC of its application for the implementation of this H Share full
circulation (the “Application”). According to the Application, the
Company applied to convert 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H
Shares and list them on the Stock Exchange.

On November 10, 2022, the Company received approval from the
CSRC for the Application. According to the approval, accordingly,
the CSRC approved 46 Shareholders of the Company to convert a
total of 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H Shares and list them
on the Stock Exchange. The approval is valid for 12 months from
the date of approval (November 3, 2022).

On December 1, 2022, the Stock Exchange granted approval for
the listing and trading of 222,498,569 H Shares (i.e., the maximum
number of Domestic Shares to be converted according to the
conversion and listing).

On February 20, 2023, the Company completed the conversion
of 222,498,569 Domestic Shares into H Shares. The converted
H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange at 9:00 a.m. on
February 21, 2023.

For details of the Company’s H Share full circulation plan,
please refer to the Company’'s announcements dated June 30,
2022, August 15, 2022, August 25, 2022, November 10, 2022,
December 5, 2022 and February 20, 2023 and the circular dated
July 29, 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige our
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2022 (FY2021: Nil).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

According to the Individual Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FZEARZLMBEEAMGEHE)) and its
implementation rules, dividends paid to individuals by PRC
companies are generally subject to an individual income tax levied
at a flat rate of 20%. For an individual who has no domicile in the
PRC and is not resident in the territory of the PRC or who has no
domicile in the PRC and has been resident in the territory of the
PRC for less than 183 days cumulatively within a tax year, his/
her receipt of dividends from a PRC company is normally subject
to a PRC withholding tax of 20% unless specifically exempted
or reduced by an applicable tax treaty and other tax laws and
regulations.

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on
Issues Concerning Withholding the Enterprise Income Tax on
Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to Holders of
H Shares who are Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui
Han [2008] No. 897) (ERMEBBENFEER P ERIFEINHE
FERGCEBRRIREREARMRBUCEMGSH A MM BN BN
i 4[2008]8975%)), a PRC resident enterprise, when distributing
dividends for 2008 and for the years afterwards to holders of H
Shares who are overseas non-resident enterprises, shall withhold
the enterprise income tax at a flat rate of 10%.

Our Company did not declare or pay any dividend for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Accordingly, the Shareholders of our
Company (including the holders of H Shares) are not subject to
income tax on dividend distribution. If any of the H Shareholders
is unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the H Shares, he/she is advised to consult an expert.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of our Company for
the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURE AND CONVERTIBLE BOND

Our Group did not issue any debenture or convertible bond for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive schemes as described below, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed for the year ended December 31, 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance to provide
liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the
Company in respect of legal actions against them due to affairs
of the Company. As of the date of this report, all Directors of our
Company were covered under the liability insurance purchased by
our Company for its Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company did not have any
reserves available for distribution to our Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2022, our Company has a total bank loans
and other borrowings in the amount of RMB223,015,243. Please
refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Review” in this report and note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

LOAN AGREEMENTS THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE
DISCLOSED UNDER THE LISTING RULES

As of the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the controlling Shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules). Our Directors have confirmed that, as of the
Latest Practicable Date, they were not aware of any circumstances
that would give rise to disclosure requirements under Rules 13.13
to 13.19 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Rules 19A.54 and 19A.55 of the Listing Rules, our
Company has entered into a service agreement with each of the
Directors and Supervisors which contains provisions in relation to,
among other things, compliance of relevant laws and regulations,
observation of the Articles of Association and provisions on
arbitration. Each of the agreements is for a term of three years
following his/her respective appointment date and the service
agreements may be renewed in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable rules.

Save as disclosed above, our Company has not entered, and
do not propose to enter, into any service contracts with any
of the Directors or Supervisors in their respective capacities
as Directors/Supervisors (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors and Supervisors nor any entity connected
with the Directors and Supervisors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which our Company, our holding
company, or any of our subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended December
31, 2022.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and save for their respective
interests in the Group, none of the Directors and Supervisors was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022.
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From time to time, our non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of directors
of both private and public companies within the broader
healthcare and biopharmaceutical industries. However, as these
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are neither our controlling shareholders nor members of our
executive management team, we believe that their interests in
such companies as directors would not render us incapable of
carrying on our business independently from the other companies
in which they may hold directorships from time to time.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended December 31, 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2022, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief
executives of our Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares of our Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our
Company
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares" Company®  our Company®

ERAREE

ERDAER RO ER

Name #e/ £8 BEtE ROMERERNO WHEAFEILO  HEAEIRO

Taizhou Yuangong @ FMrI® Beneficial owner 82,863,620 Domestic Shares 17.16% 21.28%
EREAA 82,863,620/ W& R

Beijing Junlian Shengyuan 3t REEREARE  Beneficial owner 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 5.87% 7.28%

RARBLR  EBEEARA
(BRA%)
([BBER])©

Equity Investment
Enterprise (Limited
Partnership) (“Junlian
Shengyuan’)®

28,339,420/ W& %
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares Company®  our Company
EARR R
ERARER HRRGER
Name e/ 2% BHME ROBERERY HHROEILY  BHELEILO
Lhasa Junqi Enterprise ~ WEEEERXER  Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 5.87% 7.28%
Management Co., Ltd.®  BRAFE RGBS 28,339,420k N Bk
Healthy Prestige Limited®  Healthy Prestige  Beneficial owner 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® ERBEAA 4,956,380 xHR
LC Healthcare Fund II, LC Healthcare Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
LP.® Fund Il LP#  RiEZEER 4,956,380k HAR
LC Healthcare Fund Il GP LC Healthcare Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® Fund Il GP REEE R 4,956,380 FRHR
Limited®
LC Fund GP Limited® LC Fund GP Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® REzEER 4,956,380k HAR
Union Season Holdings Union Season Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited Holdings B EEER 4,956,380 H&
Limited®
Great Unity Fund I, L.P.¥  Great Unity Fund I, Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
LP.® REzEER 4,956,380 % HA
SK China Company SK China Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited Company RiEAE R 4,956,380 H&
Limited®
Proud Solar Limited® Proud Solar Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® XL RS 4,956,380 fkHR
Loft Success Investments  Loft Success Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® Investments REEEREE 4,956,380 Hilk
Limited®
Right Lane Limited® Right Lane Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Limited® REERER 4,956,380 FxHR
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares(" Company®™  our Company(

R NEibEl

ERARER BRRGER

Name e/ £8 BHEME ROBERERO HHLAEILO HELEIHLO

Legend Holdings BB R R Interest in controlled corporations 4,956,380 H Shares 1.03% 5.29%
Corporation BRAF REAE R 4,956,380 H%

Legend Capital Co,, Ltd®9  BEEKREERA Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
BRAFGW  REEEER 28,339,420k WA R

4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
4,956,380 HA%

Beijing Juncheng Hezhong JtREHARKRE  Interestin controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
Investment Management ~ EEABLE  IEEEER 28,339,420k N & Bk

Partnership (Limited (EREE) W 4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
Partnership)3 4,956,380 FRHR

Beijing Junqi Jiarui I FEEERME  Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
Business Management EEBRAFG ZEEEER 28,339,420k M E Bk

Limited® 4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
4,956,380 % HP&

CHEN Haol®® B oW Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
REAERE 28,339,420k W& R

4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
4,956,380f% H

Tianjin Huizhi No.1 Business  AZEBEHEE  Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
Management Consulting ERFAGHLE X AEER 28,339,420k &

Partnership (Limited (BRAY)WW 4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
Partnership) @4 4,956,380 HA%

ZHU Linan ©@ KuEE@ Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
REEEER 28,339,420/ & i

4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
4,956,380 H R

Tianjin Junlian Jieyou FE2EBEAETE  Interest in controlled corporations 28,339,420 Domestic Shares 6.89% 7.28%
Business Management EERFACHLE DB AEER 28,339,420 R 1 & I

Consulting Partnership (BRAR) W 4,956,380 H Shares 5.29%
(Limited Partnership) @ 4,956,380 % HA%
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares(" Company®™  our Company(
EARR R
ERARER BRI R
Name e/ 2% BHEME ROBERERY HHROEILY  BHELEILO
Shanghai Chaorui Medical E/S#IRnE=EZERE  Beneficial owner 37,390,030 Domestic Shares 7.74% 9.60%
Technology Partnership ~ ABGE EnEaA 37,390,030 WA &
(Limited Partnership)® (BREH)E
YU Yue © FEO Interest in controlled corporations 37,390,030 Domestic Shares 7.74% 9.60%
B EEER 37,390,030t WA R
LIU Hongyan(/®) =Rl Interest in controlled corporations 38,671,490 Domestic Shares 8.01% 9.93%
REEEER 38,671,490 M AR
Beneficial owner 1,794,040 Domestic Shares 0.37% 0.46%
EHEEA 1,794,040 M E R
Spouse interest 1,281,460 Domestic Shares 0.27% 0.33%
[ 1,081,460k N E K
LYFE Niagara River LYFE Niagara Beneficial owner 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 19.38%
Limited™ River Limited”  EZ%EHA 18,151,700 HER
LYFE Capital Fund Il LYFE Capital Fund Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 19.38%
(Dragon), LP. 11l (Dragon), REEEER 18,151, 700 HAR
LP.O
LYFE Capital Management LYFE Capital Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 3.76% 19.38%
Limited™ Management — RIEEEEE 18,151,700 HE
Limited”
ZHAO Jin® HED Interest in controlled corporations 18,151,700 H Shares 7.14% 19.38%
REiEER 18,151,700 HR
16,348,140 Domestic Shares 4.20%
16,348, 140 WA R
Shenzhen Oriental Fortune  #[TRAEE  Interest in controlled corporations 33,286,040 Domestic Shares 6.89% 8.55%
Capital Investment Co.,  REERKRH  XEiEER 33,286,040 A & 1%
Ltd.® BRARFO
CHEN Wei © 3 Interest in controlled corporations 33,286,040 Domestic Shares 6.89% 8.55%

REAERE

33,286,040 E K
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares Company®  our Company
RG]
EEA RS BRIk
Name e/ 2% BHEME ROBERERY HHROEILY  HHELAFEILO
Shenzhen Fer-Capital FYAIEARERE  Interest in controlled corporations 27,203,740 Domestic Shares 5.63% 6.99%
Investment Management ~ ERBBAFS  ZEZEER 27,203,740 & 1%
Co., Ltd.®
SCC Growth VI Holdco C~ SCC Growth VI Beneficial owner 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
(HK) Limited(™® Holdco C (HK) E#&mHEAA 12,219,040 HAR
Limited®
Sequoia Capital China Sequoia Capital ~Interest in controlled corporations 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
Growth Fund VI, L.P.10 China Growth X EEEE 12,219,040 HER
Fund VI, L.P.1®
SC China Growth VI SC China Growth  Interest in controlled corporations 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
Management, L.P.( VI Management, SEEEER 12,219,040 HRR
I_.P.(m)
SC China Holding SC China Holding  Interest in controlled corporations 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
Limited"® Limited!'® REEEER 12,219,040 R HA%
SNP China Enterprises SNP China Interest in controlled corporations 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
Limited® Enterprises R EEER 12,219,040 HAR
Limited(®
SHEN Nanpeng (0 el A Interest in controlled corporations 12,219,040 H Shares 2.53% 13.05%
REzEER 12,219,040 HEE
Nanjing Zhaoyin Modern ~ ERBHRRESE  Beneficial owner 20,446,160 Domestic Shares 4.23% 5.25%
Industry No. Il Equity ARRERE  EREAA 20,446,160 W& %
Investment Fund e (BREE)
(Limited Partnership)™
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Modern  JIERFRRESE  Interest in controlled corporations 20,446,160 Domestic Shares 4.23% 5.25%
Industry Equity REREEE  XIPiEER 20,446,160/ W& %
Investment Fund Phase | —#1(BRAE)™

(Limited Partnership) (')
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares(" Company®™  our Company(
R NEik el
EADRER BRIRGER
Name “E/ £8 BHEME ROBERERO HHLAEILO HELEIHLO
CMB International RRBIREEIER  Interest in controlled corporations 22,719,240 Domestic Shares 4.70% 5.84%
Financial Holdings (R BB RGBS 22,719,240 W& ik
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. @ AR
Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial IERBHEFES  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
Fund Management Co., ~ BEARARA" SEiEER 22,907, 700k A& Bk
Ltd.("
CMB International Capital ~ RFEHEEARERE  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
Management (Shenzhen) (&3 BR R EER 22,907, 700k A& Bk
Co., Ltd.™" NG
CMB Financial Holdings A& 82 (Y1) Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.("" BRARM R EEER 22,907,700/ A& %
CMB International Capital ~ RIREIFS & & Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
Corporation Limited!" BRAR REEERE 22,907,700 W& &
CMB International Capital  JRREFRFEIZR  Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
Holdings Corporation BRARM REAE R 22,907, 700k W& Bk
Limited"
China Merchants Bank REakm Interest in controlled corporations 22,907,700 Domestic Shares 4.74% 5.88%
Co., Ltd.(" BRAR REEERE 22,907,700 & &
LBC Sunshine Healthcare B ERGX =% Beneficial owner 11,300,000 H Shares 2.34% 12.07%
Fund Il L.P. @ He EREAA 11,300,0008% H&
Lake Bleu Capital (Hong ~ BHER(EE)  Investment Manager 11,300,000 H Shares 2.34% 12.07%
Kong) Limited(? BRAFM REEE 11,300,000 H%
Yangtze River (Hong BTIL(EA) Beneficial owner 12,618,500 H Shares 2.61% 13.48%
Kong) Limited® BRAR BEEBEA 12,618,500 HE
XU Haoyu ("2 BEFO Interest in controlled corporations 12,618,500 H Shares 2.61% 13.48%

REAERE

12,618,500 HAR
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Approximate
percentage of
interest in our

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
relevant class

of Shares of

Nature of interest Number and class of Shares(" Company®™  our Company(
RG]
ERNRER HRRGER
Name #HE,/ A8 BHME ROBERERY HHROEILY  HHELAFEILO
Springleaf Investments Springleaf Beneficial owner 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 3.08%
Pte. Ltd.(¥ Investments EnBEaA 12,000,000 K EmsME R
Pte. Ltd.(¥
Anderson Investments Pte. ~ Anderson Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 3.08%
Ltd (4 Investments ~ RHEEEER 12,000,0008 K ETSMERR
Pte. Ltd.®
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd." Thomson Capital  Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 3.08%
Pte. Ltd. REEERSE 12,000,000 A E i SME Rk
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd."® Tembusu Capital  Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 3.08%
Pte. Ltd.!"™ REERRR 12,000,000/ & LM ME IR
Temasek Holdings Temasek Holdings Interest in controlled corporations 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares 2.48% 3.08%

(Private) Limited(™ (Private) REEEER 12,000,000 & Lo E fix
Limited")

Notes: Hiat -

1. As at December 31, 2022, the Company has issued a total 1. MR2022F12A31H » RARE#EHITRMDBE
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 377,322,880 Domestic #482,963,000)% - ©235377,322,880RAE
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 93,640,120 fi% + 12,000,000 8 & _EmoNE R 293,640,120
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the RHAR - FRPIFMBEE =B RITFE - BAERK
Domestic shareholders, the approximate percentage of interest RME - EARREBENRODERNOBELA
in the relevant class of Shares of the Company is calculated DLTIRBEBITAER KA ETHINEREE
based on the sum of issued domestic shares and unlisted 8
foreign shares.

2. Taizhou Yuangong was owned as to 0.0001% by Dr. Liu as 2. ZEMTIEEE L (ERAEYRERBA)EER

general partner.

0.0001% -
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The general partner of Junlian Shengyuan was Lhasa Jungi
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (MNEZHLCEEEAR A
A]), which was wholly owned by Legend Capital Co., Ltd.
(BHMEAREEBRMABMRAA) (‘Legend Capital”), and in turn
held as to 80% by Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Jt&=#&E
HERREBEEGRLE(ARER)) and 20% by Legend
Holdings Corporation (stock code: 3396). The general partner
of Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment Management
Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership) (ItRE#EHE F
WEEBABOLEARAE)) is Beijing Jungi Jiarui Business
Management Limited (It REBEHRELEEEBRAF). And
it has two limited partners, among which, the largest partner
is Tianjin Hui Zhi No.1 Enterprise Management Consulting
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (RZEBSHELEETIEH
MEABLE(ERAE)) holding approximately 8.12% of its
partnership interest. The partnership interest of Beijing Junqi
Jiarui Business Management Limited (It REBHEZELCEE
AR AR is approximately 40% owned by CHEN Hao (F&
J&). The partnership interest of Tianjin Hui Zhi No.1 Enterprise
Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (X
EESSREEETEEANERLE(BRER)) is approximately
34.68% owned by ZHU Linan (%32F9). Therefore, each of
Legend Capital, Beijing Juncheng Hezhong Investment
Management Partnership Enterprises (Limited Partnership)
(tREBHERKREBEAREE(BERAR)) and Beijing Jungi
Jiarui Business Management Limited (It REBEHZECEE
AR AR, Tianjin Hui Zhi No.1 Enterprise Management
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (KZEZ SR D%
BEEABAABLEBRAE)), Tanjin Junlian Jieyou Enterprise
Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (X
EEBEHA R EREAGEEE(BRER)), CHEN Hao (F%)
and ZHU Linan (%32f) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Junlian Shengyuan under the SFO.

Healthy Prestige Limited is wholly owned by LC Healthcare
Fund Il., L.P. LC Healthcare Fund II., L.P. is managed by LC
Healthcare Fund Il GP Limited, which is wholly owned by
LC Fund GP Limited. LC Fund GP Limited is wholly owned
by Union Season Holdings Limited. Union Season Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Legend Capital. Junlian Shengyuan
and Zhuhai Junlian Yongshuo Equity Investment Enterprise
(Limited Partnership) (AR FEB KEBERERECE(BRER))
are managed by Legend Capital. Therefore, under the SFO,
LC Healthcare Fund Il, L.P., LC Healthcare Fund Il GP Limited,
LC Fund GP Limited, and Union Season Holdings Limited
are deemed to have interests in the shares held by Healthy
Prestige Limited, while Legend Capital is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Healthy Prestige Limited and
Junlian Shengyuan respectively.

EHBRRNERAREARNEEHOCEETESR
BAR NEBEECEEEGRARHEHE
REEROBRAR ([BBMER]) 2EHES
MEBREAXBILRERESRREEBEARD
X (ERER) REEERBRMHER A A (RH
5% : 3396) D AEIFH80% K20% ° L REH
AERBEEBEGELE (ARABR ) NEBEE
ANBLEFREHEEECEEEGRAR ' URE
EMEEREBA EFHZANEBABRE
EESHROEEELACELE (BREE)
FEHEN812%ME R - R BHEED
XEBEARARHBERBEELNI0%ME Bk
o REBESHOEEELHEGBLE (AR
AE)HBARYEIFEEENI34.68%MEBESS -
Et - RIBEFBHFRBAEGY - BEER - bR
EREFREEESGELE (BREAE) X
EHEEOCETEARAR REESERD
XEBEFBRNEBOCE(BREE)  REBHHG
HEETEZAEBLE (BREE) BA

KUBEERRAREBBHRREENRNFE

ﬁ*“%o
fm

Healthy Prestige LimitedfiLC Healthcare
Fund Il., L.P.2& A ° LC Healthcare Fund
Il., L.P.AHLC Healthcare Fund Il GP Limited
B2 + MLC Healthcare Fund Il GP Limited &
LC Fund GP Limited®%&#7%H - LC Fund GP
Limited@gUnion Season Holdings Limited%®
&¥A ° Union Season Holdings Limitedf
EMARNTEWRE - BHRRRIKE B KE
BEEECX (BRER) BEBMELER -
Ett - RIEFEF REEES - LC Healthcare
Fund I, L.P.~ LC Healthcare Fund Il GP
Limited  LC Fund GP LimitedXUnion
Season Holdings Limited# % AR Healthy
Prestige LimitedFBMRMD T B #ED - MAB
B8 A48 AR Healthy Prestige Limited 2 &
BRERSEFANIROPHEER -



LC Healthcare Fund Il, L.P. is approximately 54.22% owned
by Great Unity Fund I, L.P., the partnership interest of which
is approximately 49.08% owned by Proud Solar Limited
and approximately 49.08% owned by SK China Company
Limited. Proud Solar Limited is wholly owned by Loft Success
Investments Limited, which is wholly owned by Right Lane
Limited. Right Lane Limited is wholly owned by Legend
Holdings Corporation. Therefore, under the SOF, Great Unity
Fund I, L.P., SK China Company Limited, Proud Solar Limited,
Loft Success Investments Limited, Right Lane Limited and
Legend Holdings Corporation are deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Healthy Prestige Limited.

Shanghai Chaorui Medical Technology Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (/8 @BHEHEREABPE(BRER)) (“Shanghai
Chaorui”) was owned as to approximately 10.48% by YU Yue
(F ) as the general partner and 36.56% by LIU Hongyan (%I
41%) as a limited partner. Therefore, each of YU Yue (FE)
and LIU Hongyan (2J41%) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shanghai Chaorui under the SFO.

Nanjing Xinrui Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(ARHFERBAECE(BERER)) held 1,281,460 Domestic
Shares, whose general partner was LIU Hongyan (2I41%).
ZHAO Jiayi (#3%%£), spouse of LIU Hongyan (2I41%), held
1,281,460 Domestic Shares. Therefore, LIU Hongyan was
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Nanjing Xinrui
Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (B R#FERHERA
BFE(BRER)) and ZHAO Jiayi (=)

LYFE Niagara River Limited, Shanghai Jiyue Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/8B EE
BABLE(BRA)) (“Shanghai Jiyue”) and Shanghai Jixuan
Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(EEBESFEEEBABLE(BREE)) (“Shanghai Jixuan”)
held 18,151,700 H Shares, 8,318,800 Domestic Shares and
8,029,340 Domestic Shares, respectively. LYFE Niagara River
Limited is controlled by LYFE Capital Fund Ill (Dragon), L.P.,
LYFE Capital Fund Il (Dragon) L.P. is controlled by LYFE
Capital Management Limited, which is in turn controlled by
ZHAO Jin (#%). Therefore, each of LYFE Capital Fund Il
(Dragon), L.P., LYFE Capital Management Limited and ZHAO
Jin (&) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
LYFE Niagara River Limited under the SFO.
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LC Healthcare Fund I, L.P. HGreat Unity
Fund |, LP.#BEHEL5422%ME %=
fGreat Unity Fund |, L.P. % Bl&Proud
Solar Limited# A A #%149.08% K& A SK
China Company Limited#48 H£#749.08%
KAz » Proud Solar Limitedf Loft
Success Investments Limited2& A & M
Loft Success Investments LimitedRight
Lane Limited®&# % ° Right Lane Limited
HEBEIERRNDERATIZERESR - Al -
RIBFZES R EEN - Great Unity Fund |,
L.P.» SK China Company Limited * Proud
Solar Limited ~ Loft Success Investments
Limited * Right Lane Limited 5 B#7835 A2 A% 15
BRAR)WAE B Healthy Prestige Limited$¥
BRI PR R -

LEBmBENMEABLCE (BRAR) ([LE
Binl) B TRBIEAEREBAMEL10.48% K
BT EEREREZAEE36.56% ° Fltt + 1R
BEFLBEGRD  TRERIALCESEHER
R ESBEFEENROPEEEE -

ERTENEAECE(BEREAR)FHA
1,281,460 RME K - ZRBIEBEZARBBIL
o B AR BB RERFE 1,281,460 RN E
B At BAEWRARERTENEAE
TE(BREE) RHEZERENROPESR

< o
fm

LYFE Niagara River Limited ~ /& EIHMEE
BEBEE(BRE%) ([ LEER]) KLEE
HEXBEEAYLE (BRER) ([ LEBEE])
S BIFH 18,151,700 HAX - 8,318,800/ A&
% 128,029,340% W& % ° LYFE Niagara River
LimitedfEALYFE Capital Fund Il (Dragon),
L.P.#Z%| - LYFE Capital Fund Il (Dragon)
L.P.FALYFE Capital Management Limited{Z
#l - MLYFE Capital Management Limited
HREEES - At REESFRBEGKR
LYFE Capital Fund Il (Dragon), L.P. ~ LYFE
Capital Management Limited &% & & #8
AHLYFE Niagara River Limited#sA R
RA R o
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Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan were managed by LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (%8
AEESEE(LE)EMR A7), which was in turn controlled by
ZHAO Jin (#&). Therefore, each of ZHAO Jin (&) and LYFE
Capital Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (JH%&7L.
SHSEIE(B)BERAF) was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Shanghai Jiyue and Shanghai Jixuan under the
SFO.

Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (&3]
MRTEEFREEERNHER AT (“Oriental Fortune Capital”)
was interested in an aggregate of 33,286,040 Domestic Shares
through six entities, including (i) Shenzhen Fuhai Juanyong Il
Venture Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) CRIIE & &K
“SRAIERENE(ERAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd. (&I E

EHAIEREEE AR AF), which was in turn wholly owned
by Oriental Fortune Capital), (ii) Shenzhen Fuhai Junyong Il
Venture Capital Enterprise (Limited Partnership) CRIIE & &K
THRAIERE N E(ERAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Oriental Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., which
was in turn wholly owned by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iii)
Shenzhen Nanshan OFC Small and Medium Venture Capital
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (&3
EALERAFEEFNHEAEREESERCE(EREE)) (the
general partner is Shenzhen Oriental Fortune Venture Capital
Investment Co., Ltd. ORIITERF B EBEIERETEFRARF),
which was in turn managed by Oriental Fortune Capital), (iv)
Shenzhen Fuhai Xincai Phase Il Venture Capital Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FIIHEE#HH =
HRIEREESEBOLE(BREE)) (the general partner is
Shenzhen Fuhai Xinwan Equity Investment Fund Management
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) (RIITE EEZERERE
HeEELE(ERA)), which was in turn managed by
Oriental Fortune Capital), (v) Shenzhen Fuhai Youxuan Il
High Technology Venture Capital Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) OFYITMEESEE et EaXKER
¥ (BRAEHE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen Oriental
Fortune Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., which was in
turn managed by Oriental Fortune Capital), and (vi) Shenzhen
Qianhai Kekong Fuhai Youxuan Venture Capital Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (EIITmATERHEE SEEA|
ERELEBLEERAE)) (the general partner is Shenzhen
Qianhai Kekong Gangshen Venture Investment Co., Ltd (F3]
mADEEHEE RAIFILE BRRAR]), which was in turn owned as
to 50% by Oriental Fortune Capital). Oriental Fortune Capital
was owned as to 51.58% by CHEN Wei (f£#). Therefore,
Oriental Fortune Capital and CHEN Wei (F&#) were deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by above six entities under
the SFO.

EBERR ESEFANELEESERE (L
BIERARER MMELEESERE (L
B) BRAF REEES - Bt RiIEES R
Bi&p - HERMNELBEESETE (LB AR
AAZEEER/N LBFAR EBEHFFAN
Pefn b B o

MRS EEREEERDBRAR ([EA
E28])ERBARERNSG 33,286,040 A
BERFEAER - B1E>1)RIEEEXZRA
ERECE (BRER) (HEBEEAARRY
TRAIBEAXELEEBERAT % AFMA
RhE828EE) ()R EEBEX=RE
ERECE (BRER) (HEBEEAARY
TRABEAEREEBERAT » %A FMA
RAEB2EES)  (IVFIBEURAEEFR
NMEBIXEREE AR (BRER) (Y
BEBAAFITR S EERIEREEEAR
AR ZARBHRABEER)  (VARYITE
M —HAIEREES A LE (AREE)
(EEREBARRITE ESERERER
CEBCE(BRERE)  ZARARSIEEE
B) (WARYMEBBE-RSBRAIERE
ARLE (BERAER) (EEBEBARFIIM
RHEBAXREETEERAG  ZRFAERE
FEAEE)  RV)FRVMANERHITE8EE
BIEREARLE(ARAR) (HEBERA
BERITAERIE B RAIEREBR AR Z
AFHARABEBEAS0%) - RO = BHRERE
B51.58% At + RIFFHRAEKG - RA
EERRERR AN LR NEZTEFENRN
RA R o



10.

11.

Shenzhen Fer-Capital Investment Management Co., Ltd. (&
S REIEEEE AR ARF) (“Fer-Capital”) was the general
partner of each of Shenzhen Yingkejin Investment Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FIIBREREEESZD
2 (BRAE)) (“Shenzhen Yingkejin”), Liuyang Woyang Health
Industry Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (ZIf5KF%
REEEREAZTE(BRER)) ("Woyang Health”), Changsha
Woyang Phase Il Health Industry Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (EX) K — M@ EEEREABRCEER
&%)) (“Woyang Phase II") and Shenzhen Luewei Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (F3IBEERE
ERABLEBREE)) (“Shenzhen Luewei”). Fer-Capital is
held by FENG Tao (#7%), our non-executive Director, as to an
aggregate of approximately 42.8% (comprising 32.80% of his
direct equity interests, and as a general partner of Shenzhen
Huizhi Gongying Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (FIITMESEBCXEEAREE(BREER))
holding 10% equity interests), and 33.60% by CHEN Erjia (P&
£). Therefore, each of FENG Tao, CHEN Erjia and Fer-Capital
was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Shenzhen
Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen
Luewei under the SFO.

SCC Growth VI Holdco C (HK) Limited is wholly owned by
Sequoia Capital China Growth Fund VI, L.P. (“Sequoia Capital
China GVI Fund”). The general partner of Sequoia Capital
China GVI Fund is SC China Growth VI Management, L.P.,
whose general partner is SC China Holding Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of SNP China Enterprises Limited. SHEN
Nanpeng is the sole shareholder of SNP China Enterprises
Limited. Therefore, each of Sequoia Capital China GVI Fund,
SC China Growth VI Management, L.P., SC China Holding
Limited, SNP China Enterprises Limited and SHEN Nanpeng is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by SCC Growth VI
Holdco C (HK) Limited under the SFO.

In addition, SHEN Nanpeng indirectly holds SCHP Master Fund
which holds 630,500 H Shares, so SHEN Nanpeng is deemed
to be interested in the shares held by SCHP Master Fund.

Nanjing Zhaoyin Modern Industry No. Il Equity Investment
Fund (Limited Partnership) (M RBIRBREZSFREREE
& (BBRAE)) (“Zhaoyin Modern”), Nanjing Zhenyuan Il Equity
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (FREEZ25R%
BREABLEERAE)) (“Nanjing Zhenyuan”) and Nanjing
Zhaoyin Gongying Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (A MARERREREAGREE(BRER))
(“Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying”) hold shares of the Company
respectively.

10.

11.
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FINEEARBIEEEEAR AR (DREKRE])
AR BRIEREEBAELCE (BREAE)
(DRINBERE]) - BIEAGREREERECE
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) RRIERIEEEEARLE (BAREE)
(DRYIBEE ) SEMNTREEA - ABKRER
BMWERTETESHE - AHE4042.8% (B
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AFFE10% /%4 ) KB PRAEFFH33.60% °
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SCC Growth VI Holdco C (HK) LimitedF
Sequoia Capital China Growth Fund VI,
L.P.([Sequoia Capital China GVI Fund])
2% ¥7A - Sequoia Capital China GVI
Fund®¥@4&# AABSC China Growth VI
Management, L.P. ZAEMEBEEA
/&SC China Holding Limited (SNP China
Enterprises Limited®Z2 & W B A7) ° )L
B§2SNP China Enterprises Limited&JME—
R o Eit - RIEFEHLKIE KA - Sequoia
Capital China GVI Fund » SC China Growth
VI Management, L.P. -~ SC China Holding
Limited * SNP China Enterprises Limited &t
& B8 BMRSCC Growth VI Holdco C
(HK) Limited B HRRHD P H B o

SN+ SCHP Master Fundi & 630,500 3 H A%
Mot mERAZ AR FitLmEBeE A
FASCHP Master FundiF B0 DR B &= -
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Zhaoyin Modern is managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd. and 83.26% is held by Jiangsu
Zhaoyin Modern Industry Equity Investment Fund Phase
| (Limited Partnership). Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial Fund
Management Co., Ltd. is wholly owned by CMB International
Capital Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Modern Industry Equity Investment Fund Phase | (Limited
Partnership) is managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd. and 66.56% is held by CMB
International Capital Holdings (Shenzhen) Corporation Limited.

Nanjing Zhenyuan is managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd. and 99.95% held by Shanghai
Qiji Technology Partnership(L.P.). Shanghai Qiji Technology
Partnership(L.P.) is managed by CMB International Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. and 99.90% is held by CMB
Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. CMB International
Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

Nanjing Zhaoyin Gongying is managed by Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMB International Capital Management
(Shenzhen) Ltd., which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CMB Financial Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. CMB Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is wholly owned by CMB
International Capital Corporation Limited, which is held as
to 83.2% by CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation
Limited. CMB International Capital Holdings Corporation
Limited is wholly owned by China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 03968)
and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600036).

Therefore, each of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., CMB
International Capital Holdings Corporation Limited, CMB
International Capital Corporation Limited, CMB Financial
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., CMB International Capital
Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., Jiangsu Zhaoyin Industrial
Fund Management Co., Ltd., CMB International Capital
Holdings (Shenzhen) Corporation Limited and Jiangsu Zhaoyin
Modern Industry Equity Investment Fund Phase | (Limited
Partnership) is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by each of Zhaoyin Modern, Nanjing Zhenyuan and Nanjing
Zhaoyin Gongyin under the SFO.

BEBRH IHRREEECEEERAAE
BERHIHRBRAREEREREES—H (A
[RA%) F5H83.26% - IHBIREXESER
BRARBBREAREAERE OFY) BRAAE
2R IHARAREEREREES —
H(BRER) HIHBREEESEEARA
AIEE R ABEBEESRIER ORY) AR AR
#4566.56% °
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BB EBHEREAECE (EREE)FHA
99.95% ° LBEBERZEHLEE (BREE)
HBERBEE S RIER ORY) BRAREE RS
BRI CRY) BRARFHF99.90% °
BRBEESZER ORI BRAR ABESRE
2R ORI BRARMNEZEMB AR -

EARBEERHIGERELEECEEARA
A (BREREAETRE (FY) BRAFTNEE
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B EAR - BRSEIER ORI BRABH
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BRAFIHEES3.2%) 2EHA  MBEHEREE
AR AR AR BBERITRNERAE (—M
REFRZ AT T (B RS : 03968) Kk FigFES
RS £ (BB - 600036) AR A
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FEt - RBEES KBRS - BERTRNAE
BAFE - HRERSBERERQF - HiRE
BemARAR - HRSEER ORIDBRA
A HRBEREAERE ORI BRQE] - L&
HREXRSERARAT - HREBESRE
B ORI BR AR TEHARRBREZRER
EEe—H(ARAR) WRARARAN - @
RBENERBRABRSEAFENROTHES
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12. LBC Sunshine Healthcare Fund Il L.P. was managed by Lake
Bleu Capital (Hong Kong) Limited, which was controlled by
Mr. LI Bin (Z#). Therefore, Lake Bleu Capital (Hong Kong)
Limited and Mr. LI Bin (Z#) were deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by LBC Sunshine Il under the SFO.

118, Yangtze River (Hong Kong) Limited was owned as to 90% by
XU Haoyu (%%5). Therefore, XU Haoyu (#2745) was deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Yangtze River (Hong
Kong) Limited under the SFO.

14. Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., which in turn is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. Thomson
Capital Pte. Ltd. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tembusu
Capital Pte. Ltd., which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Therefore, each of
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd.,
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, no other
persons, other than the Directors or chief executives of our
Company whose interests are set out in the section headed
“Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of our
Company and any of its Associated Corporations” below, had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY AND ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of our Company
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
our Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Long Positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of our RZAATARDBRABERAPNEE
Company
Approximate
percentage of
Approximate interest in the
percentage of relevant class
interest in our of Shares of
Nature of interest Number and class of Shares Company”  our Company®
Name e/ 28 [ 233 ROMERENY (EARARE  EADFHE
wEnEIRY  RRIRGERS
HWERED L
Dr. Liu i Beneficial owner 258,590 Domestic Shares 0.05% 0.07%
EERAA 258,590 R AR
Interest in controlled corporations® 96,682,850 Domestic Shares 20.18% 24.83%
EXEVAEL 5ol 96,682,850 & &
FENG Tao @ je3esl Interest in controlled corporations 27,203,740 Domestic Shares 5.68% 6.99%
ARG 27,203, 740 A Ak

Notes: Hiaz -

1. As of December 31, 2022, the Company has issued a total {1, HR2022F12A31H » AAFI B BHITRMDEE
of 482,963,000 Shares, comprising 377,322,880 Domestic 5482,963,0000% © B15377,322, 880 W&
Shares, 12,000,000 Unlisted Foreign Shares and 93,640,120 A% + 12,000,000 % 5 F T4N& % 293,640,120
H Shares. All interests stated are long positions. For the BEHR% - FTBI ARSI BT A - BERNE IR
Domestic shareholders, the approximate percentage of interest HMES (AR REEER B OESOBAE
in the relevant class of Shares of the Company is calculated D TR E D I ITREAR R & T INE RS 4 8y
based on the sum of issued domestic shares and unlisted o
foreign shares.

2. Dr. Liu is the general partner of each of Taizhou Yuangong, 2. g+ AREMITI TMNERF  FEMNEHRRE
Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou Guquan and Lianyungang Ruibaitai EEHETSENTERARA  URZNRE
and interested in an aggregate of 96,682,850 Domestic Shares B E R A 06,682,850 AN E IR B
held by these four entities. Therefore, Dr. Liu is deemed to be 2% o Bt BIEBARBAEEG - B4R
interested in the Shares held by each of Taizhou Yuangong, BRENTT ZMNERE BINTRREEHE
Taizhou Baibei, Taizhou Guquan and Lianyungang Ruibaitai HERSEEBEENRHRIEGREZ -
under the SFO.

3. Fer-Capital was the general partner of each of Shenzhen 3 RBIE BFIBEHE - REBEE - K5 H

Yingkejin, Woyang Health, Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen
Luewei. Fer-Capital is held by FENG Tao (#7%), our non-
executive Director, as to an aggregate of approximately
42.8% (comprising 32.80% of his direct equity interests, and
as a general partner of Shenzhen Huizhi Gongying Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (&3 B £ &
TEEEABLEERAE)) holding 10% equity interests), and
33.60% by CHEN Erjia (FRER{E). Therefore, FENG Tao, CHEN
Erjia and Fer-Capital were deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by each of Shenzhen Yingkejin, Woyang Health,
Woyang Phase Il and Shenzhen Luewei under the SFO.

R BEREENTBERA c ABEEAH
TIRIERITEERESHA  AH1428% (BIE
HEEREN32.80%  BEAFITESHER
TEEBEERLE (ARAR) WEBRER AR
B10%0HE) R AMRBERSH33.60% © AL
RIEFHFRPEGKD - &8 BREERARR
BWRARNFINEEE KB EE - K58
MRS BRBORNPEEEZ -



Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of our Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations(as defined under Part XV of the SFO).

PENSION SCHEME

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries operating in mainland China is required to contribute
a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme. During the Reporting Period, there were no
contributions forfeited under the central pension scheme and no
forfeited contributions were used to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

Our Company adopted certain Pre-IPO share award schemes
(the “Schemes”) for certain personnel in order to recognize
and reward the contribution of certain directors and employees
(“Granted employees”) to the growth and development of the
Group, and retain eligible employees for the continuous operation
and development of the Group.

The Group granted equity interests of our Company under the
Schemes through Lianyungang Ruiwenshibole Biotechnology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruiwenshibole”), Lianyungang Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”’) and
Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership
(L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). All of the Ruiwenshibole, Ruibaitai and
Ruibaihe (“Ownership platforms”) are controlled by the general
partners of the partnerships.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholding platforms held
an aggregate of 96,682,850 Shares, representing approximately
20.02% of the issued share capital of our Company. The Company
did not make any grant after the Listing and will not grant to any
new participants under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme. Please
refer to note 28 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report for details of the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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2022 H Share Incentive Scheme

On September 16, 2022, the 2022 H Share Incentive Scheme (the
“H Share Scheme”) was considered and approved at the Second
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company in 2022. Details of
the H Share Scheme are as follows:

1. Purposes

The purposes of the H Share Scheme are to build a more
competitive remuneration and incentive system, deeply
align the interests of core employees and the Company,
strengthen the sense of ownership among the core
members of the team, stimulate the enthusiasm of the team,
and continue to promote the research and development of
products, while fully recognizing the contributions made
by the team. In addition, it will help further recruit more
professional and experienced talents in the future, retain
and motivate new core personnel of the team, and seek
common development.

2. Term

The H Share Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the date on which
the H Share Scheme is approved at the general meeting
of the Shareholders (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with the Scheme), after which period no
Awards will be granted under the H Share Scheme. If there
are any unvested Award Shares granted under the H Share
Scheme prior to the expiry of the ten-year period, the H
Share Scheme shall remain in force to give effect to the
vesting of such Award Shares. Accordingly, the remaining
term of the H Share Scheme is approximately nine years
and eight months as of December 31, 2022.

3. Limit

The limit of the H Share Scheme shall be the maximum
number of H Shares that may be purchased by the trustee
of the trust scheme from time to time through on-market
transactions at the prevailing market price with funds in
the amount of not more than RMB100,000,000. Based on
the average closing price for the five business days prior
to December 31, 2022, the maximum number of 4,745,580
H Shares can be purchased, representing approximately
0.98% of the issued shares of the Company.

The Company has not set any limit on the number of
Awards that may be granted for each participant for the H
Share Scheme.

2022 FHRR BB T2

R2022F9 16 H + KRARI2022F F — K ERFRFA%
RADERBIB2022FHB S B2 ([ 2 RHKRE
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Scope of Incentive

Eligible Participants of the H Share Scheme include any
full-time PRC or non-PRC employee of the Company
and any of its subsidiaries, including but not limited
to directors, senior management, key operating team
members and employees. The Board or its Delegates may
from time to time select any Eligible Participant to be a
Selected Participant under the H Share Scheme.

Grant of Awards

The Board or its Delegates may grant Awards to Selected
Participants during the Award Period, subject to the terms
and conditions of the Awards and fulfiiment of performance
targets as the Board or its Delegates may determine from
time to time. Any grant of an Award to any connected
person of the Company shall be in compliance with the
Listing Rules and any applicable laws and regulations.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its Delegates may determine the vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for the Awards to be
vested.

Fund and Source of Shares

The H Share Scheme will be funded by the Company’s own
funds. The source of Shares under the H Share Scheme
shall be H Shares purchased by the Trust entrusted by the
Company through the secondary market at the prevailing
market price in accordance with the Company’s written
instructions, including but not limited to the designated
price or price range for purchase, the maximum amount of
funds available for purchase and/or the maximum number
of H Shares to be purchased.

Grant
As at the Latest Practicable Date, no Awards have been

granted under the H Share Scheme.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
August 25, 2022 and September 16, 2022 and the circular
dated September1, 2022 for details.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time for the year ended
December 31, 2022 was our Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, our Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of our
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code, our Company has established the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee to formulate remuneration
policies. Directors, Supervisors and senior management members
who receive remuneration from our Company are paid in forms
of salaries, allowances, discretionary bonuses and other benefits
in kind. The remuneration of our Directors, Supervisors and
senior management members is determined with reference to
their experience, duties and performance and the salaries of
comparable companies.

Our Company also has adopted the share incentive schemes
to provide incentives for certain employees. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Incentive Schemes” above for details.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 8 and
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this report,
respectively.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Since the Listing Date to the year ended December 31, 2022 and
up to the Latest Practicable Date, we have not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, none of the related party
transactions disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements
constitute any non-exempt connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions which should be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

USE OF PREVIOUS PROCEEDS AND CHANGE IN USE
OF PROCEEDS

Our Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
March 31, 2022. After exercise of over-allotment option on April
23, 2022, the net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to
approximately RMB669,714 thousand. As of December 31, 2022,
the Company had utilized proceeds of approximately RMB210,607
thousand and unutilized proceeds amounted to approximately
RMB459,107 thousand. Primarily used for item 1 “continuous
optimization, development and commercialization of our HPV
vaccine pipeline, including our Core Product, the recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603”, item 2 “preclinical and clinical
studies, registration of recombinant COVID-19 vaccines
(recombinant COVID-19 vaccine, REC611 and mRNA COVID-19
vaccine, REC618)" and item 7 “working capital and general
corporate purposes”. The use of proceeds from the Global
Offering as of December 31, 2022 had remained consistent with
the use as disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus.

In order to improve the efficiency of the use of proceeds, reduce
financial expenses and align with the Company’s strategic
objectives, taking into account the sequence of the original use
of proceeds, the Company intended to adjust the planning and
proportion of the use of unutilized proceeds, by reallocating the
proceeds originally planned for the use under item 4 “preclinical
and clinical studies and registration of adult TB vaccines”
and item 5 “preclinical and clinical studies and registration of
recombinant HFMD vaccine, REC605, recombinant influenza
quadrivalent vaccine, REC617 and other vaccines” to the use
under item 2 “preclinical and clinical studies, registration of
recombinant COVID-19 vaccines (recombinant COVID-19 vaccine,
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REC611 and mRNA COVID-19 vaccine, REC618)” and item 7
“‘working capital and general corporate purposes”. Save for the
aforementioned changes, there were no other changes in use of
proceeds. After careful consideration, the Board considered and
approved the above change in use of proceeds on March 20,
2023.

REC611 * #TiEmRNA&Z & REC618) A& IR B & &
RWAFE - AMAME7EEEES R —BREERR - B
AEFEI  BEESHEMEEBES - KFE
ZE - EEEDMN2023F3 208 B E i E
SECHBES -

The specific change proposals are as follows: BRESEHERAT :
Amount of Utilized Unutilized
net proceeds proceeds proceeds Use of net
attributed to as of as of proceeds
the proposed December 31, December 31, after
use 2022 2022 reallocation
HZ22022F HZ22022F
128310 12A31H
HEGZAR 2R AERAEE ENAEE
NERESFH BERE¢ EeEE BRESFH
(RMB thousand) (RMB thousand) (RMB thousand) (RMB thousand)
ON= S (AR¥FR) (AR¥Fr) ON: )
1 Continuous optimization, 1 BEER( RERBE(CHPVE 316,633 49,704 266,929 266,929
development and HER BEEMMZLER
commercialization of our HPV (E#HHPVNEZ EREC603) *
vaccine pipeline, including our B
Core Product, the recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine REC603,
as follows:
(i) The ongoing phase Il (i) UL Em(REC603)E{i 302,393 42,431 259,962 259,962
clinical trial, registration, TR AR RS - i
manufacturing and EEREEL
commercialization of our
Core Product, REC603
(i) Preclinical and clinical (ily EAbHPVIRE R B REER 14,240 7,273 6,967 6,967
studies for other HPV BIREGRTE - BIE4EHPY
vaccine candidates, namely ZERERERECC01 &
our recombinant HPV REC602 * A RFEEZK
bivalent vaccine candidates HPV{& % & REC604a &
REC601 and REC602 REC604b
and adjuvanted second-
generation HPV vaccine
candidates REC604a and
REC604b
2 Preclinical and clinical studies, 2 ERFTRSKE (ELHT 118,798 109,850 8,948 43,604

ZEREC611 ~ FHEmMRNARZ
HREC618) KGR Al KRR
% - i

registration of recombinant
COVID-19 vaccines, namely
recombinant COVID-19 vaccine,
REC611, mRNA COVID-19
vaccine, REC618



Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Directors’ Report

EEEHE

Amount of Utilized Unutilized
net proceeds proceeds proceeds Use of net
attributed to as of as of proceeds
the proposed December 31, December 31, after
use 2022 2022 reallocation
BZ22022%F HZ22022%F
128318 12A31H
HERZAZ BER FAERER ENOEE
NESELFE B5E¢ k] BRESRE
(RMB thousand) (RMB thousand) (RMB thousand) (RMB thousand)
(AR#Tr) (AR¥TRr) (AR¥Tr) (AR%TRr)
Preclinical and clinical studies, 3 EAFHAEZHE BEREC610KIER 80,464 6,069 74,394 74,394
registration of recombinant RAI R RA T » a1
shingles vaccine, REC610
Preclinical and clinical studies, 4 A& ZRE & AR A RERR 34,929 273 34,656 =
registration of adult TB vaccine R - wf
Preclinical and clinical studies, 5 ZE#FEOMAZHREC605 - & 26,087 3,630 22,457 =
registration of recombinant AR ERRZERECET7 R EM
HFMD vaccine, REC605; R WRRRAT R EBARTE - 2
recombinant influenza
quadrivalent vaccine, REC617
and other vaccines
(i) Recombinant HFMD () EAFEORZEREC605 9,025 91 8,934 -
vaccine, REC605
(i) Recombinant influenza (i) EMMUERZZEREC67 6,970 6 6,964 -
quadrivalent, REC617
(iii) Other vaccines (iil) EfEeE 10,092 3,533 6,558 -
Further enhancement of R&D 6  E—HiaHEENRIEREE 44,513 9,303 35,209 35,209
capabilities and improvement M
of operating efficiencies,
including:
(i) Enhancement of technology (i) EERMTEaATHHER 18,010 3174 14,836 14,836
platforms to support K
continuous demands
(i) Establishment of (i) RELERESEHZRGR 26,503 6,129 20,373 20,373
manufacturing and quality F R 18 BRITER R
control system and upgrade
of information technology
infrastructure
Working capital and general 7 BEESRMOERS 48,290 31,777 16,513 38,970
corporate purposes
Total Ch 669,714 210,607 459,107 459,107
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The Company has decided, after thorough consideration, to
continue with the original expected timeline of utilizing the net
proceeds from the Global Offering by the end of 2023.

The reallocation of the net proceeds is in line with the business
strategies of the Company and is more favourable to the
Company’s long-term development, and there is no situation that
damages the interests of Shareholders of the Company, especially
the interests of small and medium-sized Shareholders, which is
in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole. The aforementioned change in use of net
proceeds will not have any material adverse effect to the existing
business and operations of the Company. The Company will
continuously review the plan of use of unutilized net proceeds and
revise the plan where necessary so as to cope with the changing
market conditions and strive for better business performance of
the Company.

Where the net proceeds are not immediately applied to the above
purposes and to the extent permitted by the relevant law and
regulations, so long as they are deemed to be in the best interests
of our Company, we may hold such funds in short-term deposits
with licensed banks or authorized financial institutions in Hong
Kong.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to our Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as of the date of
the Latest Practicable Date, our Company has maintained the
prescribed percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
audited by Ernst & Young. The Company engaged Ernst & Young
in March 2021 and did not engage any other auditors before. On
June 17, 2022, at the annual general meeting of the Company
in 2021, Ernst & Young was re-appointed as the Company’s
2022 International Auditors and Ernst & Young (Special General
Partnership) was appointed as the Company’'s 2022 Domestic
Auditors.

ARRREFHEBERIRE R ARBHEREE
BIFEET A 2023 4 & Ail 1 2 BR 3% € BT 1S SRIBVF R 2
T8 -

HEEETFENENOETEARANKLER
i BAMNRAARNRSER  AFEEEAR
AIRRF SRR R PERMNENER - FEAR
ARAARRRERSZEMNS - LABEEESFH
RSN T EH AR RREXBNLEELEM
ERTHNEE - ARABERFEERADAEEE
EFENEMTE > YELBRHER LS - UE
HAEECMTHIERE  BRARREHNEEE

=4
i e

HWEEESFRUAZABELARE  BERE
ERMERATHERAT  REZZESRAARF
BARAMRENLG  RAAISRFEERERR
FRIRTT SRR S BB R ERE BN -

NREERE

RENRERERATRAANARRAAAHEHNE
BRBEZMM - ARRE#F LTHRRIA TP

REFFREBEDLL

B BLEm

REBGEVBERERBLKETMBEBAET - K
NEIR2021F3 AR KSR EISFT - MoLAT
W R A R A - 20226 A17H * RA
NR2021FERRARE - LKA B ATEERE
BRAF2022F £ BB AZEA - ZXERSEAE
BET (FHREBEE) BIEAKR AR 2022F FHEANE
FTHRM o



IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Business Review — Events after the Reporting
Period”, no important events affecting our Company occurred
since the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, we do not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets as of the date of this
report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
RECORD DATE

The register of members of H Shares of the Company will
be closed from Monday, May 8, 2023 to Thursday, May 11,
2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
H Shares will be registered, in order to determine the holders
of H Shares of the Company who are entitled to attend and
vote at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Thursday, May 11,
2023. To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all properly
completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H Share Registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 5,
2023 for registration.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 20, 2023
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in our Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31,
2022.

CORPORATE CULTURE

While staying true to its original inspiration of “developing the
first-class vaccines to protect human health”, the Company is
committed to building a positive and progressive culture in terms
of our vision, mission and values.

The Board firmly believes that corporate culture provides an
important support for the Group's long-term development and
good corporate governance. The Company strictly complies
with national laws and regulations, continuously improves the
corporate governance structure, and makes efforts to enhance the
level of corporate governance. We will continue to carry forward
the corporate culture of integrity, take a high standard of business
ethics as a criterion to follow for business development and
actively shoulder and fulfill our responsibilities in environmental
protection, striving to lay a good foundation for high-quality and
sustainable development of our Company and continuously create
value for shareholders, customers, employees and society.

We endeavor to promote the harmony and synchronization
between the development of the Company and the growth of
employees. A wide range of training and activities are offered
for our employees. Also, we emphasize communication with our
employees and stakeholders, and spread our corporate culture
through communication.

The Board considers that the corporate culture is consistent
with the Group's mission, values and strategies. The Company
will monitor the implementation of the corporate culture on a
continuous basis.

For details on the Company's corporate culture, values and
strategies, please refer to the Company's Environmental, Social
and Governance Report 2022 to be disclosed on the same day.

BEEEMANRATEZE2022F12A31HILEE
MEERER 2R EERRE -

i 3°4 (4

ARAPRRFATAIR—RER - TEARREIN
BIZDIL  BORNBERARARES - EwREET
2 TR E RREY XL ©

EEgRE CEXAAEERERR  Riugd
XERNBEXE - ARABBETREFOERE
B TEHTERARDAERRE  BHRSAFREK
¥ RBELGEHENREL  USRENEEE
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B NRREXERSEE  IHERRITHE
B BEBARER TP  BEIMUESEIEEE -

ARAEGEEARAERES TREOME L
— RESBEINEENE TS - AR BR
HETREFNENER  EXRPEELEEE -
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BEREE— 2 ARBABHEEELECLNEE -

BRAARRACEX BEEERRBNFBR2HA
AR B HWESN 20221 - HEMEBRE)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

We strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. Our Company has adopted the
Code Provisions of the CG Code as the basis of our Company’s
corporate governance practices since the Listing Date.Except as
disclosed in this corporate governance report, our Company has
complied with all applicable Code Provisions as set out in the CG
Code from the Listing Date up to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board structure is governed by the Articles of Association.
The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of our Group.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprised nine members,
including three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors
and four independent non-executive Directors.

The list of all Directors, which also specifies the position, e.g.
Chairman, and chairman and member of committees, held by
each Director is set out under the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this report. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The list of Directors (by category)
is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by our
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.
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As of the date of this report, the composition of the Board was as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman of the Board and General Manager)
Dr. CHEN Jianping
Mr. LI Bu

Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. HONG Kunxue
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. LIANG Guodong

Dr. XIA Lijun

Professor GAO Feng
Professor YUEN Ming Fai

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” on pages 38 to 55 of this report.

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) between the Board members.

Board Meetings

The Board requires the Directors to devote sufficient time and
attention to their duties and responsibilities. Regular Board
meetings shall be convened at least four times each year. The
Board normally will schedule meetings regularly and will meet as
and when required to discuss the matters concerning our Group
including its overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting. Notice of the regular Board regular
meeting shall be given to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meeting. Notices of the Board extraordinary meeting shall be
given to all Directors and Supervisors at least 5 days before the
meeting. In addition to the regular meetings, the Chairman also
held a meeting with independent non-executive Directors in the
absence of other Directors.

BHEARREAH  EFSAEKWT :
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held a total of 7 meetings,
and the attendance of each Director at the Board meeting is as
follows:
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BEHA  EFEHEHTAER  SEFHFES

==,
=
EERMNBEAMT :

Attendance

by way of

proxy/number

Attendance in of meetings

person/number during tenure

of meetings of Executive
during tenure Directors  Attendance Rate

ERHERE

FELERE S AREEEERH
Member of the Board EEgRE EREBEEAH BITES HER
Dr. LIU Yong BB 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping PRIE 185 1+ 7/7 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu k4 77 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue iR EE 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin B IE L 7/7 0/0 100%
Mr. ZHAO Hui' b ta sl 77 0/0 100%
Dr. DU Wei? HEliEL2 77 0/0 100%
Dr. FENG Tao® feacticinntd 77 0/0 100%
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIRCE 7/7 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEFL 77 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 7/7 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai R $IBHI% 717 0/0 100%

Notes: Hiat -

1 Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements, 1 IS ERMBMATIEZS - R2023F3H20H

resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

2 Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

3. Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical conditions, resigned from
his position as a non-executive Director on April 3, 2023.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors of our Company has entered
into a service contract with our Company for a term of three
years following his/her respective appointment date unless it is
terminated in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at general meeting in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules.

B EIEITE SRR

2 MHEETEEATEEZS - K2023F3H20H
B R IEITE RS

3. BEBTHEEASFEREAE  1R2023F4A3HF
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Our Company may, in accordance with the Articles of Association,
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiration of
his/her term of office.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
evaluates skills, knowledge and experience required by the
Board, and identifies if there are any special requirements for
the vacancy. The Nomination Committee identifies appropriate
candidates and convenes Nomination Committee meeting
to discuss and vote in respect of the nominated Directors
and recommends candidates for Directors to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers candidates with individual skills,
experience and professional knowledge that can best assist
and facilitate the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination
Committee also takes our Company’s board diversity policy (the
“‘Board Diversity Policy”) into consideration when it considers the
balance of composition of the Board as a whole.

Duties of the Board of Directors and the Management

In accordance with the rights and duties stipulated in the Articles
of Association, the Board reports to the general meeting and is
responsible for implementing resolutions of the general meeting,
safeguarding interests of the Company and all Shareholders, and
making decisions on the Company’s development goals and major
business activities. The rights of the Board include, but not limited
to, laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
directly and indirectly through its committees leading and
providing direction to the management, monitoring the Group’s
operation and financial performance, ensuring that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place, and other
rights conferred by the Articles of Association.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the data of the Company
and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties to
the Company. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for earnestly reviewing significant matters to be
resolved by the Board and exercising their voting rights on an
independent, prudent and objective basis, to effectively safeguard
legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its public
Shareholders.
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Daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the management, which is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s production, operation and management,
organising and implementing the resolutions of the Board
and other duties stipulated in the Articles of Association. The
delegated functions and duties should be periodically reviewed
by the Board. Approval shall to be obtained from the Board prior
to any major transaction can be entered into by the management
that exceeds the approved annual budget.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. In view of Dr. Liu’s experience,
personal profile and his roles in our Company as mentioned
above and that Dr. Liu has assumed the role of general manager
of our Company since our commencement of business, the Board
considers it beneficial to the business prospect and operational
efficiency of our Company that Dr. Liu acts as the chairman of
the Board and continues to act as the general manager of our
Company.

While this will constitute a deviation from the code provision, the
Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of
our Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by our Board
requires approval by at least a majority of our Directors; (ii) Dr.
Liu and the other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil
their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other
things, that he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of our
Company and will make decisions for our Company accordingly;
and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high
caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of our Company. Moreover, the overall strategic
and other key business, financial, and operational policies of our
Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at both
Board and senior management levels. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of
our Company in order to assess whether separation of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this report,
our Company has four independent non-executive Directors, who
at all times meets the requirements of the Listing Rules that the
number of independent non-executive Directors must represent
at least one-third of the Board and should not be less than three,
and that at least one of the independent nonexecutive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Board has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Our Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
service agreement with our Company for a term of three years
following his respective appointment date and will terminate
in accordance with the terms and conditions stated in the
agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are required
to inform our Company if there is any change that may affect his
independence.

Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

All Directors will comply with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code that all Directors participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Directors will be provided with amendments to or updates on
the relevant laws, rules and regulations and the Listing Rules to
keep them abreast of the latest development.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills.
The Company will arrange internal lectures/seminars for Directors,
and provide reading materials on relevant topics. The Company
encourages all Directors to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense.

Every newly appointed Director should receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of our Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.
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During the Reporting Period, our Company has arranged, and all
Directors attended, the seminar training on the Listing Rules and
other aspects of Hong Kong securities laws conducted by the
legal advisor of our Company and relevant training material has
been distributed to all the Directors. Details are as follows :
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BEHAN - RARERHAEMAESRHEHEHAR
REEZREFRFARNEE LT RAIRETERZHED
HEpmmeviia g - BAREEIMHEIRETHRE
= ARBRAT ¢

Training content
EIRE

Relevant regulations
regarding changes
in shareholding

Cautionary note

of Directors, Notifiable regarding annual
Supervisors and transactions under report under the
senior management. the Listing Rules Listing Rules
EEEEREH EWBRAET EHRAETEE
Name EE# & AR ATFRAEHRS RENEIRSE
Executive Director #I{TEE
Dr. LIU Yong v 4 v
BB L
Dr. CHEN Jianping v 4 v
PR i i+
Mr. LI Bu v v v
Eibivas
Non-executive Director
FHTES
Dr. HONG Kunxue v v v
RS+
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin v v v
JE) 75 ¥ 1
Mr. ZHAO Hui v 4 v
HIEE A
Dr. DU Wei v v v
HEE+
Dr. FENG Tao v v/ v
ERE L
Independent non-executive Director
BAFHTES
Mr. LIANG Guodong v 4 v
RERE &
Dr. XIA Lijun v 4 v
EVE#EL
Professor GAO Feng v v 4
GAO Feng##%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai v v v
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Our Company has adopted the Model Code since the Listing Date.

We have made specific inquiries to all Directors and Supervisors,
and all Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code in conducting securities
transactions of the Company during the Reporting Period.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of our
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of our Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available for Shareholders’ viewing on the Company’s website and
the Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

Our Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
XIA Lijun and Professor YUEN Ming Fai and one non-executive
Director, namely Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. Dr. XIA Lijun has been
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee, and is our
independent non-executive Director holding the appropriate
professional qualifications.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of our Company, oversee the audit process, review and
oversee the existing and potential risks of our Company and
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our
Board.

ETEREXZNEETR
ARRIE B LT B HRRAIRETR -
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EEEZE8T
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the Group’s annual results and annual report for the year ended
December 31, 2021, the interim results and interim report for the
first half of 2022, financial reports and compliance procedures,
and the company’s internal control and risk management systems
and processes. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings in total, and
the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee meeting
is as follows:
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A31ALEFEMNFEXERFERE  2022F ¥
FHMFEEERTHRE  BBEHRERARER
RABE AL REARERERFMRRE - Bt
BeHE2REeE  SHELRBETZESEEN
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Attendance by

Attendance in  way of proxy/number

person/number of meetings during

of meetings during tenure of

tenure  Executive Directors

BEHERY EREHEREER

Member of Audit Committee B EEENE EHABEIAH HEHSRABITES

Dr. XIA Lijun (Chairman) EVEEL (FE) 2/2 0/0

Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BRIt 2/2 0/0

Professor YUEN Ming Fai REEBHIR 2/2 0/0
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee FEEZREES

Our Company established the Remuneration and Appraisal ARQFEkYHFHEEZZEES  HE2MBESE

Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee consists of five members, including
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. XIA Lijun,
Mr. LIANG Guodong, Professor GAO Feng and Professor YUEN
Ming Fai, and one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Bu. Professor
YUEN Ming Fai has been appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are to establish and review the remuneration policy and
structure for the Directors and senior management and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangement. Taking into
account of their qualification, position and seniority, the Directors’
remunerations are determined by our Board based on the
recommendation of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.
And the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee also review
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

e LR BIE 3. 25 6 K b A5 BB &% + 70 Ay &K
WEXEERTH - FHEEREZE A EKER
Ko BRUEABYIFNTEEEYERFL - RER
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee has reviewed the performance of the Company’s
executive Directors and senior management in 2021, and
determined the specific remuneration packages of all Directors,
Supervisors and senior management in 2022 and the related
matters of the Company's H-share incentive plan approved by
the Board. The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee held a
total of 2 meetings, and the attendance of each member at the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee meetings is as follows:

BEHRR - FHREEZZ B S FEH2021 FAAIH
TEERSREEENEBIEN - BE2022FMA
B EENSATEENABTIMNGE RKES
EHANRARHBAE A SEMEER - FMEZEX
ZEEgRABM2REH  ERELFEFNEEZREE
=

EHOERMT :

Attendance in

Attendance by
way of proxy/number

person/number of meetings during
of meetings during tenure of
tenure  Executive Directors
Member of Remuneration and BEHERY EXHERE S EE
Appraisal Committee FHREXRZEEERE ITREEEZI S HEEIABBTES
Professor YUEN Ming Fai REBHIX (£/E) 2/2 0/0
(Chairman)
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEHL 2/2 0/0
Mr. LIANG Guodong REIRE 2/2 0/0
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 2/2 0/0
Mr. LI Bu P 2/2 0/0
Mr. ZHAO Hui’ JE I ST A 2/2 0/0
Dr. DU Wei? MBI T2 2/2 0/0
Notes: Bia -
1 Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements, 1 Mg EEEA TIEEE) - 202353 H20H

resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board on March
20, 2023;

2 Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Board on March
20, 2023.

BEFATEERE
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The remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management
by bands (RMB)

BREEASHMEE (ARH)
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B E2022F12A31HIEFE  SKEEABHMH
HEFHNWT -

Number of
senior management
SREEEBAZ

2,000,000 - 3,000,000
3,000,000 - 4,000,000
12,000,000 - 13,000,000
18,000,000 - 19,000,000

2,000,000 - 3,000,000 1
3,000,000 - 4,000,000 3
12,000,000 - 13,000,000 1
18,000,000 - 19,000,000 1

Total @t

6

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of
four members, including one executive Director, namely Dr. LIU
Yong, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Professor GAO Feng, Mr. LIANG Guodong and Dr. XIA Lijun. Dr.
LIU Yong, the Chairman of the Board, has been appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our Board
on the appointment and removal of Directors of our Company.

BE2022F12A31HIEFEMNES EENak
EEEFHNFBIRNRELA T HIRERMES -

REZEE

ARBERUIERZE S  HERRBEHENS L
MARAFEI27TAGRR EHRAME T OArEaAEERE
JATRl - REZBEMIUAKBAK  BE—2H
TEFIABB LR =RBIUIFNTEFGAO Feng
R RERAEEREVEELT - EFXEIRIE
BIDEZAERREZEGIRE REZE8g2E
ERE/UARFEFNZERERLAEFTS(FL
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105



-~ 106

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERAMEMEMRHHRAF

Corporate Governance Report
EEREE

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
evaluated the structure, composition and number of the first
session of the Board of the Company. The Nomination Committee
held a total of 1 meetings, and the attendance of each member at
the Nomination Committee meetings is as follows:

Member of Nomination

BEHN REZEEEHNEARE—EBEFER
B EARTAREBR REZEGHBRMIESE
BERBHFEREZEGEHRNBERNAT ¢

Attendance by

Attendance in  way of proxy/number
person/number of of meetings
meetings during during tenure of
tenure  Executive Directors

FEALERY S EREHERR AR

Committee RBAZEGHE IRIEESEAE HHESBAEBTESE
Dr. LIU Yong (Chairman) BEET (£E) 1/1 0/0
Dr. FENG Tao' EEEL 1/1 0/0
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 11 0/0
Mr. LIANG Guodong RER - 11 0/0
Dr. XIA Lijun BVEHL 11 0/0
Note: Hiat -

1 Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical conditions, resigned as 1 BEBITEABEAZEBRRA  12023F4 30

a non-executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee on April 3, 2023.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the
Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to our
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve the diversity of our
Board through the consideration of a number of factors when
selecting the candidates to our Board, including but not limited to
gender, skills, age, professional experience, knowledge, cultural,
education background, ethnicity and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to our
Board.

EFPTEFRREREESRERT

EEEZUIEER
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We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels of our Company, including but not limited
to our Board and the senior management levels. In particular,
our chief financial officer, who is responsible for financing
investor relationship, internal auditing and control and
corporate governance of the Group, chief quality officer and chief
commercial officer, are female and forms a part of our senior
management team. On March 20, 2023, the Board has nominated
Ms. CHEN Qingging as an executive Director of the Company,
whose appointment is subject to the approval of the general
meeting. Going forward, we will continue to work to enhance
gender diversity of our Board.

activities,

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity
of our Board members. Our Nomination Committee will monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy, and will review our
Board composition at least once annually taking into account our
Board Diversity Policy as a whole. When making recommendation
on Board appointments, our Nomination Committee will adhere
to our Board Diversity Policy with the ultimate goal of achieving
greater gender diversity to the Board. We will also continue to
ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid
to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time
to ensure gender diversity of our Board. Our Group will continue
to emphasize training of female talent and providing long-term
development opportunities for our female staff. The Company
expects to maintain reasonable gender diversity at the employee
level. As of December 31, 2022, the number of female employees
in our Group has accounted for approximately 50.38% in the total
number of our employees.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills and
obtained degrees in various majors. We have four independent
non-executive Directors with different industry backgrounds,
representing one-third of the members of our Board. Furthermore,
our Board has a balanced age representation. Taking into account
our existing business model and specific needs as well as the
different background of our Directors, the composition of the
Board of Directors complies with the provisions of the Listing
Rules on gender diversity of members of the Board of Directors
and our Board Diversity Policy.Our Nomination Committee will
review and monitor the implementation of our Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Independent Views and Opinions

The Board has established relevant mechanisms to ensure that
the Board obtains independent views and opinions. According to
the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Board includes
four independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom
must have appropriate professional qualifications or appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise. In addition
to regular board meetings, the Chairman will also hold one
meeting with independent non-executive Directors each year
when other Directors are not present.

The Company has also formulated the Work Policy for independent
non-executive Directors, which provides for the terms of
employment and duties of independent non-executive Directors,
and clearly provides that the Company shall provide the necessary
working conditions for the independent non-executive Directors
to perform their duties. The policy also set out the special terms
of reference of the independent non-executive Directors, such as
significant connected transaction shall be subject to the consent
of independent non-executive Directors before submitting them
to the Board for discussion, the appointment or removal of an
accounting firm shall be subject to the consent of half or more
of all the independent non-executive Directors before proposing
to the Board for discussion, proposing the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, proposing to convene a Board
meeting, publicly soliciting voting rights from shareholders prior
to the shareholders’ general meeting. The Company assesses the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors on an
annual basis to ensure that they are able to make independent
judgement on an ongoing basis. The independent non-executive
Directors will also submit a duty report to the annual general
meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the
above relevant provisions and the above mechanisms have been
effective in providing independent views and opinions for the
Board. The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness
of the aforesaid mechanisms annually.

BUBHMANER

EEECEVERRGINRRESSNBE LB
MER - REARERNRE BEFSRRETIELE
VIHRITES  HPEL-BBHIUFRTEFLAE
AREENEXER KABEEN ST HERN
MBERER  RKEREFSRHN TETEE
HMEETAESHNIERATRBY N TEETEFR

TUREH -

ARRIFEHECELIFRATES TIEFIR) - RE
TEILFAITEFTNERGNS  BES  YHAELR
AEERHBY N TEETETREMBHN LI
&1 o TRARE T B IFITE S MR RIRAE - fln
ERMERSMBIFNTETRART T RRE
BN KD UAEBYRTEFRER
MEESRZEAABBSHMELR  NEEFE
REFAHBERRAS - REFAREFE  £ER
REAHAMRHARARRBEREESHE - AAF
SEFNEEUFNTES 2B - BREER
BIELBYHE - BYFFRATEETERFERR
RERZMBRE -

BERA > EFECETLAEBRE - B Ll
HITZER EREFSRUBYNBHNER -
ExeREF R LIERNBER LB -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining corporate governance
policy of our Company and performing the functions set out in
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviews our
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management, our Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and our Company’s compliance with the CG Code, our Company’s
code of conduct applicable to its employees and Directors,
and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report during the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The joint company secretaries of our Company may
from time to time and as the circumstances required, provide
updated written training materials relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a director of a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in
Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
audited consolidated financial statements of our Company for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of our Company with a view to ensuring
that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied
with as well as such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

The Board has received from the senior management of our
Company the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to make an informed assessment for approving the financial
statements.
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Oversight by our Audit Committee

In accordance with the duties and responsibilities set out under
its terms of reference, the Audit Committee assists the Board by
providing objective review of our Company’s accounting policies,
financial position, financial reporting procedures and financial
controls as well as the integrity, accuracy and fairness of our
Company'’s financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee
discusses any questions or doubts that may be raised by the
external auditors and review the external auditors’ independent
letter of audit and other proposals to the senior management of
our Company.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. We are subject to various risks during
our operations, the details of which are set out in the section
headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in this
report. Our Company has established a comprehensive risk
management system and relevant policies and procedures which
we consider suitable for our business operations. Our policies and
procedures are aimed at managing and monitoring our business
performance. We have adopted, or will continue to adopt, among
other things, the following risk management measures:

o establish the Audit Committee to review and supervise our
financial reporting process and internal control system.
Our Audit Committee consists of three members: Dr. XIA
Lijun (the chairman of the committee), Professor YUEN
Ming Fai and Dr. ZHOU Hongbin. For the qualifications and
experiences of these members, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management” in this report;

o adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to policies in
respect of risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure;

o provide regular anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance
training for senior management and employees in order to
enhance their knowledge of and compliance of applicable
laws and regulations; and

° arrange our Directors and senior management to attend
training seminars on Listing Rules requirements and
the responsibilities as directors of a Hong Kong-listed
company.
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As a crucial part of our internal control system, we have adopted
stringent procedures to protect the confidentiality of clinical trial
data we collected. Sensitive patient data we obtained in our
clinical trial is stored in the Internet data center established and
owned by us. Our clinical operation department is responsible
for supervising the data protection practice during clinical trials.
We have kept all patient data such as personal information since
they enrolled in our clinical trials for an indefinite period unless
deletion of such data is required by relevant laws and regulations
or requested by the relevant users. We also provide on-board
training with respect to the handling of personal data to all of our
employees when they join us.

We have also adopted a set of anti-corruption policies. Our
management team and Audit Committee are responsible for
designing and implementing our anti-corruption policies and
procedures as well as overseeing our anti-corruption practice.
Our employee handbook and code of conduct sets standard
requirement for our employees in relation to anti-corruption
policies. We have also established a whistle blower program to
encourage employees to report any suspicious conduct and we
will initiate our internal investigation on such suspicious conduct
if necessary. Any employee found in breach of the relevant
anti-corruption policies faces termination of employment. We also
provide anti-corruption training to our employees on an annual
basis.

We value the environmental, social and climate-related impact that
our operations may have during our daily operations. Our senior
management are responsible for overseeing our environmental,
social and climate-related practice. We also encourage our
employees to report any issues or risks in this area they spot in
daily operations. We have also implemented stringent procedures,
which cover crucial aspects of our operations, to ensure that
our environmental, social and climate-related practice complies
with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. We value the
wellbeing of our employees and we have also adopted a series of
procedures to ensure that our health and safety practice complies
with applicable PRC laws and regulations. We also adopt a
whistle-blowing policy through which our employees can report
any health or safety related incidents on an anonymous basis.
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We have also adopted an information disclosure policy, through
which our Directors, senior management and employees are
provided with thorough guidance on the internal approval
procedures as well as the disclosure and/or Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations in relation to inside information,
notifiable transactions, connected transactions and other material
events concerning our Group.

Prior to the Listing Date, we have appointed an internal control
consultant to review the effectiveness of our internal control
measures related to our major business processes, to identify the
deficiencies for improvement, advise on the rectification measures
and review the implementation of such measures. During
the review process of our internal control consultant, certain
internal control matters were identified and we have adopted
corresponding internal control measures to improve on these
matters. We have adopted the recommendations made by the
internal control consultant, and our internal control consultant has
completed the follow-up procedures on our internal control system
with regard to those actions taken by us in June 2021 and has not
identified any material deficiencies in our internal control system.
The Company also takes the following measures:

(a) The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions. All departments conduct internal
control assessment regularly to identify risks that may
impact the business of the Group and various aspects

including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security.

In accordance with the risk-oriented principle, the
Company has determined the main units, businesses
and events and the high-risk areas included in the
scope of assessment. There are four main units, i.e.
the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. The
main businesses and events include four aspects, i.e.
internal environment, major control activities, information
communication and internal supervision. The high-risk
areas of focus mainly include capital management,
engineering project management, seal management, R&D
management, contract management, human resource
management, procurement and payment management,
asset management and information system management.
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(c) According to the requirements of the regulation system
on internal control of enterprises for the identification of
material deficiencies, important deficiencies and ordinary
deficiencies, with reference to the Company’s size,
industry characteristics, risk preference, risk tolerance and
other factors, the Board distinguished between internal
control over financial reporting and that over non-financial
reporting and has established the specific identification
criteria for internal control deficiencies applicable to the
Company. The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or omission.

The Company has set up an internal audit department to
report to the Audit Committee for assisting the Board in
leading the management and supervising the assessment
and improvement of the Company’s internal control system,
and make recommendations accordingly.

The internal audit department, in coordination with other
departments, assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides
response plans and monitors the risk management progress,
and reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings
and the effectiveness of related systems. The management
has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Reporting Period.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management, annually reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to its Directors, Supervisors, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
Control procedures have been implemented by the Company to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The statement of the external auditors of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 121 to 129 in this
report.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the fees for audit services
and non-audit services rendered by our external auditors, Ernst &
Young were as follows:

BB AT Y &

AARINEZBMEENERRUERERETZE
BREN AR EF121 1298 1) [ B AZHENRE |

HZE2022F 12 A31 B IEFE © BLINERZERED &2 oK
DR E S ATIR (2 R RS MOIE R B RS H & A
IR

Fees

(RMB’ 000)

&H

(AR%TT)

Audit services ZE R 2,500

Non-audit services FEZEURTS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2022 2022 %1% - HEMERRE 120

The application for the issuance of Domestic Shares BFITRNEREBR 750
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEARME

Our Company appointed Ms. CHEN Qingging (FR& %) and Ms.
LAU Jeanie (ZI)£¥]) as our joint company secretaries on June
28, 2021. On June 30, 2022, Ms. HO Yin Kwan replaced Ms.
LAU Jeanie as the joint company secretary of the Company.
The current primary contact person of the Company with Ms.
HO Yin Kwan is Ms. CHEN Qingqing. For biographical details
of our joint company secretaries, please refer to the section
headed “Biographies of our Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” in this report. Ms. Chen and Ms. Ho have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

NABER2021E6 A28 BEZTMREST LT REIE
Pt AEFEARWE  R20229F6 A30H ik
BUTRBEAEPLTEEARABE AT MWE -
RAGHAERMEFZTOETEHEALERES
T BHBEARNWENBEREFE  S281r8RE
[BEF EERafTEEREE] —& - Mt kA
Z+ERE FHRBIEI2KET L N15/ N
EAE I -



SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 71 of the Articles of Association, the
shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10%
(including 10%) of total shares with voting rights of our Company
have the right to propose an extraordinary general meeting
to the Board, the Board shall provide a written feedback on
whether to convene the meeting. In the case of disapproval, or no
written reply of the Board is given within 10 days, the foregoing
shareholders may submit a written request to the Supervisory
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting. If the
Supervisory Board fails to issue an notice of general meeting
within 5 days, the foregoing shareholders on their own may
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Association, the
shareholders holding, individually or jointly, more than 3% of our
Company’s Shares may submit an general meeting proposal to the
Company and has the right to submit a proposal to the convener
before 10 days ahead of the date of the shareholders’ general
meeting.

As regards the procedures for Shareholders to propose a
candidate for election as a Director, the detailed procedures are
available for viewing on our Company’s website (www.recbio.cn).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a shareholder communication policy and
reviews it annually to ensure its effectiveness. To promote
effective communication, our Company maintains a company
website at www.recbio.cn, where up-to-date information and
updates on our business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The general meetings of our Company provide a forum and
an important channel for communication between the Board
and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, will be available
at the annual general meeting and other relevant shareholder
meetings to answer questions. In addition, during the periods of
interim results and annual results release, our Company may hold
conference calls and/or non-deal roadshows for ensuring effective
and timely communication with Shareholders and investors.
Shareholders and investors may also write to our Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong or China or via our
Company’s website for any enquiries. Our Company normally also
accommodate Shareholders’ and investors’ request to site visits
and management meetings to the extent reasonably practicable.
The Company has reviewed its shareholder communication policy
and believes that the policy has been effectively implemented
during the Reporting Period.

HRRRREEEBR REERR

AN A A i TE AR B 8 LR W & A A A DA RE AR ELAK
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Attendance of Directors at Shareholders’ Meetings

During the Reporting Period, the Company held one annual
general meeting, three extraordinary general meetings and four
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BEHA > NRARAR-REERRRE - =Kk
RARRASARMABERBREE  EFHERRE

class shareholders meetings. The attendance of Directors at the AKEHIBRLT :
general meeting is as follows:
Attendance
by way of
proxy/number
Attendance in of meetings
person/number during tenure
of meetings of Executive
during tenure Directors  Attendance Rate
ERHERE
FELHERY S ERIABSBRHE
Member of the Board EEGRE ERARERRE BITES HER
Dr. LIU Yong 2EEL 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. CHEN Jianping FRIE 1+ 8/8 0/0 100%
Mr. LI Bu = ib 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. HONG Kunxue A EE 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. ZHOU Hongbin BERIEL 8/8 0/0 100%
Mr. ZHAO Hui' RS A 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. DU Wei? MR L2 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. FENG Tao? EEmLe 8/8 0/0 100%
Mr. LIANG Guodong PRERRSE & 8/8 0/0 100%
Dr. XIA Lijun EVEHL 8/8 0/0 100%
Professor GAO Feng GAO Feng##% 8/8 0/0 100%
Professor YUEN Ming Fai ~ =#B20% 8/8 0/0 100%
Notes: Wizt :

Mr. ZHAO Hui, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

Dr. DU Wei, due to change in personal work arrangements,
resigned as a non-executive Director on March 20, 2023;

Dr. FENG Tao, due to his physical conditions, resigned as a
non-executive Director on April 3, 2023.

3.

EELERMEATEZS - 1202343 H20H
B R IEITE RS

MHEETEEATEZS - K202343H20H
Bt R IEITE RS

BEBTHEBEASZERRA  12023F4A3HF
FIEHITE R -
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company did not declare or pay dividends on our Shares
during the Reporting Period. Our Company currently expects to
retain all future earnings for use in the operation and expansion of
our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividends
in the future will be determined by our Board, in its discretion,
and will depend on a number of factors, including our earnings,
capital requirements, overall financial condition and contractual
restrictions. If our Company pays dividends in the future, in order
for our Company to distribute dividends to its shareholders, it
will rely to some extent on any dividends distributed by our PRC
subsidiaries. Any dividend distributions from our PRC subsidiaries
to us will be subject to PRC withholding tax. In addition,
regulations in the PRC currently permit payment of dividends of
a PRC company only out of accumulated distributable after-tax
profits as determined in accordance with its articles of association
and the accounting standards and regulations in China. We are
subject to PRC governmental controls on currency conversion,
and the fluctuation of the Renminbi exchange rate may materially
and adversely affect our business and our ability to pay dividends
to holders of H shares. In the future, we may rely to some extent
on dividends and other distributions on equity from our principal
operating subsidiaries to fund offshore cash and financing
requirements. We are subject to PRC governmental controls
on currency conversion, and the fluctuation of the Renminbi
exchange rate may materially and adversely affect our business
and our ability to pay dividends to holders of H shares.

The Dividend Policy of our Company provides that our Company
in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but no
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.
Subject to the Company’s Shareholders’ resolution, our Company
may also pay half-yearly or at other intervals to be selected by it
any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is
of the opinion that the profits available for distribution justify the
payment.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: No. 888, Yaocheng Avenue, Medical High-tech
District, Taizhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Fax: 0523-88820888

Email: ir@recbio.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

References are made to the Company’'s announcement
dated June 30, 2022, its circular dated July 29, 2022 and its
announcement dated August 15, 2022 in relation to, among
others, the Company revised the Articles of Association based on
our address change and other business management demands,
and it came into effect after consideration and approval by the
extraordinary general meetings held on August 15, 2022. For
details of the full text of the revised the Articles of Association,
please refer to the Articles of Association published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on August 15,
2022.

References are made to the Company’'s announcement dated
August 25, 2022, its circular dated September 1, 2022 and its
announcement dated September 16, 2022 in relation to, among
others, according to the relevant laws, regulations, normative
documents and the Articles of Association, the Company revised
the Articles of Association in light of the change in the number of
the Company’s Board of Supervisors, and it came into effect after
consideration and approval by the extraordinary general meetings
held on September 16, 2022. For details of the full text of the
revised the Articles of Association, please refer to the Articles of
Association published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on September 16, 2022.
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References are made to the Company’'s announcement dated
October 31, 2022, its circular dated December 13, 2022 and
its announcement dated December 28, 2022 in relation to,
among others, the Company revised the Articles of Association
according to the registered capital and share capital structure
after the completion of issuance of Domestic Shares. The revision
of the Articles of Association has not yet taken effect due to the
unfinished issuance of Domestic Shares.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material change in the
Articles of Association. The latest version of the Articles of
Association of the Company is also published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

MATERIAL CHANGES AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

This corporate governance report has taken into account any
significant changes that the Board is aware since the end of the
Reporting Period to the date of approval of this report.

By order of the Board

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman

Dr. LIU Yong

Jiangsu Province, the PRC
March 20, 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 130 to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at December
31, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

R GE e
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES N AEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and in-progress
research and development technology

The Group had goodwill and in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology, arising from
the acquisition of Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., amounting to RMB9,305,000 and RMB22,120,000,
respectively, as at December 31, 2022.

R2022F12831H @ E5EKREILRZTABEMREER
NAEAMNEERFAZEPHE (THE] oA AARE
9,305,000 T M A R#22,120,0007T °

The Group is required to perform impairment test of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology at least on
an annual basis. The impairment tests are based on the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the goodwill is allocated, and the recoverable
amount of in-progress R&D technology. The recoverable
amount of the CGU has been determined based on a
fair value less cost of disposal method using cash flow
projections.

BEEAE DREHEERRE R ERETRENR -
RENRENESREENRSELSN (REEESR )
I S B A R BB R BT R T S 5 - BeE A
B 1 AT M) S R TV IR B B T R TR A T B B
FEEE -

Management established the impairment assessment
model with the involvement of an external independent
valuer and prepared a recoverable amount calculation
to estimate the future cash flows taking into account
key assumptions, including expected revenue growth
rate, budgeted gross margin, terminal growth rate and
pre-tax discount rate, and management considered
no impairment loss was necessary as at December
31, 2022 based on the impairment assessments being
performed.

EEEBEIIDB L GEMOSETEDRETGER - Wit
LEARRE (BEBHKRSERR  BEEHNER REER
KR FATENIR R ) B R B AT B S 5Bt E A G RRIBE R
£ BEBREERCETHRAENGERABEN2022F12
A31B:HZRERIAE -

B K B B R T B R R (E R

Our procedures included, among others:

BMOEFEE (KT EHE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to impairment assessment of goodwill and
in-progress research and development technology;

1. TR R K FA R TS BAURE R (5B B R s M ED
1l

2. Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the
independent valuer engaged by the management;

2. M EREMRIEE L HEMMEN REEIL

3. Evaluating the management’s identification of the
CGU to which the goodwill is allocated:;

3. HEEREEHRE S REBENRSEEEMMRER

4. Assessing whether the management’s impairment
assessment model is appropriate with the
involvement of our valuation specialists by reference
to industry practices and valuation techniques;

4. SETEREPIRMGENE  EAEER2ETHEER
ERREFERILZER A E
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Key audit matter

RAEE T EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN EST N AEERARETSER

This matter was significant to our audit considering the
impairment tests process were complex and involved
significant judgements and estimates.

SR E RS BRESEL S REA MGG - R EEY
RMOBHBEAX -

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment tests of
goodwill and in-progress R&D technology are included
in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies,
note 3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates,
note 15 Goodwill and note 17 Other intangible assets.

BEEEAHRERFARPHERINRER AN KB E
CATZREEHRME - MEE3E RGBT RfGE - MEE15
BERMEI7TEMELEE -

Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow projections,
including the expected revenue growth rate and
gross margin, by comparing them with the industry
research report, forecasts and actual performance
of similar products within the industry; and

BB S 7 B T 62 PR A B AR (2 FETE B M8
ERERENF) RITERRBRERENAUERNE
AREBRRIELE - FEXFHROAEYE R

Evaluating the appropriateness of the pre-tax
discount rate and terminal growth rate adopted
with the involvement of our valuation specialists
by benchmarking market data and comparable
companies.

TS BEEATALBRATMEREE  EEFTERNZ
BT FHEPTRAB AR R R KB RENEE M -

Verifying the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

ZERAWBMET AERENTOME -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B ES N AEERARETSER

Cut-off of R&D costs

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
incurred research and development costs amounting
to RMB716,444,000. A large portion of the research
and development costs was clinical trial expenses and
service fees paid to contract research organisations
(“CROs"). The research and development activities with
these CROs are documented in detailed agreements
and are typically performed over an extended period.
Allocation of these costs to the appropriate reporting
period based on the progress of the research and
development projects requires estimations.

HZE2022F12A31AIEFE - ESEEAMBERN AR
716,444,0007T ° BB A A AERARRBRFAT KM
FEOWEHERE ([EOWEEE ] NREE - BxE6 00
RRBEFBENA I EHRPFRELH  BEBAFR—BR
EMEEART - RIBEAREENEE  BZERESEE
WEREHEEEER AR -

This matter was significant to our audit given the amount
of R&D costs was significant and allocation of these
costs to the appropriate reporting period based on the
progress of the R&D projects involved judgement.

ENHERASBEERNMRBFHRE NERBZERED
REEEEREHS R RRERHRMNBABEEAX -

The Group’s disclosures about R&D costs are included
in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
and note 3 Significant accounting judgements and
estimates.

BEEEEMMERANEERNIME2 4T RS HRME
N fRE3E R &5t HIE M b5t o

HU AT 3% AR

Our procedures included, among others:

BN EFRE (RPEE)

1. Obtaining an understanding of key internal controls
related to R&D costs and performing walk-through
tests for internal controls related to R&D costs;

i TR KA B RO A EES] - W BB
BB A EME BT BRI,

2. Reviewing the key terms set out in agreements with
the outsourced service providers;

2. 25 B0 B2 S A BR 7G5 (1K B 9 AT AT S 190 o U 51| RO B 82 A6RK

&, Evaluating the progress of the research and
development projects based on inquiry with project
managers, inspect supporting documents;

3. HERAEB KA REFAXM - FEAEEREN
ER

4. Obtaining confirmations from the outsourced service
providers, on a sample basis, to determine whether
these costs were recorded appropriately at the end
of the year;

4. BT ARSI ERGERBNERSE - WET%RS
KARERFREE L

5. Performing search for unrecorded liabilities
procedure subsequent to the year ended December
31, 2022.

5. HEZ2022F 12 A31BILFEZENARARBEETT
B o
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

HERFHBAHHEMER

BERREFAHEMEERAR - Rt EERETH
REBRANESR - EFEEGS P BRR R 5
B AR B R o

BB GEAMBRRNELL NREEMES - &,
PR HZFEMEEBRREMEANEZES -

FBABMESEEPBRERNET - RANEETREH
HEMES > AULBREY  EEEMESESEHER
BMBBRRIRMAEZTBIETATHEOBRFE
EAREBEHEUTFEERERBAMABER - 2R
BAERITHIE  IREAMARSEMEEFEE
RERRL - BHFTEREZFTE - EENE - K
8 B EIHRE

EERGREMBBRRARENER

BERRESARARERR S EANEESBMA
(BRI A& R RE B (R AHEDD R ERE
REEEMTENEAMBRER  XHERRA/RE
RAEVBBRROBRBE TN FERRNKFRERMER
BB A RRAAFOATESEE

ERBFEMBEHRRE - BEAREFAANE &
SEFELENREN  YEERBERTRELSE
REEMNEE  UREAKELERSTER
BRIF BERAREFEARS BEEEBRIFLE
2 HPEEMERNERTE -

EREZEEWMY EAREFRTEE
MBHERRNEL -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

R GE e

REMRET FEMBRREABNERE

HMNER  EHGEAVBHREEESESTFER
MEFFR RN BN E R RRARG S B R
& THABRRMERNZEEN RS - RAER
ERERREBE - RIS RAIWRE AT BER
A% - PSR ARBENARTHEMEMAL
BENAERT -

ARFRERBKENRE  ETRFRELRR(EESR
HEADETNER - ERX - EAERRATHER R
BEEIR o FRARPRML T IA R BRGF S ER ARSI - IRE
BEEMEMEBRERERATETESGSPERE
ERERBHGHREMELNEERTE - AIEHEDN
SRR AT R E X

ERB(EBEHER)ETESFNBIET - RAE
AT ERAE - RS TEREREE - BT

. s B AN S R X AR SR ER RR M B B & 1 75
BREFEERNERFBOARAR - &t RHAIT
EREFARE ELRAR - ARERFE M
HEENETERE  ERARMERNER - &
REGFAIRE S RER Bl 88K E
BB - SO BN ARESIZ £ - Bt ReE
ERARFMERNEABERRANRER S
AR BE 35 3R X 85 BR 1 G 2R /0 B K88 AR PR 19
G

TREFHEMORBEH - ARFHEE
BHEF  BAMLIEY EREERBEH
MERIEBRER -

. FEEEMRASABRNOREEREL S
sHARTAARREREN S IR -
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

. HESRARELE ST ERNREEFD

& o REBAERNESERE  BESERF
Eﬁ%ﬁ&\ﬁﬁﬁmiﬁTﬁ M- fem
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& o AT RERFHEIBRAGEER HE
B TRERARE -
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lung Wai, Shun.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
March 20, 2023

R GE e
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GeEERkEMEEERER

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T ARE T
Other income and gains E U A R Uz 5 147,993 27,810
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (8,654) (3,461)
Administrative expenses THAX (155,302) (143,045)
Research and development expenses R (716,444) (472,953)
Other expenses HmAx 5] (55) (9,609)
Finance costs U %N 7 (3,534) (56,308)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRELAIES IR 6 (735,996) (657,566)
Income tax expense FrS i 11 - =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER (735,996) (657,566)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FRE2EBEAR (735,996) (657,566)
FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to: THALER :
Owners of the parent HRAREAR A (722,703) (657,561)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR (13,293) (5)
(735,996) (657,566)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREEEZEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EihEREE
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB) EARREE (ARE) 12 (1.52) (1.56)
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December 31, 2022
2022912 A31H

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
202245 R20214F
12831 H 12H31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 13 558,710 416,334
Other intangible assets HibEpEE 17 33,505 22,120
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 72,542 55,274
Goodwill BES 75} 9,305 9,305
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 18 215,625 121,616
Total non-current assets IEMENE ELERE 889,687 624,649
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 56,160 23,549
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFIE - HAbEERIE R 16 38,610 88,460
other assets HMEE
Cash and bank balances e RIR1TTHES 20 1,325,150 1,182,562
Total current assets M EELREE 1,419,920 1,294,571
CURRENT LIABILITIES it A=k
Trade payables 2 5 I RIE 21 62,517 16,816
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 20,361 7,862
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITIER 23 1,394 =
Other payables and accruals H fth FE T 5RIE K FEET & 22 244,711 114,615
Total current liabilities MBI A ERE 328,983 139,293
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFR 1,090,937 1,155,278
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERARBER 1,980,624 1,779,927

LIABILITIES
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2022412 A31H

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
202245 20214
12831 H 12A31H
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k23 AR¥T T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIEK 23 231,621 50,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 29,251 18,857
Deferred income FEIEUT A 24 61,144 32,244
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBEE 25 5,530 5,530
Total non-current liabilities ERBaEREE 327,546 106,631
Net assets FEE 1,653,078 1,673,296
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent A RIHA AEERER
Share Capital A& A 26 482,963 448,250
Reserves R 27 1,178,913 1,225,051
Non-controlling interests FEIER S (8,798) (5)
Total equity S 1,653,078 1,673,296

Yong Liu
25
Executive Director

BITEE

Bu Li
£

Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent

S A il 3L g
mEEREEHR
Year ended December 31, 2022
HE2022%F12 A31BIEEE

BAREA AR
Share-based Non-
Paid-in Share Capital Other payments  Accumulated controlling Total
capital capital  premium* reserve” reserve” losses™ Total interests equity
DRI RERE
BAmRA B BRERE  EbEkE  ONREE  ZiEE gE FERER  EREER
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 26)  (note 26)  (note 27) (note 28)
(Witze)  (Wize)  (WEer)  (Wid2s)
At January 1, 2021 R2021E1 A1H 36,069 - 1,172,389 (1,843,967) - (373,275)  (1,008,784) - (1,008,784)
Loss for the year EREE - = = = = (657,561)  (657,561) (5)  (657,566)
Total comprehensive loss ~ FR2AEEEE - - - < = (657,561)  (657,561) (5)  (657,566)
for the year
Capital contribution from ~ B+# @& & 1519 - 198,481 - - - 200,000 - 200,000
series B+financing
Capital contribution from  EEHET&1E 1,898 - 27,052 - - - 28950 = 28,950
employee incentives
platforms
Termination of redemption & IFA% BE&EA A = = - 2,007,905 S - 2,007,905 - 2,007,905
liahilities on series Aand ~ BAHEEEE
B owners’ capital
Conversion into a joint EERHERAR (39,486) 40,000 (514) = = = - = =
stock company ([B&IB))
(“Capitalization Issue”)
Capital contribution from ~ CEEEREE = 4,825 960,277 = = - 965,102 - 965,102
series C financing
Share/capital premium BYERANRSD / - 403425 (403425) = = = = = =
transferred to share REEE
capital
Share-based payments ARG BEREAMH - - - - 137,689 - 137689 - 137,689
At December 31, 2021 R2021F12831H - 448250 1,954,260" 163,938 137,689*  (1,030,836)* 1,673,301 (6) 1,673,296
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HE2022512 A31BILEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SAREEARL
Share-based Non-
Share Share Other payments  Accumulated Controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserves* reserve* losses* Total interests equity
HRHAER
B RERE  AtRE HIREE RithE* B FEREE  EEAE
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARBTR ARMTR ARETR  ARETR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR
(note 26) (note 27) (note 28)
(Hitz6) (Hiter) (Hrit2s)
At 1 January 2022 202241 A1H 448,250 1,954,260 163,938 137,689 (1,030,836) 1,673,301 (5) 1,673,296
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREBRRZEFREE - - - - (722,703)  (722,703)  (13,293)  (735,996)
loss for the year
Shares issued upon initial BERDRBE ([ERAR 34,713 665,855 - - - 700,568 - 700,568
public offering (‘IPO”) BE|) RBSRREE
and over-allotment option IR ERTMRE
Capital contribution by FERRRTE - - - - - - 4,500 4,500
non-controlling shareholders
Share issue expenses RirgnER - (37,106) - - - (37,106) - (37,106)
Share-based payments DR BERMAR - - - 47,816 - 47,816 - 47,816
At 31 December 2022 R2020F12A31H 482,963 2,583,009  163,938* 185,505  (1,753,539)* 1,661,876 (8,798) 1,653,078

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

RMB1,178,913,000 and RMB1,225,051,000, respectively, as at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

* ZERBRERE A HBMRAEZAD HR

20224 K 2021F 12 A31 BN G A H B AR
1,178,913,0007T & AR #1,225,051,0007T °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEREHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax R 7 Bl & 18 (735,996) (657,566)
Adjustments for: SRR
Finance costs BTSN 7 3,534 56,308
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of items of property, HE#Z - BELREEE XN 5 55 19
plant and equipment Wz, (E18)
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of items of HEFAEEEEB MK 37 =
right-of-use assets (E18)
Bank interest income HITFEUA 5} (23,975) (10,355)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREETE 6/13 27,075 14,903
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 6/14 13,476 7,555
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAibfmm & e 17 384 =
Amortisation of other non-current assets HAbIEmEN & EE 333 =
Amortisation of other current assets B me) & EE 3,067 =
Net gains from changes in fair value of BAFEFABENEHEE 5 (3,558) (11,216)
financial assets at FVTPL KA EZEEANFRE
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net 3 (W), B85 5 (115,061) 8,490
Share-based payments LARR 7 A EE TR &9 1< 3K 47,816 137,689
Increase in inventories FEEM (32,611) (15,787)
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, TETFIE - HAbEURERIE KR 35,374 (57,147)
other receivables and other assets Hi&EEmL /(gm)
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE S 3R I8 1N 45,702 14,829
Increase in other payables and accruals H A A5 SR8 K FE R FR A 0 126,024 27,329
Increase in other non-current assets H M IEREN B EE N (117) (2,094)
Increase in deferred income PEIEU AIE N 28,900 14,122
Net cash flows used in operating activities &Z/EFBFAR S REFH (579,541) (472,921)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHMEHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received [SALEPS 5 23,975 10,355
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEE¥E « MEMREEB (296,729) (237,867)
equipment
Purchase of items of other intangible assets fBE H M &EEHE (11,769) =
Purchase of time deposits BEEEER 18/20 (107,462) (40,000)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits #2EUE HIfF 2115 FUA 10,000 =
Decrease of financial products included SFAR AT EABZHN - 325,000
in financial assets at FVTPL TREENSBEDRRD
Proceeds from investment income of FFAR AT ERT ABRA
financial products included TREENERERIRE
in financial assets at FVTPL WA FT1S708 3,558 11,216
Net cash flows (used in)/from ®&EES (FTA),/ Frig (378,427) 68,704

investing activities

REREFR
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AN o~ —1
mEHETRER
Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
HisE AR¥T T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBREHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans SRITEFTISFAA 183,515 50,000
Repayment of bank loans 1@5&?%7%?&’\ (500) =
Lease payment HERK 14 (10,449) (6,420)
Interest paid EFE (1,620) =
Proceeds from series B+ financing B+t & TS IR - 200,000
Proceeds from employee incentives & BB & TS kIR - 28,950
platforms
Proceeds from series C financing C Wt EFT1550R - 965,102
Proceeds from issue of shares* BITR MG TS HIE" 669,714 =
Capital contributions from non-controlling  FEFEMGA T E 4,500 =
shareholders
Payments of listing expense S ETRX (5,723) (8,184)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEERHFEREREEE 839,437 1,229,448
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE INCASH H&RBESZSEY (D), # (118,531) 825,231
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS nFEEE
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHRERIREEEY 20 1,172,562 355,821
beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ERFFHHTE 115,061 (8,490)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREERASEEY 20 1,169,092 1,172,562
END OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBSEEYNERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHE 20 1,325,150 1,182,562
Time deposits with original maturity of [REE A =18 A LA M EBRTFE K (156,058) (10,000)
more than three months
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RERERXMITHRE R 1,169,092 1,172,562
the statement of cash flows ReEEY
* Proceeds from issue of shares are the net proceeds from * BITROBRBRAEEAAREE ([BAR

shares issued upon initial public offering (“IPO”) and over-
allotment option after deduction of the underwriting fees and
other related expenses payable by the Company.

FEE ) RB R ITERETORMD T
FRRFRE - DEANGREHERRARREN
M EMAERR S -
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION ia

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. is a joint stock
company with limited liability incorporated in the People’s

Republic of China (“PRC”).

The registered office of the

Company is located at No. 888 Yaocheng Avenue, Medical
High-tech District, Taizhou, City, Jiangsu Province, PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the research and development of vaccines in

Mainland China.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on

March 31, 2022.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

RAREEER

TEIERAEMEMRNBERIB/RFEA
RAMB ([FE]) FMARIZHBNDERA
A e ARAOEMB LN T EITEHE SR
JH T 8 B 7= 8 [ B 950 K 5B 888

FA - ARRREMBAR (ST AER])
FERFE AN ERE T -

NATR2022463 31 BEFTBHMAL HFT
ERAR ([BRFT]) ERET -

o~ R & R

RAREEMBARNFELT

follows:
Percentage of
equity attributable
Place and date to the Company
of incorporation/ AAREM
registration and place Registered EBRAML
Name of business capital  Direct Indirect Principal activities
TR BRtHRA
2% B RER HEMER B M TEXH
Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences PRC/Mainland China RMB161,032,500 100% - Research and development
Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing ABZYMO") March 7, 2011 AR#161,032,5007T ik
ERZABENRRERRA HE/ RER
(MtRzEE]) 201143A7H
Wuhan Recogen PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 55% - Research and development
Biotechnology Co., Ltd.** September 28, 2021 AK#10,000,0007T F%
BRI S ENRRER R A HE/ RER
202149 A28 H
Wuhan Recbio PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 100% - Research and development

Technology Co., Ltd **
RERBHEYRITER DA

September 28, 2021 A& 100,000,0007T
RE /B R
20219 f28H

i

The English name of the entities registered in

Mainland China represents the best efforts made by

the management of the Company to directly translate

their Chinese name as the entities did not register any

official English name.

* %

The Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC are

limited liability companies under PRC law.

- ALY EELEMNEHEXERE - R
B EMAN AR NEXBERBAR
AEREABFEEQRAEELNR

=P

e AR AR A B A A BT B A B35 A rh B
FERETHERRERT °
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HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which include all standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB’'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
December 31, 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

2.1

mBERE

%M RRTIRIB IR B 7% s 2R (B
BB REER ] RE - BEBEREER
B ((HEReERBEe ) HENRE
R N2 o ZEW BRI TIRBESL KA
ERE - IR R BHAN  ZEFEFBRRIAA
RE27 fAESEHNEEREOINT T
(ARBTT) e

mERE

REVEBRREFBEARFRENBRA (5
BIAEE]) B E2022F12A31HILEE
M BHRE - WB AR AARAG EESHE
ZHHNEE (REABIEER) - EXASEY
SEWIRE 7 EBH ] Z R RAERRK=E
EEFMUREEBEENFEWRESTHD
W (B TAEBER GBI EZHRES
MBS FREN) - BIESIE G -

HWARBERKERREES P NRIRE T BF
BIREHAUEN - AIREERFHEES
URREH GBI EERE—HEEER
KIER - B

(a) HBERBREHEMREEFAEANEGLD
2

(b) H@EHLHELNEN &

(c) AKRENKREENBERSRE -

B8 2 =] /O 1 7 R T ph B AR 2 R AR R 3R
EHRERA BN ST HRAER - HEQR
WEEBAEERSEHEERRES A
B WHEBRAAREZSBRIENERILEE
BRLE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and
Equipment.: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16,
and IAS 41

Amendments to |IAS 16

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards
2018-2020

2.1

2.2

B 5 ¥ R B
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fRBLELE ()
FREEE (F)

BahkEtEHRESERTD FBRAE
ERARGER AN R BEE
FFERERELBAGR - BERAEEK
BRRCHARZERNEEARAFENEE
RAfE - #xE o KE AXEkBRREIR
A ARSI B -

HMEFERBABER CR =186 EEZH"E
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HEREREE (X ERKIEHE) R ARE
SIVERER R 5
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 =ExBRESHREE (&)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs are
described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued
in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity
to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21
if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying IFRS
3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there
were no business combinations during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

(15 TR B I A R R M R B B i
m -

(a) BRI REEREIF (EFTA) K
201846 A MMM Bk &S ESR
i (([BE2EZR])) R LRI
BmMEFBHERZIER 2R - M
FEARBEENR - ZFEITANAE
RS TS R AE RSB 3SR IR R
A BISN » BEAI2ERSIERER
BEHSABHOBKEE - ZHIIMER
RE - BEBREBRGEREI7H
NER R R ETE g R EF 21
SREENMBERKAEE  WEZE
EEBEBELEMENERSHIE
& ERREBRY KRS EREIRM
BERESIRABBE S EREI7
FEBR S RERBEZETRES
215% « MIEBESIELS - Wb - ZEB
RINEBERAREERKEBRIFE
HRERE - AEBMBIE I EZESE
FIARNERAR2022F1 A1 B 2% %
EREBEH  c HRNFRTEEKES
Bt RSB AEAREENM SRR
RERBWEELETRATE -
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or
loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after 1
January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
sets out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

B 5 ¥ R B
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22 EBREBREE (F)

(b)

BB e ERE 165k (S5TA) 2 1+
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

o Amendment to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from
January 1, 2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group's financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

o Amendment to illustrative examples accompanying
IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to illustrative example 13
accompanying IFRS 16 removes from the fact
pattern a reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements, as the example had not explained
clearly whether the reimbursement would meet
the definition of a lease incentive in IFRS 16. The
amendment had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as it is not
applicable for the Group.
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BRI REENFE IR (BFIA) 2
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

the financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts’*

Initial Application of IFRS 17
and IFRS 9 — Comparative
information®

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments”)?3

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction’

2.3
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024

= As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the
effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

i As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17
issued in June, 2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend
the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning
before 1 January 2023.

J An entity that chooses to apply the transition option
relating to the classification overlay set out in this
amendment shall apply it on initial application of IFRS
17.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. In respect of sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate, the Group will develop an
accounting policy for such transactions.

2.3
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CHEGEEREMNVEREBREE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, in particular the
determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a
liability. In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022 Amendments to
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising
from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
In addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional
disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising
from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right
to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject
to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
is non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the
accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with
the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.3

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

© 28 5 18 o R £ 2RO BRI B B A 3R 5 2
A (%)

B ERE 198 (5] A) 2T BUREE
EREBEREFEESASHBERER  MIEE
FTEEHEEK - TR E R NE T IS
HREMBEMER —HEER - ATSEEH
SHE—RARVBERREIEEAEENZ
EMBEMEMELHARTE @ AZESTERE
BBEX BEUERELENEFEAEEL
5 (ERTAN) S EB MM SRR g
BRI BRI H 1 153] - B &R
F15R (BFTAR) R2023F1 A1BE %R
REFEHMAER  WAFIREER - AR
BB SR EE BB A EFE 25 (BETA)
FTiREtE4E 3| ARt - MZE BT AL
MAMBIENE - AEEEEHSTHRRE
BIELIBET - UREREZEBIIA—H -

BIPR st ERIE 85 (BF]A) BE T &&tfh
AREABEREEMNRER - S EFTEESR
MBBRERPRAETREMTENEEK S
o ZEBIAMBEEERNAERTER
o Ko A B RARB G EET - R 5B
AR 2023F1 A1 BRZERBHNFERSE
M AN - WEARZARERGRK &
ERMEHER RS ETEE - RFTIRATE
B ZE B ATERTSH AL BN SR
RIEREMERTE o

147



148 Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd.
SIERAMEMEMRHHRAF

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 3 R B

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CHEGEEREMNVEREBREE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new
and revised IFRSs may result in changes in accounting
policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at December 31. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs, or groups of
CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the CGU (group of CGUs) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the CGU (group
of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of
CGUs) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGU retained.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’'s or CGU’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the asset belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual CGU
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

(i)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of

which it is a part, provides key management

personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
In situations where
the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

in the period in which it is incurred.
the recognition criteria are satisfied,
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 5 years

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 2-5 years
Computer and office equipment 2-3 years
Motor vehicles 4-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

The depreciation expense incurred related to the
right-of-use asset for the building lease during the
construction period is expensed when incurred.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intellectual property

Intellectual property with finite useful life is amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease components, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components and to account for the lease component and
the associated non-lease components (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Properties

50 years
2-5 years
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease,
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

if the lease

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
to leases of motor vehicles that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or

loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For those

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial

Stage 1 -

recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals and lease liabilities.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables and
accruals and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Gains and losses

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.4

EXREHBERE (F)

EEMEE (F)
H&AE

LREBENERFTEIRNESER
T

=5

KEEK AT B2 MR & (B AT

RANETERE - EZEMNFIE - EMENK
EHREFERAARAEGEELZATRFE
ERB R AT E - RN EEMAIR
SN FERZIBART - BIRRARSER - E BEK
LEFERARIRER AR EZHER TR - W
NEER B AR o

B AR B EREIATEIEER
%,\mﬂTT—Hﬁﬁ%**ﬁ DB RS AR

B - BREMEHHTAGRESEEROBE
ﬁJZZlKW

RIEBRESHAE

EERABENEICHRIBUENERE
Alem e ERILHRER -

HWREEMEBEERS —BAR -—ERARKRE
%THE’M%?&%HN& S AWIR A BE B IR
REBAER - AIZARBRKIERT R /K LE
ﬁEu«uF‘?—Xﬁﬁ&ﬁEw%ﬁﬁfﬁ T BB RREE
Z M ZBEN B NHTER o



2.4

Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and form an integral part of the Group'’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EASHEHE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the country in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in a subsidiary
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in a subsidiary,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments and released to profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group's operations. Employees (including directors)
and non-employees of the Group receive remuneration
and rewards in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees and non-employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled
transactions with non-employees is measured by reference
to the fair value of the services they provided unless
the fair value of the equity instruments granted is more
reliably determinable. The fair value is measured at the
market value of the shares, adjusted for the exclusion of
expected dividends to be received in the vesting period,
further details of which are given in note 28 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as
part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because service
conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EASHEHE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiary operating in Mainland China is required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of each reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses incurred on the
Group’s vaccine product pipelines are capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, the Group’s
intention to complete and the Group’s ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
pipeline and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Research and development
expenses which do not meet these criteria are expensed
when incurred. Determining the amounts to be capitalised
requires management to make assumptions regarding the
expected future cash generation of the assets, discount
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. All
expenses incurred for research and development activities
were regarded as research expenses and therefore were
expensed when incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of CGU to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the recoverable amount requires
the consideration of the best expectation by market
participants of the CGU and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at December 31, 2022 was RMB9,305,000 (2021:
RMB9,305,000). Further details are given in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives residual values of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
residual value for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are contained in note 11.

Share-based payments

The Group has set up two employee incentive platforms for
the Company’s directors and the Group’s employees. The
fair value of the restricted shares are determined by the
discounted cash flow model at the grant dates. Valuation
techniques are certified by an independent valuer before
being implemented for valuation and are calibrated to
ensure that outputs reflect market conditions. Some
inputs, such as the discount rate for lack of marketability
(“DLOM"), discount rate and terminal growth rate, require
management estimates. Should any of the estimates and
assumptions change, it may lead to a change in the fair
value to be recognized in profit or loss. Further details are
contained in note 28.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiary that does not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group’s chief executive officer, being the
chief operating decision maker, reviews the consolidated
results when making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance of the Group as a whole and
hence, the Group has only one reportable segment and no
further analysis of this single segment is presented.

The Group did not record any revenue during the year and
the Group’s non-current assets are substantially located in
the PRC, accordingly, no analysis of geographical segment
is presented.
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5.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, AND OTHER 5. H A RWzE AR EMB

EXPENSES

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Ht WA Rz o anT

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBET T

Other income Hg A

Government grants related to income (i) B A B BRI B () 5,325 6,199
Bank interest income RITHBUA 23,975 10,355
Others A, 74 40
Gains W 3

Gain on fair value changes of TRIEENTEZ WS 3,558 11,216

financial assets

Foreign exchange gains, net b 55 W 7 5 58 115,061 =
Other income and gains H A Rz 147,993 27,810
(i The government grants and subsidies related to income (1) B U ER LU A AR B 2 TR 7 B R A R

have been received to compensate for the Group’s

NHEEREENHER S REBEE -

research and development expenditures and business

operations.

An analysis of other expenses is as follows:

HRX B 2T -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12831HILEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Foreign exchange losses, net

Others

HEWE - WE MEEBEE WEE 55 19
& 5 518 F 58 - 8,490
EAh - 1,100

55 9,609
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LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIAIE B
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REENBRFRAEIEE NG GEA) A
(crediting): 15 :
Year ended December 31,
BEZ12A31HILEEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
i3 ARMT T AREEFIT
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz - WER 13 27,075 14,903
equipment* BEITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* CREEENE" 14(a) 13,476 7,555
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERN 17 384 =
Amortisation of other non-current assets* £t 3F 7 8 & &= # 4 333 =
Amortisation of other current assets* H b RENE E i 3,067 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEHENE 14(b) 1,914 1,277
Expense relating to short-term leases* ARIEHAASHIR L™ 14(c) 1,688 490
Research and development costs AR D ®N 716,444 472,953
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEL 5 55 19
plant and equipment K HBIE B MR
Gain on fair value changes of financial ®REEQFEESK 5 (3,558) (11,216)
assets
Government grants related to income  E2US A 5 78 A R T 4 B 5 (5,325) (6,199)
Foreign exchange differences, net X ZRRF R 5 (115,061) 8,490
Bank interest income HITFEWA 5} (23,975) (10,355)
Auditor’s remuneration 2 S5 A 3 A 2,719 451
Listing expense ailiab3 9,932 21,936
Employee benefit expense* (excluding {EE@H ™
directors’, chief executive's and (TEEES -
supervisors’ remuneration): HRITBAB R
E=mEm) -
Wages and salaries TERH® 109,199 100,522
Share-based payments expense AR D BETR A R FH 30,325 47 545
Pension scheme contributions, social RN ETEIHR - tt2RA 10,557 8,716
welfare and other welfare K2 EL fth 18 F
Interest charge for redemption liabilities &R & & &Y & 57 H - 55,031

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets, amortisation of
intangible assets, amortization of other non-current
assets, amortization of other current assets, expense
relating to short-term leases, auditor’s remuneration,
listing expense and employee benefit expense for the
year are set out in “Selling and distribution expenses”,
“Administrative expenses” and “Research and
development costs” in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Bt 7 AR A
FERANDHTINT

Year ended December 31,
HBZE12A31HILEFEE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Interest on bank borrowings AT KA E 5,567 1,604

Less: Interest capitalised B BAMEFB 3,947 1,604

Interest on redemption liabilities on e ARAEREENFE - 55,031
owners’ capital

Interest on lease liabilities (note 74) HEBERNS (MaE14) 1,914 1,277

3,534 56,308
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8.

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules,

section 383(1)(a), (b),

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:
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EE ESRRSTHAEHMH

BEE EERESTBRABRERNME
RIE EMRE - HEQAEFIE383(1)(a) »
(b) ~ () R(MNMEURAR (FEABESEF
RER) BOIFE2EPRTET ¢

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021

B ZE20224% #HZE20214F

12H31H 12H31H

LLFE IEFE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Fees ke 1,356 837
Other emoluments: HAib &

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYA R 5,883 4,088

Performance related bonuses FIBMEBEIEA 5,092 4,111

Share-based payments AR 15 BB 895 3R 17,491 90,144

Pension scheme contributions BB ET BT 314 283

30,136 99,463
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8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION (continued)

B=

CEERRSITHRAESHM (&)

Directors 2=
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e 2 =5 Eike s
we  REDNE izl AR EROEH Hrlas
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARt ARETT ARETxR
Year ended December 31, Hzo0214
2021 12R31B1LFE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Yong Liu ElEt = 1,265 1,717 53 73,747 76,782
Mr. Jianping Chen BRiTF £ - 739 995 53 6,698 8,485
Mr. Bu Li Thik - 573 740 52 6,868 8,233
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Kunxue Hong HEREL A - 500 467 31 2,165 3,163
Mr. Tao Feng EREAE 160 - - - - 160
Mr. Feng GAO GAO Fengit & 169 = = = = 169
Mr. Guodong Liang REREE 169 = = = = 169
Mr. MingFai YUEN REEEE 169 = = = = 169
Mr. Lijun Xia BUERE 133 - - - - 133
Mr. Jinlong Guo DEEEE 37 - - - - 37
837 3,077 3,919 189 89,478 97,500
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Year ended December 31, 2022 ,‘

HZE20225F12 31 B IEFE

8. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EE ESBERESTHRAESHM (&)
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Directors (continued) BEE (&)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
3= 4.1 E3] Rike R A

e  RENNG RERA SERR BROMK FHeE
RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR AR®Tn ARMTR AR®TR  ARETx

Year ended December 31,  #Z2022F

2022 12A31BLEEE
Executive directors: HITES :
Mr. Yong Liu EEp - 1,728 1,788 38 14,536 18,090
Mr. Jianping Chen BT - 1,120 1,044 58 1,178 3,400
Mr. Bu Li FhE - 1,084 1,080 38 1,316 3,518
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Kunxue Hong HHBLE - 1,113 1,044 58 358 2,573
Mr. Tao Feng ERRAE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Feng GAO GAO Feng#t 4 278 - - - - 278
Mr. Guodong Liang 2L 278 - - - - 278
Mr. MingFai YUEN REELE 282 - - - - 282
Mr. Lijun Xia BUuB%4 278 - - - - 278
Mr. Jinlong Guo DBEERE - - - - - -

1,356 5,045 4,956 192 17,388 28,937
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

8. HE EEKBSTTBAEHM (&)

Supervisors Ex
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions payments  remuneration
e 2H =5 ERE MR 1A A
e  RENHE sl SEfT EEOAR Hilazs
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETFT
Year ended December 31, BZ22021%F
2021 12B3181L5E
Ms. Hong Qin B3I = 287 50 24 221 582
Ms. Hongyang Wang (b) IHFLL(b) = 271 66 32 49 418
Mr. Yaming Xu (c) REBEAE(C) = = = = = =
Mr. Gang Chen (a) BRRIE £ (a) = = - = = =
Mr. Zhongcai Gu (a) BRI LA () = = = = = =
Ms. Weiwei Qiao BRERL = 453 76 38 396 963
Ms. Ranting Qian ERERT - - - - - -
- 1,011 192 94 666 1,963
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension Share-
and benefits related scheme based Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments remuneration
E =121 3 Bifke MR A
e  REVAE HEEA srEftE  ERMAR Fr A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTR AR®BTR AR¥TR AR%TR
Year ended December 31,  EZ2022%
2022 12A31BLEE
Ms. Hong Qin RilZt - - - - - -
Ms. Hongyang Wang (b) FtFERL(b) - 61 - 32 8 101
Mr. Yaming Xu (c) REAKE(C) - - - - - -
Mr. Gang Chen (a) BRI A (a) = - = = - =
Mr. Zhongcai Gu (a) BRI () - - - - - -
Ms. Weiwei Qiao BRfELT - 483 84 43 91 701
Ms. Ranting Qian BBt - - - - - -
Mr. Feizhou Wang (d) ERALEW) - - - - -
Ms. Ping Liu (e) 21 F 211 (e) - 294 52 47 4 397
- 838 136 122 103 1,199

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

FR BEESIRTRABRELRE
MEEMME R -
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

Supervisors (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Gang Chen and Mr. Zhongcai Gu were appointed
as supervisors on November 2, 2020, and both
resigned from the position on March 15, 2022.

(b) Ms. Hongyang Wang was appointed as a supervisor
on January 24, 2019 and resigned from the position on
March 15, 2022.

(c) Mr. Yaming Xu was appointed as a supervisor on
August 7, 2019, and resigned from the position on
March 15, 2022

(d) Mr. Feizhou Wang was appointed as supervisor on
June 17, 2022.

(e) Ms. Ping Liu was appointed as supervisor on July 4,
2022.

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

Ex ESRESTHAEHMH ()

E=E (&)

Kiat -

(a) RER Il 50 4 I B AB B S5 AE 7R 20204F 11 A 2
AEZEARES - WHMK20226F3A15
HEHE -

(b) FHOF L ER2019F1 H24BE R T A
ELZ  WR202243 5 15 HEHE -

(c) BIFASLEAER2019F8A7THEZITA
ELZE  WR2022%F3 8 15 HEHE -

()  ERAKAN2022%6 717 BEELA
-

(e) B+ M2022F7 A4REZERE
=Ho
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2021: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2021:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director

9. hEBRESHFMES

BHFMFFBNT

nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

FR hEsasHNEERE-"®RES
(20215 : MEBEDS) * EFHMFRBHNR X
MizE8 « I - AT MIF (20214 : =&) I
FARAREESTRITHRAENRSFHHE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLLEE

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBT ARBT T

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e BA - RBEREMAE 2,240 1,477
benefits in kind

Performance related bonuses RIAREIEAL 2,014 1,685

Share-based payments VAR 7 A EE TR B9 15 3R 12,205 17,559

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIHK 81 116

16,540 20,837
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

B 5 ¥ R B

Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

9. HEBRSHFMES (H)

ARTRHFHEEANFEE R EZRRITRA
BREHMER AR

Number of employees
EEA™
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,500,001 525,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 L 27,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$8,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 8,500,001 7C & 10,000,000 7T - 2
HK$12,000,000 to HK$16,000,000 12,000,000 7T % 16,000,00075 7T 1 =

During the year of 2022, shares were granted to certain
highest paid employees in respect of their further services
to the Group, further details of which are set out in note 28
to the financial statements. The fair value of such awarded
shares, which has been recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

DIVIDEND

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year (2021: Nil).

R2022F  FHEAEBHRKRBERE
FTEREFMHEERLKG @ #—PFBHAR
S REK 28 - ERFBHIMN BT E
ROZSEEBOOAFEARE B HE
T MAFENMEREMESETA Lt
SR bl E 8 K E B E -

10. KRR

FR - AR AW EIKR S E KT A R E
(20214 « #&) -
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

11. INCOME TAX 11. FrB%

The Group's principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as REBFZEFEARBRFELT

follows:

No provision for Mainland China income tax has
been provided for at a rate of 25% pursuant to
the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), as the
Group’s PRC entities have no estimated assessable
profits during the year.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of
the PRC and the respective regulations (the “CIT
Law”), the Company is subject to CIT at a rate
of 25% on the taxable income. Beijing ABZYMO
obtained its certificate of high-technology enterprise
on December 30, 2022 and is entitled to enjoy a
preferential tax rate of 15% for three years from
2022 to 2024.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory rate to the tax
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

FR - RS E AT B E R A
FTERBET - MBIERIBEFEAR
HMB B FEATEFERAERER ([16
¥RMBHE]D) P BERATERIR
25% I T AT IR B o

RIEFEAREMBEEMBEER
AR ([REMEEE]) - AT
AT IE R U A3 25 % KO B R a1
EFTSH o b RZ ABR20225F12
ASOBRES SRR EHEESE - WAE
R2022F £2024F =FRNEZHF15%
BEBEBE o

BORER R EER BB R 2 @R
AR BRERRERGFEZRARX
ZERIAT

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

B Z2022F HZE2021F
12A831H 12H31H
LHFE IEEE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Loss before tax BT Bl &S 18 (735,996) (657,566)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) REEBEFERNIE(25%) (183,999) (164,392)
Lower tax rates for specific provinces — HFE & 17 skt 5 # B M A 11,968 8,691
or enacted by local authority BRI X
Expenses not deductible for tax Al HFL R 12,754 48,872
Additional deductible allowance for B BB E NI (127,394) (69,844)
qualified research and A Rk B A
development costs
Tax losses and deductible temporary AR TR T IE 518 K Al HR G s 286,671 176,673
differences not recognized MEZEEE

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate IZANEBEBEHRTEH = =
BiTE Sz
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11. INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

Annual Report 2022
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

1. FrEsi (&)
EERIRE E W AR T 558 B #E:2

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
n20224 20214
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Tax losses HIAE R 491,413 234,859
Deductible temporary differences RS REER 55,714 27,155
547,127 262,014

The Group has tax losses of RMB2,163,611,000 and
RMB1,063,757,000, as at December 31, 2022 and 2021.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

R2022F K% 2021F12A31H » KEBKF
HEED R AARK2,163,611,0007T K% A
R#1,063,757,0007C - AR ZEEHEWR
R KA Be A FE R 5 K AT B DA S5 B 18 /S
B RUESRZSERERECHIEEE
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HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BARZEERBEAELEESRERE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

HZE2022F K2021F12A31HILFERN
SREAEESHEDBRESARETBRESR

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is based on the

loss for the years or period attributable to ordinary owners/
ordinary equity holders of the parent and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to be in issue
after taking into account the retrospective adjustments on
the assumption that the Company’s Capitalization Issue

AN/ ERRERFA ARGF RS HAEE
RISETRAR R BN BT RE ARG ERA
EEEN2021F1 A1 BERRE P AEE
REBEEITLBRMEFTHEEE - WiRE
B RR M 26T o

and the share capital transfer from capital premium had
been in effect on 1 January 2021 as disclosed in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in REZ2INFE  AXArBMELETETEE
issue during the each of the years presented. B E A o

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on: ATEEREAREEIIER

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
BZE2022F #HE20214
12H31H 12H31H
IFFE IEFE
Loss BE
Loss attributable to ordinary HBARTRRAEAA LEE (722,703) (657,561)
owners/ordinary equity holders of the BB AELEE  ARETE
parent, used in the basic and diluted loss  FAAEA N HEE
per share calculation (RMB’000) (AR®TFIT)
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ARETESREARREEEE 474,213,311 421,443,519
ordinary shares assumed to be in issue RFRBRE ZETEBRA
during the year used in the basic and DN 5 2
diluted loss per share calculation
Loss per share (basic and diluted) FREE (EAREE) (1.52) (1.56)

(RMB per share) (BIRARKETT)
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HE2022%F12 A31BIEEE

13. Y% BERXE

Computer
Leasehold Plant and Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BENEZE  BEREM  GARKE EERBORE hE ERIE &3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn
For the year ended 2022 HENRELEE
At January 1, 2022: R2022E1A18 :
Cost A 29,207 138,859 176 3,361 2179 266,735 440,517
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE (6,626) (15,762) (62) (1,162) (571) - (24,183)
impairment
Net carrying amount FaFE 22,581 123,007 114 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
At January 1, 2022, net of R202%181A8 22,581 123,097 14 2,199 1,608 266,735 416,334
accumulated depreciation TRZHAERAA
and impairment
Additions AE - 30,104 24 813 134 150,200 181,275
Disposals il - (55) = = = = (55)
Depreciation provided ERTEERE (6,716) (18,581) (32) (1,137) (609) - (27,075)
during the year
Transfers gz 852 21,337 - 876 370 (35,204) (11,769)
At December 31, 2022, net of R2020512A318 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,508 381,731 558,710
accumulated depreciation and TRZAERRA
impairment
At December 31, 2022 #2020512 4318
Cost A 30,059 190,064 200 5,050 2,683 381,731 609,787
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE (13,342) (34,162) (94) (2,299) (1,180) - (51,077)
impairment
Net carrying amount FaFE 16,717 155,902 106 2,751 1,503 381,731 558,710
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. ¥1%¥ - BERRE (&)

Computer
Leasehold Plant and Fumniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  and fixtures equipment vehicles in progress Total
BEMERE  BRRBH  GAREE SHRBLARG "E ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  AR¥TR  ARETR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR
For the year ended 2021 HENNELER
At January 1, 2021: R021E1A18 :
Cost A 15,635 62,223 55 1,194 1,266 57,485 137,858
Accumulated depreciation and ZiMERNE (1,117) (7,505) (28) (532) (176) = (9,358)
impairment
Net carrying amount FEEE 14518 54,718 21 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
At January 1, 2021, net of R01E1R1A8 14518 54,718 2 662 1,090 57,485 128,500
accumulated depreciation TRZHAERRA
and impairment
Additions AE 322 58,301 121 2,176 912 240,923 302,755
Disposals 3 = (17) = (1) = = (18)
Depreciation provided ERTEERE (5,509) (8,328) (34) (638) (394) = (14,903)
during the year
Transfers gz 13,250 18,423 - - - (31,673) -
At December 31, 2021, net of R2021E12A318 22,581 123,097 114 2199 1,608 266,735 416,334
accumulated depreciation and TRZAERRA
impairment
At December 31, 2021 R2021£12 4318
Cost A 29,207 138,859 176 3361 2179 266,735 440517
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE (6,626) (15,762) (62) (1,162) (571) = (24,183)
impairment
Net carrying amount KEAE 22,581 123,097 114 2,199 1608 266,735 416,334
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

LEASES 14. #HE
The Group as a lessee AEBERABEA
During the year, the Group has lease contracts for FAAEEREEERFEANSEEES
various items of leasehold land and properties used in HEMETLHESY - BERAEL —XE
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront MRARFEERERE 1 - /505
to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease MBEZE L HEENER - ST 2BEX
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be ERRIE - MFERE—REHR2ESF -
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of —RiME ' AEETNEERSEINEER
properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 HEAEEE - MESSTEHEK HZEIF
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning NAS#HENTMNEESY -
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There
is no lease contract that includes extension and termination
options and variable lease payments.
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EHRAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FA - AEEFAEEENREBER
assets and the movements during the year are as g -
follows:
Leasehold Properties Total
land
HELH LYE3 st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARETT ARET T
As at January 1, 2021 K2021F1A1H 31,958 25,717 57,675
Additions nNE - 5,934 5,934
Disposals gl = (131) (131)
Depreciation charge WEZH (649) (7,555) (8,204)
As at December 31, 2021 R2021412H31H 31,309 23,965 55,274
As at January 1, 2022 R2022%F 1 A1H 31,309 23,965 55,274
Additions nNE - 31,534 31,534
Disposals & - (142) (142)
Depreciation charge TEX W (648) (13,476) (14,124)
As at December 31, 2022 R20224 12 H31H 30,661 41,881 72,542

The leasehold land is pledged for the interest-
bearing bank borrowing in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HE L ARSI MR E23H
s ERITRERIELEM
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. FHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEERAHEA ()
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) THE&E

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

FR - HEBBENEERERESN
™

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

B Z2022F #HZE20214F
12A831H 12H31H
LtFE IEEFE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBT T

Carrying amount at January 1, M1 A1BMEREE - 26,719 26,125
New leases FHE 31,534 5,934
Addition of a subsidiary ME A RIRE - =
Accretion of interest recognized FREBREFSIG 0 (M 1,914 1,277
during the year (note 7) 7)
Disposals HE (106) (197)
Payments (BN (10,449) (6,420)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FARMRMEE 49,612 26,719
Analysed into: DT
Current portion MBS 20,361 7,862
Non-current portion IEmENEB 29,251 18,857

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 34 to the financial statements.

The Group applied the practical expedient to
account for a forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments as a variable lease payment to make a
corresponding adjustment to the lease liabilities, in
effect derecognising the part of the lease liabilities
that has been forgiven or waived.

4HEE -

ARECETEREEMEKRHRR
HEBHENRERTTEEENR - K
HHEEREETHRREE  KMAL
BRAEWEHRAMRENHEREDS

X
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31 BILFE

14. LEASES (continued) 14. FHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERAHEA (H)
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) RERERHEAEFMANSTENOT

to leases are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

B Z2022F HZE2021F
12A31H 12H31H
LFE IFFE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,914 1,277
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEERESH 13,476 7,555
assets

Expense relating to short-term leases*  ARIEHASHIR L 1,688 490

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBZEEREEE 17,078 9,322

* Included in “Administrative expenses”, “Selling ) Eﬁ')\%ﬁ_’é?ﬁé&ﬁ@%@ﬂ&é
and distribution expenses” and “Research and KATTREAX ] - [HE R H
development expenses” in the consolidated B | R [ B8R ] -

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is set out in note (d) HHERBRERLEEHAYHIREME29 -
29 to the financial statements.
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Year ended December 31, 2022
HZE2022F 12 A31BILEE

GOODWILL w8
Goodwill
meE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
As at January 1, 2022, R2022F1 /811 9,305
Acquisition of a subsidiary I — M B A A -
Cost and net carrying amount at December 31, 2022 #2022 12 A31 BHKA R EEFE 9,305
As at December 31, 2022: R2022F 128318 9,305
Cost %N =
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 9,305

Goodwill was acquired from the acquisition of Beijing
ABZYMO on January 8, 2019.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Group as the CGU (“CGU”) for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD”")
method using cash flow projections which has considered
the highest and best use by market participants. The cash
flow projection covering a 20-year period reflects current
market expectations about the Group’s future amounts.
Using a 20-year forecast period in the goodwill impairment
test has considered the best information reasonably
available that the market participants would use. It was
appropriate because it generally takes longer for a vaccine
company to reach perpetual growth mode, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when its products
are still under clinical trial and the market of such product
is at an early stage of development with substantial growth
potential.

BEEMN2019F1 ASBKEILLRL AT
UGER o

AERERE

BBREBAHKBNREDEEANKEE
AREAANRESELEN([REeELE
fiz]) e

REeELBMNAWESRETIRERFER
HERA ([ A FEREEXRA]) 71 EA
RenERAFE  ZBACSEEMS2H
ENRERKERR - ME20FHNAER
ERARREATSEARERKRSENE
B R BRENRTEMR0FFIHRDE
BHiH28ERQEERNKEER - Ut
BiaE  AREEMITROIRMEL  BE
REAEBOKERERA —REERE - LH
EEHEERDENEASREE - BZEM
HWTSRNERVAEEBRENERES -
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes inputs that were used in the
FVLCD of the CGU as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 for
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue which is based on market participant’s expectation
of when to launch the Group’s products and also the
expectation for future market. The Group’s product
candidates, HPV 9-valent vaccine and Covid-19 vaccine,
are at the clinical trial stage, and the market participants
expect the Group to submit the Biologics License
Application (“BLA”) to the National Medical Products
Administration (“NMPA”) for HPV 9-valent vaccine in 2026
and Covid-19 vaccine in 2023. The compound growth rate
of revenue was estimated based on information available
at the time of assessment, disregarding information that
became available after the assessment. Such information
includes current industry overview and estimated market
development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the product candidates are commercialized, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate
is based on market expectations of the industry growth rate
and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the industry relevant to the CGU.

Discount rates — The discount rates being used were
14.5% as at December 31, 2021 and 2022 which were
before tax and reflected the risks relating to the relevant
unit estimated by market participants.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilising the above key assumptions, the recoverable
amount of the CGU estimated from the cash flow forecast
exceeded the carrying amount of goodwill and no
impairment was considered necessary.

15.
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e ()

EERERR (&)

AT s ETEERENRNESRER
B SR EEEEMPN2022F £ 2021F12
A 318K R FE R &K A& A S

Wik — EEEERSHEETERTISLH
HTEHA MBS HE H A S B A E G A KRR TS
MTEH - REFNREER (HPVABES
RFEEE) EREBRARKE  mi58H
EIBHANEE S 2026 F A B R 45 7 BL B
EER([BREER]) BIHPVNERE &
MR2023 F IR IE M LR G ET A 75
(EYVERTURB]) - RAEESERET
RIFFH SR ] SR ERMEE - mMAEEF
MEAIESNER - ZEEHBEEBER
WERITERERGTISRE -

BHEFNE - BEHETFERENEOEE
FRANEEAREERSERBEL - A
REERNERTSRRAMERNTHE
R -

BRERE - BAEREREDERDSY
TERERENES  TTRBRRSELE
AR TE R TIRRE -

ARIRE — FTABNIR R AR 2021 F & 2022F
12A31H/14.5% * BRI R KBTS
HEGHFTHABEMNER -

RIBAEBEMNA L+ 2ERBAETHRER
i BERERAMGANREELEMA
Yol EENREE - WRRBAE
HRE °
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15. GOODWILL (continued) 15.

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of related products and the pre-tax discount
rate are consistent with external information sources.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions:

The management of the Company has performed sensitivity
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1%
of budgeted gross margins, decreasing 1% of the terminal
growth rate or increasing 1% of the pre-tax discount rate,
with all other assumptions held constant. The impacts on
the amount by which the CGU'’s recoverable amount above
its carrying amount (headroom) are as below:

e (%)
AR R ENE ()

ERBER™ S ERN T ERREBA
EEIETE’M B BSNEDE R R — 2K e

BARBREHOHRE

AARERED BB EERKEN1% « &
EEEEFNEN1%  BREKRBIEREN1%
38 AN AT B IR R A1 % T EURE AIE
MmATE EMBRERETE - HEeEL B
AlESEBHERTMENTE (F) W
T :

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

B Z2022F #HZE20214F
12A31H 12H31H
IEFE IEFE

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

it

%/t

~s

Headroom

Impact by decreasing expected revenue PRI S e 2
Impact by decreasing budgeted RTBEEEF R E

gross margins

Impact by decreasing terminal growth rate  [FE{E#IHIE R RAR

\ \\\

4

Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate 3% N7 A BL IR RA) 2 &

&2
=

=

=

2,974,525 9,068,281
(62,395) (132,563)
(34,353) (421,033)
(53,241) (46,200)

(509,383) (773,750)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based
on the assessment, the management of the Company
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of the
CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

ZRMRBEFENERANFE - NAFE
BEERARLMEIZ2HNSEAGEHTE
BYRCELBUNRAEBLEETRES
G
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16. FENFE - HAttBEBRHERAEMEE

As at As at

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021

R20224 20214

12H31H 12H31H

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBEFIT

Prepayments for raw materials R R TR 308 9,983 14,996

Prepayment for research and T35 ST A FB A FR0E 6,526 5,126
development expense

Deposits e 3,852 2,958

Value-added tax recoverable AT U [ HE(E /L 12,575 51,939

Deferred listing expenses BEE EMRX - 11,410

Others Eifb 5,674 2,031

38,610 88,460

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at the end of each of the
reporting periods, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

Value-added tax recoverable represents input VAT related
to property, plant and equipment acquired and research
and development expenses incurred which are expected
to be recovered either through refund from tax bureaus
or to be utilised in the future to offset the output VAT. The
amounts that are expected to be recovered within one
year are recorded as current assets, while those that are
expected to be recovered after one year are recorded as
non-current assets.

FPALAAEBNSREERTMTBERK
BHFARENBYEFRIEEH - REREH
R BEBEIGIERAZERTIA -

AR EEENEECBEYE - BB MRE
AR B EEMA XA B EREET
R E BB BRFKRE K B %A RIEN
SHIRIE(ET » FAT AR —F AU E M FORE
ERBEE - MBAH KR —FREEOKIA
AIEHEIERB B E -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HMBEFEEE
In-progress
research and
development
Software technology
B4 BB Y
TF 2% 45 9l
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TF T AR®T T
As at January 1, 2022 202261 H1H

Acquisition of a subsidiary U g — KT B A Rl - 22,120
Transfers iz 11,769 =
Amortisation provided during the year FRFHREH (384) =
At December 31, 2022 2022912 A31H 11,385 22,120

At December 31, 2022 72022F12A31H
Cost PR 11,769 22,120
Accumulated amortization REtEH (384) -
Net carrying amount BEEEE 11,385 22,120

Impairment testing of intangible assets

The intangible assets represented the in-progress research
and development (“R&D”) technology acquired in relation
to Beijing ABZYMO acquisition.

The in-progress R&D technology is amortized using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives when
available for use. The recoverable amount of in-progress
R&D technology has been determined based on a FVLCD
method using cash flow projections having taken into
account of the highest and best use by market participants.
The cash flow projections covering a 20-year period, as
referenced by the useful life of the patent, reflected the
current market expectations related to the future economic
benefits of the in-progress R&D technology. Using a 20-
year forecast period for the in-progress R&D technology
impairment test is appropriate because the technology
is still in progress and its useful life is expected to be
20 years which is estimated by considering the period
of the economic benefits to the Group. It generally takes
longer for the HPV 9-valent vaccine to be launched in the
market and generate benefits to the Group, compared to
companies in other industries, especially when the Group’s
product candidate — HPV 9-valent vaccine is still under
clinical trial and the market of such product is at an early
stage of development with substantial growth potential.

BREERERNR

BEERARPWEILRRZ B BABNR
R RO ER ([HF 3 ) B

FA 2 rh 0 BT 35 BRI A 22 B 2 K AR A R iR 5
ERAFRREMEREEE - AP E
RiT A RSB EA RTIH2EERD
R&EHHRESRERE - REAFERD
ERATAETE - BE0F MRS RER
A (2ZZFNNAERAEH) RREAMMES
1 5 2% B BT 38 BRI R SR AR B A e O TEER o
MR EMDERFAERE - ARHA RS
HR20F  BEEBEAREE Mz
BIfh AT B B 3 P RO BT 235 BB (BRI B R
F20FRAIMBIRE - BEMITEMNARM
b HPVAEBREETHEE REHEA
M AAEBEEN R LEHEREEN K
BEMHPVABREDENEASSE - Bt
BEMNTHEERAEREERE NS
FHIRE B o
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued)

Revenue — The basis used to determine the projected
revenue, which was based on market participants’
expectation of when to launch one of the Group’s
product candidates — HPV 9-valent vaccine, and also the
expectation of the future market. HPV 9-valent vaccine is at
the clinical trial stage, and the market participants expect
the Group to submit the Biologics License Application
(“BLA") to the National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) for this vaccine in 2025. The compound growth
rate of revenue was estimated based on information
available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment.
Such information includes current industry overview and
estimated market development of related products.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the projected gross margins was
the average gross margins that would achieve when
the HPV 9-valent vaccine is commercialized, and would
be increased for expected improvements of production
efficiency and market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates being used were 15.5%
as at December 31, 2021 and 2022 which were before
tax and reflected the risks relating to the in-progress R&D
technology.

Based on the impairment assessment conducted by the
Group utilizing the above key inputs, the recoverable
amount of the in-progress R&D technology estimated from
the cash flow forecast exceeded its carrying amount and
no impairment was considered necessary.

17.
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HiEEEE (&)
BREERERNR (&)

ik — BETEARSNEEENMISLE
EEBARHEHAEEREERZ — —HPV
NEZERALRTIBHIEL - HPVAERZH
BRRERAREE  AMB2EEBEHAE
ER2025F MBREREEERD ([FER 5
ERDREXEMEBHFTEE (YRR
AEFE]) - WAEAER R TIRIE (A
EEHERGET  MAZEEFHETESK
BH e ZSERPEHEBERNEATTTEM
B R AETTIBEE -

EHEFE - BEHETFEUENEOMAEE
B A HPV AL B A 2L -
AN A RAR TS RERENT
EF|E -

BYIR R — 20214 2022412 A31 BEHAH
BEIRE AB15.5%  ABRTA M REFAZEFH
B R A R R

RIEA S BB Lt = 28 ABBETHOR
B - AEt AR RERNNAEHH
BRI RO SR EREE - 83
RBAELRE -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 17. HMEREEE (&)
Impairment testing of intangible assets (continued) EREERENSR (&)
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions: FARBREHNHRE :
The management of the Company has performed sensitivity RAREREDBBMREERHKZEN1%
test by decreasing 1% of expected revenue, deceasing 1% f&iﬁ#%ﬂtﬁ’] 1% ~ SKIE AN A AL 3R 2 E’]
of budgeted gross margins, or increasing 1% of the pre-tax 1% ETRURE AR - MATE M ERERFT
discount rate, with all other assumptions held constant. The = I?'-?J?XE?J OB 35 R T 0 A U B 2 B R A
impacts on the amount by which the recoverable amount of REENZE (CF=)WT
the in-progress R&D technology above its carrying amount
(headroom) are as below:
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
BZE2022F BE20214
12H31H 12H31H
LFE IEFE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Headroom FE 1,690,600 1,713,400
Impact by decreasing expected revenue FRETEE I = 2 (13,200) (19,570)
Impact by decreasing budgeted BREBEEMENFE (33,400) (37,570)
gross margins
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate 3 HNF% AT AL IR R §/ 2L (139,100) (178,820)

Considering there was still sufficient headroom based
on the assessment, the management of the Company
believes that a reasonably possible change in the above
key parameters would not cause the carrying amount of
the in-progress R&D technology to exceed its recoverable

amount.

%F&*E%FEWEWEE%@E’U?%% F RRBE

ERR LT EZ2HNAEAE
%iﬁ(ﬁﬂ%‘qﬂ A 7T 8% 5 01T 0 P D R 1 L AT MK
Ol 558 e
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HtERBEE
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R20225F R20214F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Time deposits* TE HATF SR> 31,404 80,000
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEME  BEREEHEMNKIE 182,585 39,764

plant and equipment
Prepayment for long-term insurance** BRI B0 TR R IE 1,636 1,852
215,625 121,616

As at December 31, 2021, time deposits include (i)
RMB50,000,000 starting from December 28, 2020
with a maturity date on December 28, 2023 with a
fixed interest rate of 4.10%; (ii) RMB10,000,000 which
started from February 23, 2021 with a maturity date on
February 23, 2024 with a fixed interest rate of 3.99%,;
(iii) RMB10,000,000 which started from April 20, 2021
with a maturity date on March 31, 2024 with a fixed
interest rate of 3.99%; (iv) RMB10,000,000 which
started from June 2, 2021 with a maturity date on
February 2, 2024 with a fixed interest rate of 3.41%.

R2021F12A31H  EEFREIE()
B2020F 12 A28 H = 2023F 12 A
28 B E| Him A R# 50,000,000 7T °
FERE R4 10% : (ii)B20214F2H23
B#ZE2024F2 A23HEHHARE
10,000,0007C * EEFE A3.99% :
(iii)2021F 4 A20 H £ £ 2024443 A
31 B E|HMm AR 10,000,0007T °
EREE3.99% : (iv)E20214F6 A2
HE2024F2 A2HEHHARK
10,000,0007¢ * BEIEF|E A3.41% °
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18.

19.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued) 18. HAtFERBEE (K)
As at December 31, 2022, time deposits include (i) M2022F12A31H » EBEREIE()BE
RMB10,000,000 which started from February 23, 2021 with 202142 A23 H#£E 202452 A 23 HE|H#HY
a maturity date on February 23, 2024 with a fixed interest AR®10,000,0007T * [&EEF| % A&3.99% :
rate of 3.99%; (ii) RMB10,000,000 which started from April (iYB 202144 20 A £202443 A31H
20, 2021 with a maturity date on March 31, 2024 with a EIH89 AR #10,000,0007T © EEMEAE
fixed interest rate of 3.99%; (iii) RMB10,000,000 which 3.99% : (iii)E2021F6 A28 E2024%F2
started from June 2, 2021 with a maturity date on February A2BZ|#M A K% 10,000,0007T @ EE F|
2, 2024 with a fixed interest rate of 3.41%. RAE3.41%
For all the time deposits as at December 31, 2022, interest TR 2022F 12 A31 B A T HFRM
income is then settled using current interest rate only if to = WRAEEMREIA 2 ATIRER - BigE A
withdraw before corresponding maturity date. EAIFEREERNEHA -
o This is the prepayment of long-term insurance, which * hAERHRBOEMNRE  THER
will expire in September 2027. 202749 A E| ] -
INVENTORIES 19. ®FE&
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
120225 20214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBETTT
Raw materials FEM 56,160 23,549
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20. BEERBITLER

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R20224F R20214F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Cash at banks HRITER 1,169,092 1,172,562
Time deposits TEHITF K 156,058 10,000
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE R 1,325,150 1,182,562
Denominated in: AT %8 B 5HE -

RMB AR 205,393 494 104
UsbD ETT 701,487 688,458
HKD T 418,270 -

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

ARETAEmABAEMER - A - R
iR B A SO E B IR AR D)) R CKAEEE - B IE
RNEEERE)  ANEBMELERBER
REEITINEZR B RITHARB LR BEAM

RITFRRE B RITERA KR ZF S KR
S - |RITEHRERRNEERFROHY
EHRFCEAIRTT
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21. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

21. EZEMARE
REREDKR - BHENIERERZHH
ﬁj\

each reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as HIBRBR D ATLR T -
follows:
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
7H2022F 720214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Within 1 year —F R 62,507 16,739
Over 1 year B —F 10 77
62,517 16,816

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled within the normal operating cycle.

BHRNHRETE  —RREFZERD
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22, HiENFERESER

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R202245F R20214F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Deposits received from vendors BE 5 KEmNiZS 25,778 420
Payable for property, plant and equipment  E¥% - BE MR HRE 25,755 7,523
Accrued listing expense FERT EX - 9,429
Accrued research and development JEEHI BRI X 105,749 29,151
expenses
Accrued renovation and construction ERTRERBERSE 35,157 38,440
expenses
Staff payroll, welfare and bonus payables — EfTE THE « |FI RIELL 43,050 24,310
Other payables H fth FE < 5RIE 9,222 5,342
244,711 114,615
Other payables and accruals of the Group are non-interest- rEEMEMENRIBEREFERARER

bearing and have an average term of three months. FHHRA=@EA -

207
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HE2022%F12A31 B IEEE

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23.

As at December 31, 2022
R2022%12A31H

Effective interest

As at December 31, 2021
®2021€12A31R
Effective interest

rate per annum % Maturity ~ RMB’000  rate per annum % Maturity ~ RMB'000
BRERIE(%) H8A ARETR ERERIE (%) H8MA  ARETT
Current BE
Bank loans - unsecured R - BHA 1-year LPR'+20bps 2023 1,000 = - =
1EHLPRIM20EEY 2023%
Bank loans - unsecured RITER — BER 3.45% 2023 394
2023%
Non-Current FEH
Bank loans - secured” ROER - BHE" 5-year LPR  2024-2028 100,000 5-year LPR  2024-2028 50,000
5&8LPR 20245 S5FHLPR  2024%%F
2028 F 2028
Bank loans - unsecured BITER - BHER 1-year LPR+20bps  2024-2025 98,500 = = -
1EHLPRIDEES 202452
20255
Bank loans - unsecured RN - 8HH 3.45%  2024-2025 33,121
20245 %
2025%
233,015 50,000
* LPR (Loan Prime Rate) is the basic loan reference rate * LPR(EREEFE) SHEARRITE

calculated and published by the National Interbank
Funding Center authorized by the People’s Bank of

China.

* The borrowing was secured by leasehold land, and
bear a floating interest rate.

*%

EHE2RRTHRAEREFLFELR
MEEREFRSERE

s

o

ERARE T ERR - BT B ARG

e
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. G&rESHRITEM (&)

(continued)

Analysed into: DHTET -
As at
December 31,
2022
12022 F
12A31H
RMB’ 000
AR®T

Bank loans repayable: EEBRRITEMR

Within one year or on demand —FRHIEER 1,394
In the second year FoF 3,692
In the third to sixth years, inclusive FIEF6F  BIEEHEME 227,929

233,015
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24. DEFERRED INCOME 24, EEWA

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
72022 20214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Government grants BT B 61,144 32,244
Government grants received relate to assets invested in BWEFHBEEEREZERBENEESR
equipment and plant were credited to deferred income and B T ABREWA - WRIEEEEMTERA]

are recognized as income over the expected useful lives of fEAFHABERRBEA -

the relevant assets.
25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. EEZEBEBEERE
Total
st
RMB’ 000
ARETR
As at January 1, 2021 M2021F1 818 5,530
Fair value adjustments arising from acquisition of WEEM B ARIEEN AT EFAEE -
a subsidiary

As at December 31, 2021 and 2022 1R2021F 2022912 A31H 5,530
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HE20225 12 A31 B IEEE

26. K& BEHKRE

Paid-in capital BEARA
Total
st
RMB’ 000
ARBT T
As at January 1, 2021 M2021F1H1H 36,069
Capital contribution from employee incentives EERETFErTE (Hib) 1,898
platforms (Note b)
Capital contribution from series B+ financing (Note ¢c) B+#agh& x4 (Hfitc) 1,519
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into a joint  RE AN AR QA FEETE R (39,486)
stock (Note d) (Hatd)
As at December 31, 2021 72021412 A31H -
Share capital [N
Shares R
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R2022F 20214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE
482,963,000 (2021: 448,250,000) ordinary 482,963,0000% (20214 : 482,963 448,250

shares

448,250,000 4% ) & i@ A%
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26.

SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued) 26. KRZ& EBHEKRA (&)

Share capital (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital

is as follows:

e )

ADARAEHBIIOT ¢

Total
st
RMB’ 000
ARET T
Issued and fully paid as January 1, 2021 R2021F1 B1HE BT REE =
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into a joint R BN AR QA REEITL B 40,000
stock company (Note d) (Htezd)
Issue of ordinary shares upon conversion into a joint REEAERH AR AREETE B 4,825
stock company (Note e) (Hiite)
Share capital transferred from capital premium (Note ) BXAN# [BEHREIGAS (HTaEf) 403,425
Issued and fully paid as at December 31, 2021 and M2021F12 A31 B &2022%181H 448,250
January 1, 2022 BEEITREAR
Shares issued upon IPO (Note a) RBERXAFREEEREITHRG (Hita) 30,855
Issue of shares under the over-allotment IR EBREEL IR B THAR D (MY ita) 3,858
option (Note a)
As at December 31, 2022 R20229F12H31H 482,963
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SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued)

Share capital (continued)

Notes:

(a)

On March 31, 2022, the Company issued a total of
30,854,500 ordinary shares with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each by means of global offering. On April
27, 2022, the Company issued a total of 3,858,500
ordinary shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each
by means of over-allotment option.

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
March 24, 2021 entered into among the employee
incentives platforms and all other owners of the
Company, the employee incentives platforms agreed
to subscribe the increased registered capital of
RMB1,898,000 of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB28,950,000.

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated
March 27, 2021 entered into among the series B+
investors and all other owners of the Company, the
series B+ investors agreed to subscribe the increased
registered capital of RMB1,519,000 of the Company at
an aggregate consideration of RMB200,000,000.

On May 9, 2021, the Board passed resolutions
approving, among other matters, the conversion of
the Company from a limited liability company into a
joint stock company and the change of name of the
Company from Jiangsu Rec-Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (/T
wInEHE M AT AR A A]) to Jiangsu Recbio Technology
Co., Ltd. OI&FmEHEMEMARMDBR2AR). Al the then
existing owners approved the conversion of the net
assets value of the Company as of March 31, 2021
into 40,000,000 Shares of the Company. Upon the
completion of the conversion, the registered capital
of the Company became RMB40,000,000 divided into
40,000,000 Shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each, which were subscribed by all the then existing
shareholders in proportion to their respective equity
interests in the Company before the conversion.
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B EHRA (&)
R ()

Kzt -

(a)

202243 A318 @ NAREEBEERE
£ 2174 130,854,500 R FHREEA R
#1.00T K EiBAR - 202264 A27
H - AR R ABEEE AR E S X BEITE %
3,858,500k T AR FEE A R 1.007TH)
Limak -

RiREE BT A EBAAREEME
BAR2021FE3 A24 BT E &
% EEABTAEREUBREARE
28,950,000 L RIEA A AR FT 1 &
RNARE1,898,0007T °

REB+HIEEERARANBHME
BAR2021FE3A27 BT LA E &
# B+BmBREERBEURREARYE
200,000,000 7T R AR A 7] #1185
BEARANREE1,519,0007T °

MN2021E5 90  EELRBRER
BE(EPBE) SARArBEBRES
ARREAERHBER AR REARE AR
RIHBREMRETERAREES
IEBEEMREMTROBRARA - &
Z2021%3A31H  FiBEEREEAA
HREE AR R EEFEERABEADQR
40,000,000 8% B 17 - REE# TR IZ -
A R K) & A A A R 40,000,000
I 93 /340,000,000 G EE A R
#1007 IR - MATA & R R R IR
£ ERERBTN AR AR L HIR
B o
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26.

SHARE CAPITAL/PAID-IN CAPITAL (continued)

Share capital (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Pursuant to a capital contribution agreement dated May
24, 2021 entered into among the series C investors
and all the then shareholders, the series C investors
agreed to subscribe the increased registered capital
of 4,825,000 shares of the Company at an aggregate
consideration of RMB965,102,000.

On June 29, 2021, the registered capital of the
Company increased from RMB44,825,000 to
RMB448,250,000. During the said capital increase,
403,425,000 Shares were allotted and issued to all
the then existing shareholders of the Company on
the basis of one share for every nine shares allotted
according to their then shareholding, using part of the
share premium resulted from series C financing (“Share
Allotment”).

26.

BA BEHRAE (H)
BAs ()
Wizt - (%)

(e)

BIRCEIR & & B E R 1A IR R 742021
F5A24 BTN REE % ClIRE
ERENBREARK965,102,0007T
REEARQ B 8B & A 4,825,000 %
B1n o

MW2021F6 A29H * A AAIMFEME
AN AR 44,825,000 T MEAR
#448,250,0007T ° 1 Ll 38 & HAR) -
403,425,000 &0 & & LR 9 BE — IR
WEEBRBEHRSERORESR @ A
CHimh & FTE £ M H IR0 = BRL % &
BOTARBERZ2EBRE ([RHE
) o
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s reserves
and the movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and in the statement of financial position of the
Company in note 35 of the financial statements.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted share award schemes (the
“Schemes”) for certain personnel in order to recognize and
reward the contribution of certain directors and employees
(“Granted employees”) to the growth and development of
the Group, and retain eligible employees for the continuous
operation and development of the Group. During the
year, the Group granted equity interests of the Company
under the Schemes through Lianyungang Ruibaitai
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaitai”)
and Lianyungang Ruibaihe Pharmaceutical Technology
Partnership (L.P.) (“Ruibaihe”). Both of the Ruibaitai and
Ruibaihe are controlled by the general partners of the
partnerships.

On March 25, 2021, 2.2% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB12,738,000 through
Ruiwenshibole. There was no vesting period for these
equity interest granted.

On March 25, 2021, 2.8% of the then equity interest in the
Company were granted to 41 selected employees of the
Company for a consideration of RMB16,212,000 through
Ruibaitai.The vesting period and vesting condition of the
scheme were as follows.

In May 2021, 0.1038% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 46,544 shares before the Share Allotment,
and 465,436 as adjusted after the Share Allotment) in the
Company were forfeited due to the resign of one employee,
and were transferred to another employee as newly granted
share awards.
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e

RAFREFBEFE  ARERARE R
BB EHNPIERRM IS 2R R
BHRMARBFHRAKRES

MR A0 SR BT &

ARRRETAEBRAT RO EZBE (T
) URELEBETEZLER ([ER
BEDEAEERENRERNER  XAK
SENHELERERREAERESR - 1
FA - AEEBREEEERARBENTS
BEE(ERAR) ([REFR]) LEEERA
MBERMEEBREE (BRER) ([AM])
EAETRTARBNRE - ImaFking
MEMABEERT EBABAES -

K202163A258 * AREERR2.2% %
EIBBE B AR 12,738,000 7THY
REBRFARAMIBRTET  ZTERRK
N MBS EHR o

RK202163H250  AAAEKRA2.8% %
ERERAFRUARKE16,212,000 TR E
BRYIARBIMNZETRE LT EINERBH
RAGMHIT ©

M2021F5H  B—REBFBRMIKEAR
7]0.1038% #Y & By A 18 (488 P A 17 B 3% Al
B146,544 8% 0 - R (DAL AL AR
465,436 %) + WE AR RN RE MR
FR—%ES -
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During July to November 2021, 0.0175% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 78,533 shares) in the Company
were forfeited due to the resign of two employees and was
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

On September 27, 2021, 1.1% of the then equity interest
(equivalent to 4,925,832 shares) in the Company were
granted to 19 selected employees of the Company for a
consideration of RMB9,572,000 through Ruibaihe. The 1.1%
equity interest aforementioned was transferred from Mr.
Yong Liu which has met the vesting condition and thus was
regarded as newly granted share awards.

During May to September 2022, 0.0727% of the then equity
interest (equivalent to 325,878 shares) in the Company
were forfeited due to the resign of two employees and was
transferred to another employee as newly granted share
awards.

The vesting period and vesting condition of the granted
equity interests through Ruibaitai and Ruibaihe were as

28. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued) 28. KRB E (E)

R2021FE7AEI1 A AMBEEERM
SRULZAN A F0.0175% B0 & B AR (Mg R
78,633/ & 1n) + W EAFIE L ARG EEm
HETS—ZES -

R2021F 0278 * ARGE1.1% M E KA
# (FHE 14,925,832 %% (7 ) & BT B A A
AR¥9,572 000 LR ER TFTARAF 195
BEEE - P11 %BRECHIIBLLAE
EMABRECRABBIGNG  WZER
PR AR BT AR 2R -

MN2022F5AE9H AMEZES BB
SRR FO. 0727%m*ﬁfﬂx$§(7f =i
325,878k () - WHERFH AR D 2B M
HWETS—ZES -

BiBEAELIGAMERORENEE
IEHNT o

follows.

Vesting % Vesting Period

BB BI% 55 R 5

20% (i) if employment with the Group exceeds two years: 20% of the share awards granted can
be vested at grant date; (ii) otherwise, the vesting period is defined as grant date through
the date reaching two years’ employment with the Group
(i) MAEEERABBAMF  BEROEZEN20% AT RN EE BEEE : (V58 - BBHEAT AR
HEH  BEEAEEESBRAMEA

20% 3 years
34

60% 5 years

B
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of services received in return for a share
award granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of the share award granted less the consideration received
by the Group. The fair value of the share award granted
is measured as the market value at the grant date, for the
year of 2022, the closing share price as of grant date is
used as a reference of the fair value of the shares, while
for the year of 2021, the fair value is determined using
the discounted cash flows approach. Key assumptions
including the discount rate, terminal growth rate and DLOM
are required to be determined by the directors of the
Company with best estimate.
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IR 10 S =t & (&)

HIF LG BB MBI REAFELRE
B BRG REN A FERA SRR AE
T2 o HEMRMZEEANAFERRMHED
AR EEE - R2022F  HEFES
BERZ MM ENERKRGAFEZZE W
R2021 FE 2 A FEDFRMBEERE S RARE
FoFTERB[(BEMREX  RIERER
BRemEREMNINE) BRAA QAR ESIA

BEHHER -

Grant during 2021
02021 FHERH

Discount rate AhIR &
Terminal growth rate fRumig R X

DLOM

RS RE TR

14.5% — 16%
0%
7.0% - 15%

During the year ended December 31, 2022, share based
payment of RMB47,816,000(2021: RMB137,689,000),
respectively, were charged to profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB31,534,000 (2021: RMB5,934,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
properties.

The Group had non-cash additions to administrative
expenses, selling and distribution expenses and
research and development costs of RMB26,419,000,
RMB1,701,000 and RMB19,696,000(2021:
RMB67,738,000, RMB877,000 and RMB69,074,000)
respectively, in respect of share award schemes.

29.

HE2022F12A31BILFE  URHh BE
BEE IR AR #47,816,0007T (20214 - A
R#137,689,0007T) 2 I8 a5 0Bk ©

REREREBRMWE

(a) FEFREXS

FER - AEBMBRYERES ZHENER
BAENMERENIIERSREDF
B AR31,5634,0007T (20214 : A
R#5,934,0007T) °

R EBFTEME - AEBEITHHA
X HE R HEAX R AR 3E
HeERED R ABARKE26,419,000
7T AR®A1,701,000Cc R AR
19,696,000 (2021F : AR
67,738,000t + AR%877,0007T &
AR#69,074,0007T) °
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(b)

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. #I&BEE&RERM T ()
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMETBHELENEEESH
activities
Redemption
Payable liabilities
Bank Lease for listing  on owners’
loans liabilities expenses capital Total
EBEA
FEf &N
RITER HERE FHEx BEEE @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR%TR AR%®Trn AR®Trn AR%¥Tx
At January 1, 2021 ®2021F1R1R - 26,125 - 1,952,874 1,978,999
Additions NE 50,000 5,934 - - 55,934
Disposals & = (197) = = (197)
Interest expense FBHE 1,604 1,277 S 55,031 57,912
Payment RE- (1,604) (6,420) (23,917) = (31,941)
Including: B
- Changes from financing - BEH L TELE) - (6,420) (8,184) - (8,184)
cash flows
— Changes from operating ~BER S NERE) - = (15,753) = (15,733)
cash flows
- Changes from investing - REHE TEZE (1,604) = = = (1,604)
cash flows
Increase in deferred listing EIC Em RSN - - 11,410 - 11,410
expenses
Listing expenses EWR% - = 21,936 = 21,936
Termination of redemption rights B BRI |+ - - - (2,007,905)  (2,007,905)
At December 31, 2021 #®2021%F12A31H 50,000 26,719 9,429 - 86,148
At January 1, 2022 ®2022F1H1R 50,000 26,719 9,429 - 86,148
Additions NE 183,015 31,534 - - 214,549
Disposals HE - (106) - - (106)
Interest expense FIERZ 5,567 1,914 - - 7,481
Payment D (5,567) (10,449) (19,361) - (35,377)
Including: B
- Changes from financing -BERZ i EEE (1,620) (10,449) (5,723) - (17,792)
cash flows
- Changes from operating —EEH e TER - - (13,638) - (13,638)
cash flows
— Changes from investing —REHZEZE) (3,947) - - - (3,947)
cash flows
Increase in deferred listing B LR ZIEM - - - - -
expenses
Listing expenses % - - 9,932 - 9,932
Termination of redemption rights B EIHER|4& 1E = = = = -
At December 31, 2022 202212 A31H 233,015 49,612 - - 282,627
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. S8R E&REBRMNE (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRLHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the AR RERNHAENRESRHA
statement of cash flows is as follows: EEP N
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
BZE2022F HZE2021F
12831 H 12H31H
IEFE WEFE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Within operating activities LETEEN 1,688 490
Within financing activities MEEHN 10,449 6,420
12,137 6,910
30. COMMITMENTS 30. &IE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the RMERR - NEBMEARENT ¢
end of the reporting period:
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
H202245F 720214
12831 H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Contracted, but not provided for: EEESIEIoE e
Buildings S 32,672 99,342
Plant and machinery BB K Es 36,252 65,397

68,924 164,739
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BEAIXRS
The Group had no transactions with related parties during NG (B N G A A B R T AT S o
the year.
The Group had no outstanding balances with related INER B EL R 5 B R E R AR o
parties.
Compensation of key management personnel of the AEERAREEASHMH :
Group:
The remuneration of directors, supervisors and the chief B EEkEaTHRAESHEEEAS
executive of key management was as follows: BT -

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in ~ ¥& ~ JE4T ~ 2B R EYHIR 10,975 8,199
kind

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFTEIEK 314 283

Share-based payments LARR A A 20 895 3K 17,491 90,144

Total compensation paid to key management X TR EIE A B W B4 28,780 98,626
personnel )

Further details of directors’, supervisors’ and the chief FHES  ESRERTBABHMOE—

executive’s remuneration are set out in note 8 to the FE BN RS -

financial statements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. REMESHNEMIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of each of the reporting periods

are as follows:

As at December 31, 2022

BEHmERAR SRR T ANREEN

-

7A2022F12H31H

Financial assets TRMEE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
R R A
STENESREE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
Financial assets included in prepayments, other FTATEM IR « HAth FEWGRIE K& 3,852

receivables and other assets EMEENSREE
Time deposits TEHTF R 187,462
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 1,169,092
1,360,406
As at December 31, 2022 A2022F12A31H

Financial liabilities SRIBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
& 8 E AR
FTENESREE
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
Trade payables B 5 B IE 62,517
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FTAHMERNKIBRETERR 244,711

accruals TREE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIER 231,621

538,849
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. ®RERESHMERTE (&)

(continued)

As at December 31, 2021

A2021F12A31H

Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
£i7e - $is|DWN
ATENEREE
RMB’000
ARBETTT
Financial assets included in prepayments, other FTATER IR « HAtb EWGRIE K& 3,704

receivables and other assets EMmEENSREE
Time deposits EHATF R 90,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeMAEEEY 1,172,562
1,266,266
As at December 31, 2021 R20215F12A31H

Financial liabilities ETMAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R ERR
ATENEmAE
RMB’000
ARBETTT
Trade payables Z 5 I RIE 16,816
Financial liabilities included in other payables and FFAHAMENKIBRETERR 9,034

accruals TRBE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITIER 50,000

75,850
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair values

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
bank balances, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair values
of the other non-current financial liabilities which including
interest-bearing bank borrowings and redemption liabilities
on owners’ capital have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities and the fair values approximate to their carrying
amounts.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of time deposits
and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value
as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank borrowings as at December 31, 2021
and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant. Management
has assessed that the fair values of the non-current portion
of time deposits and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At the end of each
of the reporting periods, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
directors review the results of the fair value measurement
of financial instruments periodically for financial reporting.
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ETHMITANAFERRIFEER
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EEECHG  T2HRRETANEHE
HUE  BeRRTHES  BEHENF0R -
FEATEN A - At EKRFCARE b EER
TRV E A RFT AR RN IR R E B A
WEmeaEREEREEASESE - HMIER
BeRARE (BRABRITEAREAAE
AWBELOEE) NAFEESRER  FER
@ N R BR HRIR 77 E AR LA T B /9 3R B A A3 A
X RBRARRBSREFNHE - R FEREE
FREERS -

SMAEREE2ATHENEFERSH (8
BSE B ERI) BRI RS FRIAZT
2 HLBEARE - T ERBRARE 2
FiH -

TEHFER KT BRITERASERNSB LA
FETIRIER - FERR & F &R 5 8
B TR A9IR Al AR R IR B AR RIE €
MEFTE - ARAEER2021F K20224F
12 A31 BT ERITER RGN TELOR
& NFEEPHTEATEX - BEED
A E AT R KA B ARITE A IERN A
MAFEEAEEAERS

AEBENMBEHPAAEEESRTARFE
AENBRERERF REHREMK - BB

FotremTABENED  WEFGER
ERANIZHARE EFTHNEMESHT
ARQFEABNER  AEMBHREZH -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other

payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they

are summarised below.

Interest risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
other than time deposits (note 18) and cash and cash
equivalents (note 20). The Group’s interest rate risk arises
from its borrowings, details of which are set out in note 23.
Interest-bearing bank borrowings at variable rates expose
the Group to the risk of changes on market interest rates.
The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to
the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Group’s debt obligations with a floating interest rate.

As at December 31, 2022, if interest rates on loans had
been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, the loss before tax for the year ended
December 31, 2022 would have been RMB670,000 (2021:
RMB107,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/

lower interest expense on loans.

34.

MEEREEBRERBER

AEENEFZSMT AERERe MIRITER
ARETEHRITER - 252 IANEER
HNEAAEENZEEEES - A5EE%E
HEMeMEERBE  WMEERBHZE

H'E 5 K& B Ath FE S FUE o

AREFERTAEENTERR ﬁﬂﬁﬂ
% HNERE EERREABESRR
BRI MNAEEEZSRBOBE
BEMR o

F 2 A B

BREBER (MT18) ARRE RREEEY
(Wﬁﬂﬂ%'$%liﬂikﬁgéé°$
ElmﬂTﬂ 2K B EE AN

 FEMEE BHRITIES 1E$EIEEW
miﬁﬂfﬁ*@m’]ﬂﬂ R E B EAE A A
A 4= B SR Sh EL R R B o AN 5% (B T B
TG R BB E e+ B E AR B )T B E
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. HEEKREEBZERBUR (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk SPEE B B
The Group has certain cash and cash equivalents AEEBREETUININE (EER=T ([X
denominated in foreign currencies, mainly United States T RET(ETD)ENEeREESE
Dollars (“USD”) and Hong Kong Dollars(*HKD”), which BY) - EERINERPE o A& B &L HE
are exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group has not HNEE BB
hedged its foreign currency risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TRETRERSHR  EHMEERETD
of each reporting period to a reasonably possible change ERBEAT  AEERMAIEEN RiER
in the USD and HKD exchange rate, with all other variables HWETTNBICIE X 2 532 7] 8 & ) 7 U
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax and equity E(RRAEREBHEEERABNATEE
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and g)) o
liabilities).
Increase/
(decrease) in
the rate of Increase/ Increase/
foreign  (decrease) in (decrease)
currency loss before tax in equity
SMEERIE M RBATEEEM M,
OR2) R 2) R4
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
% ARETT AR¥TR
December 31, 2022 2022%12H31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ EAREEETHE 5 35,074 35,074
If RMB weakens against US$ BEAREHETEE (5) (35,074) (35,074)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ EARESBTHE 5 20,914 20,914
If RMB weakens against HK$ eEARBHLATRE (5) (20,914) (20,914)
December 31, 2021 2021F12H31H
If RMB strengthens against US$ B AR K ETHE 5 34,423 34,423
If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHETRE (5) (34,423) (34,423)

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

AEBEERERIRBEENE=1X5 -
SN - EUCGRIARE SR ER B - MAKE
HERHIZIRIT TEKX o
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables and other assets included in the
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

As at the end of each of the reporting periods, cash and
cash equivalents were deposited in banks with high credit
rating without significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains the level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

34.

BEEBEERRRBEK (#)

FERR

AEEHBEXBETNERERAR - st AR
AR R I © MR & SEWIA SR H '
RIARAEMEENRAESAEEEE SR
BEEMEENRAXEERBRBA

REREMR  RERREFEYNHFEAGH
A m BT EENEERBRORT -

REBESERE

REBRRBDECARE  RNEBEERER
AEEEEERREANRASMNREEEY
KF - LB EERRERSRERBF
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. B EEMEEEZEREE ()
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) nEBESEE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as REBEHR - AEEIREHORMBE ARG
at the end of each of the reporting periods, based on the ENeRaFEINEHERET ¢
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:
As at December 31, 2022 2022512 H31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
RER 15 15E55F 5F L #at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTRT AR®BTR
Financial liabilities included in 5t AEAB R FIE K 51,624 - - - 51,624
other payables and accruals  EFIERANEHEE
Trade payables B S ENHIA 62,517 - - - 62,517
Interest-bearing bank and other sHER1T X EAMIER - 11,004 212,731 44,102 267,837
borrowings
Lease liabilities HEAE - 21,316 34,376 - 55,692
114,141 32,320 247,107 44,102 437,670
As at December 31, 2021 M2021612H31H
On Within 1 year to Over
demand 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
BEK 15/ 1FE5F 5% E HET
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRT ARETT AREBTT
Financial liabilities included in  5F AX & Z08 & 9,034 = = = 9,034
other payables and accruals B ERHNLHEE
Trade payables 2 SRR 16,557 = 258 = 16,815
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t8 8817 & E A &5k = 50,000 = = 50,000
borrowings
Lease liabilities HEBE - 7,862 18,857 - 26,719
25,591 57,862 19,115 - 102,568
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital as at the end of each of
the reporting periods.

34.

BEEBEERRRBEK (#)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. ZXATMBBRRE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIEHR KRR KRR K E R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
R2022F 20214
12831 H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB RFE 495,240 380,723
Right-of-use assets FREEE 34,983 37,479
Investment in subsidiaries R B AR NE 41,533 21,533
Other intangible assets HtELEE 11,385 =
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 199,153 117,465
Total non-current assets EMBEERTE 782,294 557,200
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories rE 51,672 23,417
Prepayments, other receivables and TETFIE - HAb U EIA 422,391 324,456
other assets MEMEE
Cash and bank balances B e MIBITHE R 1,313,471 1,172,082
Total current assets MBI EELRTE 1,787,534 1,519,955
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,525 2,937
Trade payables B 5 A 60,534 15,534
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER 1,394 =
Other payables and accruals H fth E T 5RIE K FEET B 202,382 102,434
Total current liabilities mE A EEEE 267,835 120,905
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 1,519,699 1,399,050
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBAER 2,301,993 1,956,250

LIABILITIES
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35.

COMPANY (continued)

ARBHH BT R ()

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
n20224 M20214
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER 231,621 50,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,863 5,483
Deferred income AT 61,144 32,244
Total non-current liabilities FEnBAaERsE 295,628 87,727
Net assets BEE 2,006,365 1,868,523
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of BARES AELERE
the parent
Share capital f& A 482,963 448,250
Reserves Eee) 1,523,402 1,420,273
Total equity T B RE 2,006,365 1,868,523
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. ZAATKMIERRER (&)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABIBESENT
Share/ Share-based Total
Paid-in Share capital Other payment Accumulated (deficit)
capital capital premium reserves reserve losses lequity
kf/ HRGAER (E4)/
BARA & RAEE EftfE  MAREE ZHER EREE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTR ARMTR AR¥Tn ARETR  ARMTR  ARETx
At January 1, 2021 H202151818 36,069 - 1168220 (1841,137) - (263608)  (900456)
Loss and total Comprehensive loss  FREERZABELE R - - - - (570,667) (570,667)
for the year
Capital contribution from series ~ B+&RETE 1519 - 198,481 = o = 200,000
B+ financing
Capital contribution from series ~ C B4/t & = 4825 960,277 = - - 965,102
C financing
Capital contribution from employee EESBTATE 1,898 - 27,052 - - = 28,950
incentives platforms
Termination of redemption liabilities #1+A% RXB&HEA A - - - 2,007,905 o - 2,007,905
on series A and B owners’ capital  RAHEDEE
Capitalization Issue BB (39,486) 40,000 (514) S = = -
Share premium transferred to share EBZHRANRMEE - 403,425 (403,425) S S - -
capital
Share-based payments MR AERANH - - - - 137,689 = 137,689
At December 31, 2021 R2021%12331 B - M8250 1950091 166768 137689 (834275) 1868523
At January 1, 2022 #2022%1A1A - 448,250 1,950,091 166,768 137,689 (834,275) 1,868,523
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREEEELR - - - - - (573,436) (573,436
loss for the year
Shares issued upon initial public ~ ERAREE - 30,855 589,716 - - = 620,571
offering (‘IPO") (TERRREE])
FEINRA
Shares issued upon over-allotment  BERIRIEET(E - 3,858 76,139 - - - 79,997
option Bl
Share issue expenses RiOETER - - (37,106) - - - (37,106)
Share-based payments AR BEB AR - - - - 47,816 - 47,816
At December 31, 2022 #2022512R31 8 - 48293 2578840 166768 185505  (1,407711) 2,006,365
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36.

37.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On January 27, 2023, Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, established a wholly-owned
subsidiary in Hong Kong namely HK Recbio Limited.

On February 3, 2023, the Company established a wholly-
owned subsidiary in Hangzhou namely Hangzhou Reibaiao
Technology Co., Ltd. (MMIimEREHEERAF]) for the
research and development of vaccines and the registered
capital is RMB10,000,000.

Mr. Zhao Hui and Dr. Du Wei, due to change in personal
work arrangements, resigned as non-executive Directors
and members of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee of the Board of the Company with effect from
March 20, 2023. At the same time, the Board nominated Mr.
Zhang Jiaxin as a non-executive Director of the Company
and Ms. Chen Qingging as an executive Director of the
Company whose terms of office shall commence from the
date of approval by the general meeting of the Company
until the date of expiry of the term of the first session of the
Board, which is subject to re-election.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on March 20, 2023.

36.

37.

REHPRER

R2023F1 2780 @ AEEHBARILRE
BBEYEBRERATDREBRI—HEE
Ff B A&l (BTHK Recbio Limited) °

K2023F2H3H * NXARRHMKTL —R
2EMBARMMIRERBEAERAR -
ZARETREME  ZMERXABARE
10,000,0007T °

HELAERTBRELTEBEAIELRHEES
BHEARNABERTEEREFTSHHEZ X
ZESeRERK BT H2023F3H20H %
ER R ERCREAREBEEETAR
RAENITES - REFXLETARAH
TEE FETHERRARRRASHIES
BREF—EEEgAHEm2z AL - T8
[ AT SRR AEAT o

HEM B HREK

BBRARHESTEN2023FE3A20H#ER
BRETEE -



Definitions

“‘Annual General Meeting” or

“‘AGM”
[FEBRRAE]

“Articles of Association”

IPNCIERES

“Audit Committee”
3=

“Beijing ABZYMO”

[ERZ B

“Board”
Ex 30

“CG Code”

[fxERTH]

“China” or “PRC”

B

“Code Provision(s)”
ISEUFSd
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Bx

the annual general meeting of our Company proposed to be held on May 11,
2023;
RAAERR2023F5 A 11 BRITHFERRAS ;

the articles of association of Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd., as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
TE IR RHE MR IRH BR AR EE (ETRIERT - MRSk AE M &)

the audit committee of our Company;
RNARIEAERES

Beijing ABZYMO Biosciences Co., Ltd. (ItRZABLEVRIZAR AR, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on March 7, 2011 and our
wholly-owned subsidiary;

IRZEBEDERBERAR  —KR2011F3A7THEFBEKINEREER
A RARBINEREWNBAT ;

the board of Directors of our Company;
ARTEFE :

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (BIZR & REEE BB B ERFTF L), a
division of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and
BLA;

BEREQREEERREMTTRL  AEREERETNOIHKE =288
IND X BLAB) 242 R HEAE

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;

LR AR+ AT E R R E A TR (B TNRHER] ~ Mt ARMIT g% ¢

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of the report and
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires,
references in the report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong,
the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan;
REARKME - BERARE RZMMIZEETE - BERXESHHEN - K
HERRAN[PE | W ABEPEEE  BFIFHNTERRRSEMRE

the principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code;
1B AT B P A R B K <7 AIMERS
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“Companies Ordinance”

INCIEESEN

“Company” or “our Company”

[ ]

“Core Product”

“CSRC”
GEETY

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Domestic Share(s)”

[AER]

“Dr. Liu”

[2fEL]

‘FDA”
[FDAJ

“Global Offering”

[2EREE ]

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time;
BEEPI2E622F (R ARG (ENRAEET -« #zesk AE 75 &2k

Jiangsu Recbio Technology Co., Ltd. (L&imEHEMREMRHERAR]), a
joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on May 25,
2021, or, where the context requires (as the case may be), its predecessor
Jiangsu Rec-Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (T&ImEHEWRMAR2AR]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on May 18, 2012;

LE IR BHE M EMARHDBR AR - —Kp 202145 A 25 B £+ BIFE Ak 7 AR 19
BRAR - X EME RIEAME) IS EMRMERAR (KA %)
—ZKMN2012F5 18 R BEIFAMK I AR EEAR

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for the
purpose of the report, our Core Product refers to REC603, a recombinant
HPV 9-valent vaccine candidate;

BEBEFTARAUEIBAETR THRAMNRE  ARSEME - HANKRLERIE
REC603 (—XEHHPVNERERH) ;

China Securities Regulatory Commission;

TEESEEEREREE

the director(s) of our Company;

RRBESE

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value
of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi by
domestic investors;

RARRAHEREBEARE1.00THERR - AEAREEUARKERELH
2

Dr. Liu Yong, the executive Director and general manager of our Group;
REERTEZ RALELBEL

the United States Food and Drug Administration;
FERMEREEEERR

the global offering of 30,854,500 H Shares (subject to over-allotment option)
as described in the Prospectus;
BIREIR Pl 2 B3 E 30,854,500k HAR (1R F-HRREELARET T B R MIE)



“Group”, “our Group”, “we” or

« »

us

[ AR |3 [ 3]

“H Share(s)”

[HA

“H Share Registrar”
[HIRE SRk

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars”

[t

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“IASB”
[EIFR gt AR EE

“IFRS”

[ B B 5 3R 5 E R

“Latest Practicable Date”

[RIEBERRAITTRH]

“Listing”
[ £

“Listing Date”

[ £ B
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our Company and all of our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company
of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or
their predecessors (as the case may be);

RRATRERMBAWBRT - SIRXEME - AR TR AE IR E L A &2
ARZAWERME - ZEMBARSEN S GRIEAME) I LR %R

overseas listed foreign share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the Stock Exchange and
traded in Hong Kong dollars;

RABRARFREEARE1.00TTHIRIN EHINERR - REERPT B RIAETT

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited;
BAPREFLFELAERAR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

BEEEEEAET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;
HEEERFIITHE ;

International Accounting Standards Board;
RertEAEEE

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which as collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the I1ASB;
BIFR B SRS R - ZA T EEER e AR S E B ATE B @ R BB
BIREER - BR @RI RRE

March 31, 2023, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information in this annual report prior to its publication;
202343 A 310 « AIAREHRSENATRETE & P rrsie TERNREERAITREE ;

the listing of our H Shares on the Stock Exchange;
HAR BB ZZ P =7

March 31, 2022, on which dealings in our H Shares first commenced on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
202293 A31H » BIHIR A REMZAERMBEBEN R
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“Listing Rules”

[EfRA

“Main Board”

[ E1R]

“Model Code”

EEaEl

“‘NMPA”

[

=
$a

IR RS ]

“Prospectus”

[HERERE ]

“Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee”

[FMEERZE S ]

“Reporting Period”
=g

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[AR¥E ]

“Share(s)”

[ Btn ]

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time;

BRMERXZMARARESF ETRR (ETEHER - g AR g%

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange, which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange;

BRFTEBRNESRR S (TEIEHETS) - HB R TGrowth Enterprise
Marketlﬁ&ﬁizﬁﬁfé g

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time;
EMRAIMEETAENCEMBITAZEFTETESFRGNEESFAD (KRB
7] - FFRSAE M B

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BIZ % g5 18
=) and its predecessor, the China Food and Drug Administration (BIZ
AT §££%,ﬁ%)%)

BEREMEEEERRAEMFBEREMEREEEELR

il

N

the prospectus issued by our Company on March 21, 2022 in relation to our
Global Offering and Listing;
RARHBIREE R EMATIE B HAR2022F3 A21 BRBREIR

the remuneration and appraisal committee of our Company;

the year ended December 31, 2022;
HZE2022F12A31BILEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

FEEEEB AR

share(s) in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, comprising our Domestic Shares, Unlisted Foreign Shares
and H Shares;

RARRAHEGREBEARE1.00THIRG @ BERER - K EMINERRERHRE



“Shareholders”

AR

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bst 22 FfT |

“subsidiary(ies)”
EAGI

“Supervisor(s)”

(%]

“United States” or “U.S.”

[5<E |

“Unlisted Foreign Share(s)

[REmSNE B ]

“U.S. dollars” or “USD”

[%7t)

VAT
[ EH

“Wuhan Recogen”

[EZEIRFE

Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

holders of our Shares;
BOFEA

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;
ERBMERXSMBRAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance;
BB R EHEBIFE 1560 T % HREE

supervisor(s) of our Company;

RRAESE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction;
ERRERE - HEL  BHRIRREDEEEENMAEHE

ordinary share(s) issued by our Company with a nominal value of RMB1.00
each and are held by foreign investors and are not listed on any stock
exchange;

RARBETHEREAEBEARK1.00THERR  WHRBIMEERE  BUER
EREECE LN EZ )

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States;

XEEEERET

Value Added Tax;
BB

Wuhan Recogen Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (RZmRIZEYRIFEAR AR, a
limited liability company established in the PRC on September 28, 2021.
RERMSEMRHRBER AR » —KK2021F9 A28 BEFRBEK M ERAF -
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Glossary of Technical Terms B AR

“adjuvant” a substance that may be added to a vaccine to enhance the body’'s immune
response to an antigen;

8] | —TERIHORINERE E  LASE 58 A BT R N RE RIER W E

“adjuvant system” formulations of classical adjuvants mixed with immunomodulators,
specifically adapted to the antigen and the target population;

[ B %4t ] i HFIEE TR B R AR BT R EDES R RE

“AE” adverse events, any untoward medical occurrences in a patient or clinical

investigation subject administered with a drug or other pharmaceutical
product during clinical trials and which do not necessarily have a causal
relationship with the treatment;

[TREH] i BEIGAABRIAENBAARPESX EEYIHEOERARRRERNTR
BEREN BT —FELAREERBRE ;

“antigen” the substance that is capable of stimulating an immune response,
specifically activating lymphocytes, which are the body’s infection-fighting
white blood cells;

(R ] i EEMRIM L ERENYE - FhlRHEME AR (ABERERNBAR)

“AS01” a liposome-based vaccine adjuvant system, which contains 3-O-desacyl-4'-
monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), as well as the saponin QS-21;

[ASO1] i ERIRERBNER RS ©2H3-0— EME-4'— EBBEREAMPL) - UKkE
£QS-21

“AS03” an adjuvant system composed of a-tocopherol, squalene and polysorbate
80 in an oil-in-water emulsion;

[AS03] i Ha— £5% - AREEILREERS0H K HIKE M ILBIER R4

“AS04” an adjuvant system composed of aluminum salt and monophosphoryl lipid A
(MPL), a clinically utilized TLR4 agonist;

[AS04] i —EmREAKMWERE R - FRthE — K _EE R TLRA BN B BB A5
A(MPL) :

“B cell(s)” a type of white blood cell that differ(s) from other lymphocytes like T-cells

by the presence of the BCR on the B-cell’s outer surface, also known as
B-lymphocytes;

[BAAAR b —EEBAMIINREAFMEBCRM RN TS EMKRE M8 4 - REBIM
B4



“BLA”
[BLA]

‘Cbh4”

[CD4]

“CD4 + T cells”

[CD4+T#AM ]

“CD8 + T cells”

[CD8+T#iA ]

‘Cbc”

[P L

“cervical cancer”

(=%

“CHO cell”

[CHO#BE |

‘CMO(s)”

[BHEERE]

“‘COVID-19”

[FEhmA ]

Annual Report 2022
ZRCCEER

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

biologics license application;
ER AR

a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed as a single polypeptide
chain on the MHC class ll-restricted T-cells;
—BEERES  £F ZHBMHCRHIMTHAR FAEES R RE

a type of important T lymphocyte that helps coordinate the immune response
by stimulating other immune cells to fight infections;

—REBENTHEARR - BENAECERARSRBERAREDHRELRRE

a type of important T lymphocytes for immune defense against intracellular
pathogens, including viruses and bacteria, and for tumour surveillance;
—BHEARAFERE (EERSENAR) ET2ENENKaEERENNEE
TR

Centre for Disease Control and Prevention;

BRI SR

cancer that occurs in the cervix — the lower part of the uterus that connects
to the vagina;
BAETFEETRNEE - FEUERREN TS TE

Chinese Hamsters Ovary Cell, which is widely used in biopharmaceutical
industry to produce recombinant proteins;
TREERINEMR  BTANEMRETE  AREESHEARE

a company that serves other companies in the pharmaceutical industry on
a contract basis to provide comprehensive services from drug development
through drug manufacturing;

REETENEMAREEYREIN EnEERER‘IEARBHNAHORBA
al s

Coronavirus Disease 2019, an infectious disease caused by the most
recently discovered coronavirus, first reported in December 2019;

2019 BIAS AR RSO ERNERKE S5 BIELMERRE - 702019F12
RERWE ;
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B R ErFARE

‘DALYs”

[DALYs]

“E.coli”

[ RS2 E

“emulsion”

[FLA |

“epitopes”

Eval

“EV717

[EV71]

‘GFA”
[ EEE TS

“GMP”
[GMP |

‘GMT”
[GMT ]

“H. polymorpha”

B

=

the disability-adjusted life year, a measure of overall disease burden,
expressed as the number of years lost due to ill-health, disability or early
death;

BEARLGF  KAEEERARAENER RRRARERE  BEIURT
ST MIBRB A F

Escherichia coli expression system, a expression system used in vaccine
R&D and manufacturing;

AERERERERS  ANEEWEMBENRERLSR

a mixture of two or more liquids that are normally immiscible (unmixable or
unblendable) owing to liquid-liquid phase separation;
MiERZE—RE DA CPRDES KNI R EREY ) #)7R B8 R R
am

DMK R

part of an antigen that is recognized by the immune system, specifically by
antibodies, B cells, or T cells;

WS - BARKTARSHN 2R ZGHNRIRN —#BD

Enterovirus 71, most EV71 infections commonly result in hand-footmouth
disease (HFMD);

BERSTIE  AZHBERSTIHRIARTRENFEORNAR
gross floor area,;

MRS

good manufacturing practices;
BOAEESEIRHRE

geometric mean titers;

BATLEE :

Hansenula polymorpha, a well-known model organism, which can utilize
methanol as the carbon source and energy source, used widely for studying
cellular, metabolic, and genetic issues, and used in vaccine industry for
expression of recombinant proteins;

ERES  —ERFAANEREY - EUREATIRKREER - BiZARHRA
w~&%&ﬁ%%%'u&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ¥$ﬁ%M§Lém$E,



“‘HFMD”

[FRA%]

‘HIV”

[HIV]

“‘HPV”

[HPV ]

“HPV 9-valent vaccine”

[HPV LE&EH |

“HPV bivalent vaccine”
[HPV={B&H |

“HPV quadrivalent vaccine”
[HPVIHEZH |

“immune response”

[RREE ]

“immunogenicity”

[ R ]

“IND”
[IND]J

“influenza” or “flu”
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hand-foot-mouth disease, a common infectious disease among infants and
children, characterized by fever, sores in the mouth and a rash with blisters
on hands, feet and also buttocks;

FRARK BHNRP-EFRERR  FRRER  OBRLRES  F BRE
BHBEABMKD

human immunodeficiency virus, which attacks cells that help the body fight
infection, making a person more vulnerable to other infections and diseases
and spreading by contact with certain bodily fluids of an infected person;
ANERENRERE - SREHYEABNERNANE - AT HIENHhERE
FERRORES - WRBEBXREA T ELER M EE

human papillomavirus, persistent infection of high-risk types can cause
cervical cancer;
AHBEREARE  sRRERNSERLF SR =EE

a vaccine that can help protect individuals against the infections and
diseases caused by nine types of HPV;

— A EREEA R HNBARHPVE| R MR RORE

vaccines that can prevent infections of two HPV types;
A FEF B HPV AR R R

vaccines that can prevent infections of four HPV types;
AITEP UIEHPVAR R B R R b

the process by which the body is stimulated by antigens;

TURR SRS Y BAE

the ability of an antigen to provoke immune response;

TIREI R R R ERRE

investigational new drug or investigational new drug application;
B PR AT 70 FR 6T B2 Sl B R T 9T R AT 2R 35

highly infectious respiratory diseases caused by influenza viruses. It is
characterised by sudden onset of high fever, aching muscles, headache,
fatigue and a hacking cough. Serious outcome of influenza can result in
hospitalization or death;

MRS S| A ERERRE T RERRE - FHERERE  NAKE - 2
RS REY - BREEAIREAR  EERT
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‘IPD”

[1PD]

“‘MF59”

[MF59 |

“MoA”
[MoA ]

‘mRNA”

[mRNA ]

“neutralizing antibodies” or
“NAb”
[FAn#E8 13k [NADb ]

“‘NTD”

[NTD

“Omicron variant”

[ RS

“‘OPTI”

[OPTIJ

“pathogens”
[ AR e ]

“‘Qs-21”
[QS-21]

|

Integrated Product Development, a structure of work and best practices that
causes people to work together more effectively with better communications
and metrics that connect the entire value chain which is the standard of the
matrix management mode;

EXREMME  —BIERKEBEENARE - AIEAME S8 MET E
BiF  RMEARBUNHRTE - WEEEEEERE (L REREEREXNTE)

an adjuvant system that uses a derivative of shark liver oil called squalene;
—REREARITEN BRBNEE R

mechanism of actions;

TERHH

messenger ribonucleic acid, a single-stranded molecule of RNA that
corresponds to the genetic sequence of a gene, and is read by a ribosome
in the process of synthesizing a protein;

EERERE - BERNEEFIIHHENEERNAD T EEaKERENGBIR
R AZ AR S TEER

an antibody that is responsible for defending cells from pathogens, which
are organisms that cause disease;

—RARREAREIBRERENNE (RRENSERRNED)

N-terminal domain, a region of the protein’s polypeptide chain located at the
start of the protein that is self-stabilizing and that folds independently from
the rest;

N— Rimi#E  EREZREN—ERE  URESENRKEE  BFERE
M3 B R E A ER o T

variant of lineage B.1.1.529 of SARS-Co-2, the virus that causes COVID-19;
AIEHHE A HSARS-Co-2H:E XB.1.1.520 B 1E R F

the management philosophy adopted by our Company, which referred to
Opportunity, Prudence, Technology and Intellectual Property;
RRRRMNEIRIZS - B e - BH - RIS meERE

a bacteria, virus, or other microorganism that can cause disease;

AERKRNAR - MESEMMEY

a purified plant extract used as a vaccine adjuvant;

—RARREER WA CEYIRRY



“R&D”
[ 3% |

‘RBD”

[RBD]

“SAE"

[BENREM]

“SARS-CoV-2"

[SARS-CoV-2]

“shingles”

[FAkE S ]

“T cell(s)”

[THAE ]

“TR”

[ #5120

“TLR4"

[TLR4]
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research and development;
e R FE

receptor binding domain, a key part of a virus located on its “spike” protein
that allows it to dock to body receptors to gain entry into cells and lead to
infection;

XS HERSN —EEARIMY UREIMREIELE L FHENESES
BHE  E AN SRR

bl

serious adverse events, any untoward medical occurrence in human drug
trials that at any dose: results in death; is life threatening; requires inpatient
hospitalization or causes prolongation of existing hospitalization; results
in persistent or significant disability and/or incapacity; may have caused
a congenital anomaly/birth defect, or requires intervention to prevent
permanent impairment or damage;
BENTEMBEENABEDHABRTNEIMNEIIBRSHNLBER - BB
T EEES  FEBEXRARIEBRARRARLER - SBUFBRRER
TR SR TIIERE N AT BBUTRIERE HARE - skFH ZE TR K
AMEERIESE

severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, the strain of coronavirus
that causes COVID-19;
BESUTRERGEEBRAS2 - BEETEH AN TR SEK

a viral infection that causes a painful rash;

— B EERR SN RERL

cell(s) that originate in the thymus, mature in the periphery, become
activated in the spleen/nodes if their T-cell receptors bind to an antigen
presented by an MHC molecule and they receive additional costimulation
signals driving them to acquire killing (mainly CD8 + T cells) or supporting
(mainly CD4 + T cells) functions;

BRI R INE AR RETARZEBEMHCHY FEEMNNRES K
TEREME M AERUE - B E BB UREE SN HE RS 5% DA E L ERIS R 15 ( = B8t
CD8+T#HMI) S #fBh (EZEHECDA+TARA) ThAE

tuberculosis, an infection caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis that
primarily affects the lungs;
Eidm - BEEREIMA N EZ D ARE S AR

a receptor for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which has a pivotal role in the
regulation of immune responses to infection;

REZHE(LPS)MX B8 » AR RAN RR R ETEZRESAIER
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“tolerability” the degree to which overt AEs of a drug can be tolerated by a patient.
Tolerability of a particular drug can be discussed in a general sense, or it
can be a quantifiable measurement as part of a clinical study;

[T 2 | BEHEYNABIREMHNMTEER - SEEVHMIMEAINE—RES LE
Tt - A AMERERIRIF R — D ETE(LRIE

“varicella” an acute infectious disease caused by the first infection of varicella zoster
virus;

k%= ] i BRBERKE — HIRBE RS RHNSEERR

“VLPs” virus-like particles, are molecules that closely resemble viruses;

[VLPs | i RSN - RERSHETHUNS T

“WHO” World Health Organization.

[t R AT A i HERBT B -

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report
have been subject to rounding adjustments.

For ease of reference, the names of the PRC laws and regulations,
governmental authorities, institutions, natural persons or other
entities (including certain of our subsidiaries) have been included
in this report in both the Chinese and English languages and in
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese versions shall prevail.
English translations of official Chinese names are for identification
purpose only.

AREMBNETERERADLEFTOAENE -

RAEZ2H - PEUEARZER - RATFREFT - % - B
AANSEMER (BEARRNETHEAR) HF
RYZEHHARRSE - P EXRAAE EFD
5 AR XRARE - EHPXBWNE X E
ZRRES -
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